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PART |
Item 1. BUSINESS

GENERAL

Olin Corporation is a Virginia corporation, incorpted in 1892, having its principal executive a#an Clayton, MO. We are a
manufacturer concentrated in three business segm@hlor Alkali Products, Metals and WinchesteiChlor Alkali Products manufactures
and sells chlorine and caustic soda, sodium hytfitesthydrochloric acid, hydrogen, bleach produatsl potassium hydroxide, which
represent 26% of 2005 sales. Metals products, wigipresent 59% of 2005 sales, include copper apdezcalloy sheet, strip, foil, rod,
welded tube, fabricated parts and stainless steehluminum strip. Winchester products, which reprg 15% of 2005 sales, include sporting
ammunition, canister powder, reloading componemsll caliber military ammunition and components] andustrial cartridges. See our
discussion of our segment disclosures containétein 7—*Management’s Discussion and Analysis ofdricial Condition and Results of
Operations.”

GOVERNANCE

We maintain an Internet website_at www.olin.cadur reports on Form 10-K, Form 10-Q, and Form &&ywell as amendments to
those reports, are available free of charge omeinsite, as soon as reasonably practicable aftéitermbe reports with the Securities and
Exchange Commission (SEC). Additionally, a coppuof SEC filings can be obtained at the SEBuUblic Reference Room at 450 Fifth Sti
N.W., Washington, D.C. 20549 or by calling the S&J-800-SEC-0330. Also, a copy of our electronicallgd materials can be obtained at
www.sec.govOur Principles of Corporate Governance, Committkart@rs and Code of Business Conduct are availaltee Corporate
Governance section of the Investor section of oeipsite at www.olin.conar from the Company by writing to: George Pain,&/Rresident,
General Counsel and Secretary, Olin Corporatiofi,d&ondelet Plaza, Suite 1530, Clayton, MO 63105.

In May 2005, our Chief Executive Officer executbd tinnual Section 303A.12(a) CEO Certification meglby the New York Stock
Exchange (NYSE), certifying that he was not awdrany violation of the NYSE'’s corporate governatiséng standards by Olin.
Additionally, our Chief Executive Officer and Chieinancial Officer executed the required Sarbangiey0Act of 2002 (SOX) Sections 302
and 906 certifications relating to this Annual Remm Form 10-K, which are filed with the SEC aibxs to this Annual Report on Form 10-
K.

PRODUCTS, SERVICES AND STRATEGIES

Chlor Alkali Products

Products and Services

We have been involved in the U.S. chlor alkali ity for more than 100 years and are a major patit in the U.S. chlor alkali
market. Chlorine and caustic soda are co-producgdrercially primarily by the electrolysis of salhese co-products are produced
simultaneously, and in a fixed ratio of 1.0 torchforine to 1.1 tons of caustic soda. The industfgrs to this as an Electrochemical Unit or
ECU. With a demonstrated capacity as of the er2D06 of 1.24 million ECUs per year, including 50%he production from our partnerst
with PolyOne Corporation, which we refer to as 8unBelt joint venture, we are the fourth largesbchlkali producer in the United States,
according to data from Chemical Market Associaltes, (CMAI). CMAI is a global petrochemical, plassiand fibers consulting firm
established in 1979. According to CMAI data, we thelargest producer measured by production volofwhlorine and caustic soda in the
eastern United States, with facilities located ialiiosh, AL, Charleston, TN, Augusta, GA, and NiagBalls, NY. Since transportation costs
can be a significant part of the final cost of gneduct to the customer, our close proximity to caustic customers is an advantage.
Approximately two-thirds of our caustic soda praie is high purity membrane and rayon grade, wihictording to CMAI data, normally
commands a premium selling price in the market.

Our manufacturing facilities in Augusta, Mcintogharleston, and a portion of our facility in Niagdfalls are 1SO 9002 certified. ISO
9000 (which includes ISO 9001 and 1SO 9002) and 18Q00 (which includes ISO 14001) are sets of edlatternational standards on
quality assurance and environmental managementagmcby the



International Organization for Standardization édphcompanies effectively document the quality andironmental management system
elements to be implemented to maintain effectiva@iguand environmental management systems. All eduhese manufacturing facilities
have also achieved Star status in the Voluntaryetion Program (VPP) of the Occupational Safety ldealth Administration (OSHA).
OSHA's VPP is a program in which companies voluntardytipipate that recognizes facilities for their ew#ary safety and health prograr

In 2005, Chlor Alkali sought accreditation at iesaldlquarters location and two of its operating gléNiagara Falls and Charleston) under the
RC 14001 Responsible Cdtstandard. Official registry board accreditation dfirthree sites was received by January 18, 2R0614001,
which includes the ISO 14001 environmental standard comprehensive integrated management systeatiened by the chemical industry
and recognized by government and regulatory agendiéch establishes requirements for the manageai¢he safety, health,
environmental, security, transportation, produetstrdship, and stakeholder engagement activititiseobusiness. Accreditation at the two
remaining operating facilities (Augusta and Mclmtps scheduled to be completed in 2006.

Chlorine is used as a raw material in the prodaatibthousands of products, but a significant jportof U.S. chlorine production is
consumed in the manufacture of ethylene dichlodd;DC, a precursor for polyvinyl chloride, or PVEVC is a plastic used in applications
such as vinyl siding, plumbing and automotive pa@ther U.S. end-uses for chlorine include chidedantermediates, isocyanates and water
treatment. While much of the chlorine producedhim .S. is consumed by the producing company tcerdakvnstream products, we sell
most of the chlorine we produce to third partiethie merchant market.

Caustic soda has a wide variety of end use appitatthe largest of which is in the pulp and papdustry. Caustic soda is also used in
the production of detergents and soaps, aluminaaardiety of other inorganic and organic chemicals

The chlor alkali industry is cyclical, both as ault of changes in demand for each of the co-prisdaied as a result of the large
increments in which new capacity is added. Becahfmine and caustic are produced in a fixed rdltie,supply of one product can be
constrained both by the physical capacity of thadpction facilities and/or by the ability to sdiketco-product. Prices for both products
respond rapidly to changes in supply and demand BQW netbacks (defined as gross selling pricefiesght and discounts) averaged
approximately $300 per ECU in the first half of 208nd then increased quarter over quarter thro0§b,2vith fourth quarter 2005 netbacks
averaging approximately $545 per ECU.

Electricity and salt are the major purchased rawends for our Chlor Alkali Products segment. Raaterials represent approximately
50% of the total cost of producing an ECU. Eledtyics the single largest raw material componerthim production of chlor alkali products.
During the past two years, we experienced an iser@athe cost of electricity from our suppliergda price increases in natural gas and
We are supplied by utilities that primarily utilizeal, hydroelectric and nuclear power and havatikgly minor exposure to natural gas. The
majority of the salt used in our Chlor Alkali Prarisi segment is produced from internal resourcesvbudo purchase salt in the merchant
market. The commodity nature of this industry ptaaa added emphasis on cost management and weetthlz we have managed our
manufacturing costs in a manner that makes us bt dow cost producers in the industry. In adudfitias market demand grows in the fut
we believe the design of the SunBelt joint venflent will enable us to expand capacity cost-effedty.

We also manufacture and sell other chlor alkaktesdd products and we recently invested in capacityproduct upgrades in some of
these areas. These products include chemicallyepsed salt, hydrochloric acid, sodium hypochlohtglrogen, and potassium hydroxide.
We also sell sodium hydrosulfite to paper, texditel clay bleaching customers.
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The following table lists products of our Chlor AlkProducts business, with principal productstenltasis of annual sales highlighted
in bold face.

Major Raw Materials
& Components for

Products & Services Major End Uses Plants & Facilities Products/Services
Chlorine/caustic soda Pulp & paper processing, chemical manufacturing, Augusta, GA salt, electricity
water purification, manufacture of vinyl chloride, Charleston, TN
bleach, swimming pool chemicals & urethane Mclintosh, AL
chemicals Niagara Falls, NY
Sodium hydrosulfite Paper, textile & clay bleaching Augusta, GA caustic soda, sulfur
Charleston, Th dioxide
Sodium hypochlorite Household cleaners, laundry bleaching, swimming Augusta, GA chlorine, caustic soda
sanitizers, semiconductors, water treatment, gstil Charleston, TN
pulp & paper and food processing Mclintosh, AL

Niagara Falls, NY

Hydrochloric acid Steel, oil & gas, plastics, organic chemical syathe Augusta, GA chlorine, hydrogen
water and wastewater treatment, brine treatment, Charleston, TN
artificial sweeteners, pharmaceuticals, food preicgs Niagara Falls, NY
and ore and mineral processi

Potassium hydroxide Fertilizer manufacturing, soaps, detergents and Charleston, TN potassium chloride,
cleaners, battery manufacturing, food processing electricity
chemicals and deice

Strategies

Continued Role as a Preferred Supplier to Merchdatket Customers. Based on our market research, we believe olar@tikali
Products business is viewed as a preferred sugplieur merchant market customers. We will contitaiBocus on providing quality
customer service support and developing relatigussiith our valued customers.

Pursue Incremental Expansion OpportunitiesWe have invested in capacity and product ugmgan our chemically processed salt,
hydrochloric acid, sodium hypochlorite, potassiuydioxide and hydrogen businesses. These expansicresse our captive use of chlorine
while increasing the sales of these co-productes&miche businesses provide opportunities to dpgshlorine and caustic to higher value-
added applications. We also have the opportunibgmbusiness conditions permit, to pursue increat@xpansion through our SunBelt joint
venture.

Metals
Products and Services

We have been in the Metals business for 89 yeased@®on Copper Development Association Inc. (CD#adwe are a leading
manufacturer of copper and copper alloy sheep,gttate, foil and brass rod in the United Sta@BA acts as the central authoritative source
of data and information pertaining to the U.S. aapgnd brass industry. While primarily processiogper and copper alloys, we also reroll
and form other metals, such as aluminum and stsrgteel. We believe we hold leading positiongpfemium priced, high performance
alloys in the United States. We also supply higtiggmance alloys to non-U.S. customers through gsptechnology licensing, joint
ventures and local distribution. Participants ia tiopper and copper alloy sheet and strip induisttyde integrated mills, reroll mills and
distributors, with many participants engaging inltiple roles. We believe that we are the largeS.participant in each of these categories.
We believe that our status as the largest U.Sicgaaht affords us a favorable industry positiore lso believe we are one of the lowest cost
producers, a quality and service leader and a aieproduct innovator.

All of our copper and copper alloy sheet and strills are both QS 9000 and ISO 9000 certified. @8M®is an international automotive
standard developed by General Motors, Ford Motan@any and Chrysler to harmonize the fundamentallgmuality systems as an
assessment tool, and is based upon 1SO 9000 stnddl sheet and strip and rod locations are 18@ifeed. Our brass rod mill is ISO 9002
certified.

We maintain advantages over our competition thraughpatent-protected technologies. We believehighr performance alloys
provide superior strength, conductivity and fornigbto customers in the automotive, electricagattonic and
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telecommunications industries. We currently hold B3. patents associated with high performancgslmd 39 other U.S. patents related to
various proprietary processing and technical caipiasi many of which are also registered in forejgrisdictions. To further our global
presence, we established a joint venture with Yan@drporation in Japan to produce high performafiogs, formed a technical alliance
with Wieland-Werke A.G. of Germany under which wafly develop new high performance alloys andipgrate in an alloy licensing
arrangement and formed a joint venture with Luoy@ogper (Group) Ltd. in China to operate a metaisise center to supply the growing
Chinese demand. These relationships provide usgséthter global reach and enable us to provide pgformance alloys in Asia and
Europe.

In addition, through sales of our clad metal, ptlby a proprietary cladding process, we belieeeare a major supplier of coinage
metal to the U.S. Mint. We also supply coinage inetather world governments. Our Metals segmeatipces ammunition cartridge cups
for use captively in the manufacture of our Windbesporting ammunition, which constitutes a smaltion of our total Metals segment
output. We also sell cartridge brass to other anitimmmakers. This relationship with Winchestegraj with our fabrication business,
provides us with a significant captive customerebas

Brass and other copper alloys are manufacturedediimg copper together with various combinationgiat, lead or other metals. The
resulting product goes through a series of prose@seluding casting, hot rolling, milling, coldlliag, annealing, cleaning and slitting to
produce sheet and strip. A similar process is ¥adld for the production of rod. The principal enésifor sheet and strip products include:
automotive (connectors and radiators); electrofiéed frames, connectors, wiring and telecommuiginatapplications); ammunition;
coinage; and other applications such as builderdware, plumbing supplies and welded tube foitytlondensers and industrial heat
exchangers. Brass rod is used to produce a varigtsoducts, such as faucets, plumbing fittingstimg and air conditioning components,
industrial valves, automotive parts and numerouidware components.

The major raw materials used in our metals busiaes®rass scrap, copper, zinc, and other nondemetals, purchased from
merchants, dealers, and customers at market prices.

Historically, demand for copper and copper allogettand strip and rod has exhibited growth consistith the growth in the U.S.
gross domestic product. In the late 1990’s andi®02 demand expanded at a rapid pace principa#ytathe strength in the electronics
segment and the introduction of the state quartagram by the U.S. Mint. From 1997 to 2000, sheet strip demand grew at an annualized
growth rate of 8%. Since 2001, strip and rod denfeasibeen unchanged at levels approximately 1092@%g respectively, below that of 1
late 1990's.



The following table lists products and servicesof Metals business, with principal products highied in bold face.

Products and Services Major End Uses

Plants & Facilities*

Major Raw Materials &
Components for
Products/Services

Copper & copper alloy
sheet & strip (standard &
high performance)

components, communications, automotive,
builders’ hardware, coinage, ammunition

Network of metals service cente
communications, automotive, builders’
hardware, household products

Posit-bond® clad metal Coinage strip & blanks

Printed circuit boards, electrical & electror
automotive

Rolled copper foil, Copperbond
®foil, stainless steel strip

Copper alloy welded tube Utility condensers, industrial heat
exchangers, refrigeration & air conditioning,

builders hardware, automotiv

Fabricated products Builders’ hardware, plumbing, automotive

and ammunition components

Shaped brass rod Plumbing, consumer durable goods,
industrial machinery and equipment, and

electrical and electronic pai

Electronic connectors, lead frames, electrical Bryan, OH

East Alton, IL
Seymour, CT
Waterbury, CT (two
locations)**

Iwata, Japan
(Yamaha-Olin
Metal Corporation

Electronic connectors, electrical components, Allentown, PA

Alliance, OH

Caguas, PR

Carol Stream, IL Suwane
GA

Warwick, RI

Watertown, CT

Yorba Linda, CA
Guangzhou, China
Queretaro, Mexict

East Alton, IL

Waterbury, CT

Cuba, MO

East Alton, IL

Montpelier, OH
Los Angeles, CA
(distribution center

copper, zinc &
other nonferrous
metals

copper & copper
alloy sheet, strip,
rod, tube & steel &
aluminum strip

cupronickel, copper
& aluminum

copper & copper
alloy sheet, strip
and foil and
stainless steel str

copper alloy strip

copper and copper
alloy, and stainless
steel strig

brass scrap

* If site is not operated by Olin or a majo-owned, direct or indirect subsidiary, name of jaiahture, affiliate or operator is indicate
** |n January 2006, we announced our decision to ¢tes&Vaterbury Rolling Mills facility in Waterbur T. In conjunction with this

action, we will consolidate these product actitieto our East Alton, IL facility

Strategies

Continue Profitable Growth Globally. Our goal is to be a leading worldwide supptiespecialty copper-based products and related
engineered materials. We intend to achieve thislgpauilding our high performance alloys businessa global basis. In 2004 and
continuing into 2005, we took a humber of stepsaotinue to grow our global presence includingdtzet-up of our joint venture service
center in Guangzhou, China, the development of m&siness opportunities in Europe and the acquisditd integration of the aluminum

strip distribution assets of Metal Foils LLC in tbaited States.

Maintain Premier Specialty Product Innovator Pasiti

We believe that we manufacture more high peréorce alloys than any other

competitor, and we continue to allocate resourgesaximize this product line. Our specialty produatclude proprietary high performance
alloys and materials that meet strength, gaugemdbility, and conductivity requirements for apptioas in our customers’ industries.
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Increase Cost Efficiencies. We plan to continue to focus on achieving ecoies of scale, improved manufacturing processas, an
innovation in pursuit of cost reductions. We strige profit improvements primarily through yield provements, increased equipment
utilization and capacity enhancements.

Continue Our Quality Leadership. We maintain ISO 9000, QS 9000, and ISO 1406@tfications. For example, our East Alton, IL
mill carries the distinctive certifications of ISED01, due to its extensive design work, and 1ISQ0148 prominent environmental standard.
We believe that these certifications demonstrataality advantage not possessed by our key U.Spetitars. We also continue to maintain
preferred supplier positions with some of the latge most respected companies in segments whaligyga essential, such as automotive
and electronics.

Leverage Our Service and Distribution LeadershipGoowth. We believe that we are a service and distroueader in the copper-
based metals industry. Our A.J. Oster distributigstem extends throughout the United States aondradkides facilities in Puerto Rico and
Mexico. We sell directly from the mill to large wohe customers, and to small and medium size cussotim®@ugh A.J. Oster and other
licensed distributors. We intend to leverage owvise leadership and our distribution network tg@nove our just-in-time delivery services
and our customized order capabilities.

Winchester
Products and Services

Winchester is in its 139year of operation and its 75year as part of Olin. Winchester is a premier dgwet and manufacturer of small
caliber ammunition for sale to domestic and intéamel retailers, law enforcement agencies and ddimand international militaries. We
believe we are a leading U.S. producer of ammumiiio recreational shooters, hunters, law enforagragencies and the U.S. Armed Forces.
Our legendary Winchester product line includesraljor gauges and calibers of shotgun shells, rawaird centerfire ammunition for pistols
and rifles, canister powder, reloading componentsiadustrial cartridges. We believe we are theilegaU.S. supplier of small caliber
commercial ammunition.

Winchester has strong relationships throughous#es and distribution chain and strong ties tditicnal dealers and distributors.
Winchester has built its business with key highunoé mass merchants and specialty sporting gooaiterst We have consistently developed
industry-leading ammunition, and for nine of thetleurteen years, Winchester was recognized WwigiAmmunition of the Year” award
from the Shooting Industry Academy of Excellenceif® technological and design leadership.

Winchester purchases raw materials such as leatvfemdors at market prices as posted on exchanghsas the Commodity
Exchange, or COMEX, and London Metals Exchang&MiE. Winchester also purchases copper-based stdcaps from our Metals
segment. Winchester’s other main raw material @pelant, which is purchased predominantly from ofithe United States’ largest
propellant suppliers.

The following table lists products and serviceswof Winchester business, with principal productshanbasis of annual sales
highlighted in bold face.

Major Raw Materials &
Components for Products/

Products & Services Major End Uses Plants & Facilities Services
Winchester ® sporting Hunters & recreational shooters, law East Alton, IL brass, lead, steel, plastic,
ammunition (shot-shells, enforcement agencies Oxford, MS propellant, explosives

small caliber centerfire & Geelong, Australia
rimfire ammunition)

Small caliber military Infantry and mounted weapons East Alton, IL brass, lead, propellant,
ammunition explosives

Industrial products (8 gauge Maintenance applications in power & East Alton, IL brass, lead, plastic,
loads & powderactuated toc  concrete industries, powder-actuated tools irOxford, MS propellant, explosives
loads) construction industr Geelong, Australii



Strategies

Leverage Existing Strengths. Winchester plans to focus on seeking new oppdigs to leverage the legendary Winchester breamde
and will continue to offer a full line of ammunitiroducts to the markets we serve, with speaifiti$ on investments that lower our costs
and that make Winchester ammunition the retail ¢iafrchoice.

Focus on Product Line Growth. With a long record of pioneering new produdedhgs, Winchester has built a strong reputatioam
industry innovator. This includes the introductmfireduced-lead and non-lead products, which aseigig in popularity for use in indoor
shooting ranges and for outdoor hunting.

INTERNATIONAL OPERATIONS

We have sales offices and subsidiaries in variousties which support the worldwide export of prot from the United States as
well as overseas production facilities.

Yamaha-Olin Metal Corporation, of which we are &b6wner, manufactures high-performance copper sliloylapan for sale to the
electronics industry throughout the Far East. Qinsiliary, Olin Australia Limited, loads and pack®rting and industrial ammunition in
Australia. We entered into an agreement with Lugy@opper (Group) Ltd. to jointly construct and agiera metals service center in
Guangzhou, China, which became operational initeeduarter of 2004. See the Note “Segment Infoiona of the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements in Item 8, for geographic sagrdata. We are incorporating our segment infaondtom that Note into this section of
our Form 10-K.

CUSTOMERS AND DISTRIBUTION

During 2005, no single customer accounted for ntloa@ 4% of consolidated sales. Sales to all U.8egunent agencies and sales
under U.S. government contracting activities imtaiccounted for approximately 10% of consolidaeles in 2005. Products we sell to
industrial or commercial users or distributorsdise in the production of other products constitutaajor part of our total sales. We sell some
of our products, such as caustic soda, sportingmition, and metals products, to a large numbersefs or distributors, while we sell oth:
such as chlorine, in substantial quantities tdatixely small number of industrial users. We dissthe customers for each of our three
businesses in more detail above under “ProductSamdces.”

We market most of our products and services prisndriough our sales force and sell directly toi@as industrial customers, the U.S.
Government and its prime contractors, to wholesaded other distributors.

Because we engage in some government contractiivitias and make sales to the U.S. Governmentargesubject to extensive and
complex U.S. Government procurement laws and réigaka These laws and regulations provide for onggovernment audits and reviews
of contract procurement, performance and administraFailure to comply, even inadvertently, wilese laws and regulations and with laws
governing the export of munitions and other cofgbproducts and commaodities could subject us ermmmore of our businesses to civil |
criminal penalties, and under certain circumstansespension and debarment from future governnantacts and the exporting of products
for a specified period of time.

COMPETITION

We are in active competition with businesses produthe same or similar products, as well as, me@nstances, with businesses
producing different products designed for the sases. We are among the largest manufacturerstabdisrs in the United States of
ammunition, copper based strip, rod, and certalioraikali products based on data provided by therthg Arms and Ammunition
Manufacturers’ Institute (SAAMI), CDA and CMAI, rpsctively. Founded in 1926, SAAMI is an associatidthe nation’s leading
manufacturers of sporting firearms, ammunition eochponents. Many factors influence our ability tonpete successfully, including price,
delivery, service, performance, product innovaton product recognition and quality, dependinghengroduct involved.
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EMPLOYEES

As of December 31, 2005, we had approximately 5@@ployees, with 5,800 working in the United Stated 100 working in foreign
countries. Various labor unions represent a mgjafiour hourly-paid employees for collective banjag purposes.

During the fourth quarter of 2005, we reached adkyear agreement with all five labor unions repméiag approximately 3,000
employees at our East Alton facility where both dietand Winchester are headquartered.

A description of the labor contracts that are duexpire in the near future are listed below:

Location Number of Employees Expiration Date
Niagara Falls, NY (Chlor Alkali 95 July 2006
Bryan, OH (Metals 40 September 200
Seymour, CT (Metals 60 November 200t
Queretaro, Mexico (Metal: 5 February 200°

While we believe our relations with our employeed ¢heir various representatives are generallgfsatiory, we cannot assure that we
can conclude these labor contracts or any other lagreements without work stoppages and cannotefisat any work stoppages will not
have a material adverse effect on our businesandial condition or results of operations.

RESEARCH ACTIVITIES; PATENTS

Our research activities are conducted on a prograip basis at a number of facilities. Company-spoed research expenditures were
$4.2 million in 2005, $3.9 million in 2004, and $4million in 2003.

We own or license a number of patents, patent egijins and trade secrets covering our productpesaksses, particularly for use in
our Metals segment. We believe that, in the aggesdiae rights under our patents and licensesgperitant to our operations, but we do not
consider any individual patent or license or grofipatents and licenses related to a specific goe product to be of material importanc
our total business.

RAW MATERIALS AND ENERGY

We purchase the major portion of our raw mategguirements. The principal basic raw materialoforproduction of chlor alkali
products are salt, electricity, sulfur dioxide, dndirogen. The majority of the salt used in ourdZilkali Products segment is produced fr
internal resources. Copper, zinc, various othefaroous metals and brass scrap are required fdvigtals business. Lead, brass, and
propellant are the principal raw materials usethenWinchester business. We typically purchasestaatricity, salt, sulfur dioxide, and
propellants pursuant to multi-year contracts. eanufacture of ammunition, we use a substargiagemtage of our own output of cartridge
brass. We provide additional information with respe specific raw materials in the tables aboveaurfProducts and Services.”

Electricity is the predominant energy source for manufacturing facilities. Most of our facilitiese served by utilities which generate
electricity principally from coal, hydroelectric @amuclear power.

ENVIRONMENTAL AND TOXIC SUBSTANCES CONTROLS

The establishment and implementation of federatesind local standards to regulate air, watedamdiquality have affected and will
continue to affect substantially all of our manufaing locations. Federal legislation providing fegulation of the manufacture,
transportation, use and disposal of hazardousaiicl substances has imposed additional regulatayirements on industry, particularly the
chemicals industry. In addition, implementatioreaf/ironmental laws, such as the Resource Conservatid Recovery Act and the Clean
Air Act, has required and will continue to requirew capital expenditures and will increase opegatsts. We employ waste minimization
and pollution prevention programs at our manufaetusites and we are a party to various governnhe@nthprivate environmental actions
associated with waste disposal sites and manufagttacilities. Charges or credits to income forastigatory and remedial efforts were
material to operating results in the past threesyand may be material to net income in future year
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See our discussion of our environmental matteteem 3, “Legal Proceedings” below, the Note “Enwincental” of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements contained in Beand Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and AnalgéFinancial Condition and
Results of Operations.”

Item 1A. RISK FACTORS

In addition to the other information in this For-K, the following factors should be considered imlerating Olin and our business.
of our forward-looking statements should be corrgidén light of these factors. Additional risks amutertainties that we are unaware of or
that we currently deem immaterial also may becamgortant factors that affect us.

Sensitivity to Global Economic Conditions and Cychality —Our operating results could be negatively affectedng economic
downturns.

The business of most of our customers, particulautyvinyl, urethanes, pulp and paper, automotie@age, electrical connectors,
telecommunications and housing customers, arearnying degrees, cyclical and have historically eixgpeed periodic downturns. These
economic and industry downturns have been chaiaeteby diminished product demand, excess manufagteapacity and, in some cases,
lower average selling prices. Therefore, any sigaift downturn in our customers’ businesses otaba economic conditions could result in
a reduction in demand for our products and coulceeskly affect our results of operations or finahcondition. As a result of the depressed
economic conditions beginning in the fourth quade2000 and continuing through the first half 602, our vinyls, urethanes and pulp and
paper customers had lower demand for our chlodigkaducts. During the period 2000-2003, demarrddblor Alkali products was low
enough to lead to plant shutdowns within the induahd about 12% of capacity was removed from NaArtrerican production. When
demand improved in early 2004, the operating rategased to the mid to high 90% range, resulting fight supply/demand balance which
has resulted in increasing pricing. We believe ew significant capacity is anticipated to come twaam until late 2007 or early 2008, and as
a result, we believe supply/demand is expectednmam relatively tight and pricing is expecteddmain above historical levels. Lower
demand in our Metals segment has adversely affextetlusiness and results of operations since ZlME rod industry has been negatively
affected by customers’ migration to lower-costshbfire locations and by continued reductions intaappending in the industrial machinery
segment and reduced demand for building and holgsehaducts as a result of declines in commeraalstruction. In 2005, Metals U.S.
demand was down approximately 8% from 2004. Metalmand in the automotive and building products ssdswere down in 2005, while
ammunition, coinage, and electronics market segst@pments all experienced increases over 2004.

Although we do not generally sell a large perceateigour products directly to customers abroadyad part of our financial
performance is dependent upon a healthy econongnigiethe United States. Our customers sell theidyrts abroad. As a result, our
business is affected by general economic conditmitsother factors in Western Europe and most sf Esia, particularly China and Japan,
including fluctuations in interest rates, customemand, labor costs and other factors beyond auraoThe demand for our customers’
products, and therefore, our products, is diregtigcted by such fluctuations. We cannot assuretlyatievents having an adverse effect ol
industries in which we operate will not occur ontioue, such as a further downturn in the Westenmpgean, Asian or world economies,
increases in interest rates, unfavorable currelucyufations or a prolonged slowdown in the coinagectronic or telecommunications
industries.

The terrorist attacks of September 11th createdyreaanomic and political uncertainties and have &aégative impact on the global
economy. The long-term effects of these attacksusrfuture operating results and financial conditéawe unknown. The national and
international responses to terrorist attacks aagttential for additional terrorist attacks or gamevents could have further material adverse
effects on the economy in general, on our indusiiy on our operations. For example, war with on@@re countries could have numerous
consequences for us and our customers, one of widghbe sustained high energy prices.

Cyclical Pricing Pressure—Our profitability could be reduced by declinesaverage selling prices of our products, particylarl
declines in the ECU netback for chlorine and causti
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Our historical operating results reflect the cyalliand sometimes volatile nature of the chemicatals and ammunition industries. We
experience cycles of fluctuating supply and demarehch of our business segments, particularlyhloCAlkali Products, which results in
changes in selling prices. Periods of high dem#tght supply and increasing operating margins tenasult in increased capacity and
production until supply exceeds demand, generallpWed by periods of oversupply and declining psicThe industry build cycle, and its
impact on industry pricing, has been most pronodriceur Chlor Alkali Products segment. For examplel 995 and 1996, the chlor alkali
industry was very profitable due to a tight supgémand balance, which resulted in both higher aperaates and higher ECU prices. Hig
profits led to reinvestment to expand capacity sTieéw capacity became operational in 1998 and 1888|ting in industry over-capacity.
This imbalance was exacerbated by falling demaradrasult of the Asian financial crisis. The supgpémand imbalance resulted in both
lower operating rates and lower ECU prices, anti®9, many chlor alkali producers had operatingdssThe supply/demand balance
improved due to improved economic conditions in@080mpared to 1999, and ECU prices increased i 26thpared to 1999. As the U.S.
and world economies deteriorated in 2001 and thrdhg first half of 2002, the chlor alkali industagain experienced a period of oversupply
because of lower industry demand for both chloainé caustic. During the 2000-2003 timeframe ab&@b df North American production
was shut down which caused operating rates to ivgpnothout much improvement in demand. In late 2808 early 2004, chlorine demand
began to strengthen and operating rates increasgbée mid to high 90% range. Caustic demand begatréngthen by mid year 2004 and
supplies of both products have been tight sincetime. This has resulted in price increase initeg over the last 18 months. We believe that
with supply and demand in balance, and no new dypaaticipated to be available in the next cougflgears, 2005/2006 may be the cycle
peak for the Chlor Alkali Industry. Another factionpacting demand for chlorine and caustic sodaagrice of natural gas. Higher natural
gas prices, which through 2005 have exceeded $1ditien British thermal units, increase our cusiers’ manufacturing costs, and
depending on the crude oil to gas ratio, could nthken less competitive in world markets and, ttemefmay result in reduced demand for
our products.

Price in the chlor alkali industry is a major suppkelection criterion. We have little or no alyilio influence prices in this large
commodity market. Decreases in the average saililegs of our products could have a material adveffect on our profitability. For
example, assuming all other costs remain constahtraernal consumption remains approximately timaes, a $10 per ECU selling price
change equates to an approximate $11 million archexige in our revenues and pretax profit whenreeperating at full capacity. While
we strive to maintain or increase our profitability reducing costs through improving productionoghcy, emphasizing higher margin
products, and by controlling transportation, selliand administration expenses, we cannot assuréhwb these efforts will be sufficient to
offset fully the effect of changes in pricing oneogting results.

Because of the cyclical nature of our businesses;amnot assure you that pricing or profitabilitythe future will be comparable to any
particular historical period, including the mosteat period shown in our operating results. We oaassure you that the chlor alkali industry
will not experience adverse trends in the futurghat our operating results and/or financial ctindiwill not be adversely affected by them.

Our Metals and Winchester segments are also subjetianges in operating results as a result dfaaf@ricing pressures, but to a
lesser extent than the Chlor Alkali Products segmaie generally pass changes in prices for coppemogher metals along to our customers
as part of the negotiated price of the finisheddpob in most of our Metals segment product lineswklver, our Metals segment experiences
pricing pressure with respect to its conversiorrgbs, and we cannot assure you that adverse tiepdiging and margins will not affect
operating results in the future. Changes in glsbaply/demand for copper and copper alloys maycaéfar ability to obtain raw materials
under reasonable terms and conditions which magnia#ly adversely affect our operating results. i&iny, selling prices of ammunition are
affected by changes in raw material costs and aidity and customer demand, and declines in awesating prices of our Winchester
segment could adversely affect our profitability.

Imbalance in Demand for Our Chlor Alkali Products —A loss of a substantial customer for our chloneaustic soda could cause
an imbalance in demand for these products, whicitddoave an adverse effect on our results of ojmerst

Chlorine and caustic soda are produced simultateans in a fixed ratio of 1.0 ton of chlorine tdltons of caustic soda. The loss of a
substantial chlorine or caustic soda customer coaltse an imbalance in demand for our
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chlorine and caustic soda products. An imbalanaiemand may require us to reduce production of bbfibrine and caustic soda or take
other steps to correct the imbalance. Since weatastare chlorine, we may not be able to resporahtonbalance in demand for these
products as quickly or efficiently as some of competitors. If a substantial imbalance occurredyweeld need to reduce prices or take other
actions that could have a negative impact on caulte of operations and financial condition.

Pension Plans—The impact of declines in global equity marketsasset values and any declines in interest rats tasvalue the
liabilities in our pension plan may result in higlpension costs and the need to fund the pensamiplfuture years in material amounts.

Under Statement of Financial Accounting Standa8#sAS) No. 87, “Employers’ Accounting for Pensionsg recorded non-cash after-
tax charges of $29.2 million ($47.8 million pretajd $23.7 million ($38.8 million pretax) to Shavkters’ Equity as of December 31, 2005
and December 31, 2004, respectively. These chagfjest an accumulated benefit obligation in exaegbe year-end market value of assets
of our pension plan. In 2005, the cost impact ahpthanges and the adverse effect of lower intesé=st more than offset the increase in the
value of plan assets and in 2004, the adverse ingbdawer interest rates more than offset theease in plan assets, which necessitated the
recording of these after-tax charges to sharehsléguity. These are non-cash charges and do featt &fur ability to borrow under our
revolving credit agreement.

The determinations of pension expense and pensiatirfg are based on a variety of rules and regulatiChanges in these rules and
regulations could impact the calculation of pengitan liabilities and the valuation of pension pkssets. They may also result in higher
pension costs, additional financial statement dale, and accelerate and increase the need tdiferpension plan. There are currently a
number of legislative proposals being considereat, if enacted, would change the current rules.t\dbthese proposals would accelerate the
pension funding compared to funding under the exjstules.

In addition, the impact of declines in global eguhd bond markets on asset values may resulghrehipension costs and may increase
and accelerate the need to fund the pension infytears. For example, holding all other assumpt@mstant, a one hundred basis point
decrease or increase in the assumed rate of @tupian assets would have increased or decreasakatively, the 2005 pension cost by
approximately $12.9 million.

Holding all other assumptions constant, a 50 lqawiist decrease or increase in the discount rate tesealculate pension costs for 2005
would have increased or decreased pension co$iS.Bymillion and $6.3 million, respectively. There50 basis point increase or decrease
in the discount rate would have increased or deectthe accumulated benefit obligation by $84.0onil

Environmental Costs—We have ongoing environmental costs, which couddiemally adversely affect our financial positionresults
of operations.

The nature of our operations and products, inclydire raw materials we handle, exposes us to skeofiliabilities or claims with
respect to environmental matters. We have incuard,expect to incur, significant costs and cajixglenditures in complying with
environmental laws and regulations.

The ultimate costs and timing of environmentaliliibs are difficult to predict. Liability undermironmental laws relating to
contaminated sites can be imposed retroactivelyoanal joint and several basis. One liable partydcbe held responsible for all costs at a
site, regardless of fault, percentage of contrdyutd the site or the legality of the original displ. We could incur significant costs, including
cleanup costs, natural resources damages, cigiiminal fines and sanctions and third-party lawsualaiming, for example, personal injury
and/or property damage, as a result of past ordutiolations of, or liabilities under, environmehor other laws.

In addition, future events, such as changes toaemgorous enforcement of environmental laws]doequire us to make additional
expenditures, modify or curtail our operations andtstall pollution control equipment.

Accordingly, it is possible that some of the matterwhich we are involved or may become involveayrhe resolved unfavorably to
which could materially adversely affect our finaadgbosition or results of operations. See “Managatadiscussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations-Emwinental Matters.”
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Competition —We face competition from other chemical, metald ammunition companies, including the migrationUnjted States
customers to low-cost foreign locations, which doadliversely affect our revenues and financial doordi

We are in active competition with companies prodgdhe same or similar products, as well as, inesorstances, with companies
producing different products designed for the sages. With respect to certain product groups, sscdammunition, copper alloys and brass
rod, and with respect to certain chlor alkali prodywe are among the largest manufacturers aitdisrs in the United States. We encoul
competition in price, delivery, service, securimgl anaintaining customers, performance, technolpgyduct innovation, and product
recognition and quality, depending on the prodmebived. Our customers could decide to move sonadl af their production to lower cost,
offshore locations and this could reduce demanterinited States for our products. With respeceitain products, some of our
competitors are larger, have greater financialug=ss and have less debt than we do. As a relsette tcompetitors may be better able to
withstand a change in conditions within the indestin which we operate and throughout the econasng whole. If we do not compete
successfully, our business, financial condition egslilts of operations could be adversely affected.

Cost Control —Our profitability could be reduced if we experiertuigher-than-expected raw material, utility, ty@or$ation or logistics
costs, or if we fail to achieve our targeted cesluctions.

Our operating results and profitability are depemdgon our continued ability to control, and immeocases further reduce, our costs. If
we are unable to do so, or if costs outside ofomumtrol, particularly our costs of raw materialslities, transportation and similar costs,
increase beyond anticipated levels, our profitgbiiill decline.

Production Hazards—Our facilities are subject to operating hazardsictv may disrupt our business.

We are dependent upon the continued safe operaitionr production facilities. Our production fatidis are subject to hazards
associated with the manufacture, handling, stoaagetransportation of chemical materials and prtedand ammunition, including leaks and
ruptures, explosions, fires, inclement weather@atdral disasters, unexpected utility disruptionswtages, unscheduled downtime and
environmental hazards. From time to time in tha,pas have had incidents that have temporarily diown or otherwise disrupted our
manufacturing, causing production delays and riggpin liability for workplace injuries and fatalis. Some of our products involve the
manufacture and/or handling of a variety of explesand flammable materials. Use of these productsub customers could also result in
liability if an explosion, fire, spill or other aictent were to occur. We cannot assure you that i@t experience these types of incidents in
the future or that these incidents will not resullproduction delays or otherwise have a matedaksse effect on our business, financial
condition or results of operations.

Litigation and Claims —We are subject to litigation and other claims, athtould cause us to incur significant expenses.

We are a defendant in a number of pending legalgadings relating to our present and former opmratiThese include proceedings
alleging injurious exposure of plaintiffs to var®ahemicals and other substances (including pratgetased on alleged exposures to
asbestos). Frequently, such proceedings involimslenade by numerous plaintiffs against many dedatsd We believe we have valid
defenses to these proceedings and are defendimguilgerously. However, because of the inherent tagdies of litigation, we are unable to
predict the outcome of these proceedings and therebinnot determine whether the financial impéetyy, will be material to our financial
position or results of operations.

Indebtedness—Our indebtedness could adversely affect our firdmondition and limit our ability to grow and ceete, which could
prevent us from fulfilling our obligations underrandebtedness.

As of December 31, 2005, we had $258.3 millionnofebtedness outstanding, including $6.9 milliorreepnting the fair value related
to $131.6 million of interest rate swaps in effatDecember 31, 2005 and excluding our guarant&&&flL million of indebtedness of our
SunBelt joint venture. This does not include ousGnillion senior credit facility on which we had22.9 million available on that date
because we had issued $37.1 million of lettergedit. As of December 31, 2005, our indebtednessesented 38% of our total
capitalization.
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Our indebtedness could adversely affect our fireredndition and limit our ability to grow and coetp, which in turn could prevent us
from fulfilling our obligations under our indebteglss. Despite our level of indebtedness, the tefroarosenior credit facility and our existing
indentures permit us to borrow additional monewvéfborrow more money, the risks related to ouebtiddness could increase significantly.

Debt Service—We may not be able to generate sufficient caslengice our debt, which may require us to refinaogeindebtedness
default on our scheduled debt payments.

Our ability to generate sufficient cash flow fromevations to make scheduled payments on our deleihds on a range of economic,
competitive and business factors, many of whichoatside our control. We cannot assure you thabasmess will generate sufficient cash
flow from operations. If we are unable to meet exjpenses and debt obligations, we may need tcarefall or a portion of our indebtedn
on or before maturity, sell assets or raise eqlitg.cannot assure you that we would be able toaeéie any of our indebtedness, sell assets
or raise equity on commercially reasonable termat @i, which could cause us to default on ouigattions and impair our liquidity. Our
inability to generate sufficient cash flow to sBtieur debt obligations, or to refinance our obtigas on commercially reasonable terms,
would have an adverse effect on our business, dinhoondition and results of operations, as welba our ability to satisfy our debt
obligations. See “Management’s Discussion and Asialgf Financial Condition and Results of Operatibn

At December 31, 2005, we had interest rate swafd.8f.6 million, which convert a portion of ourdit rate debt to a variable rate. /
result, 54% of our indebtedness bears interesdridive rates that are linked to short-term inter@®s. If interest rates rise, our costs relative
to those obligations would also rise.

Tax Audits —We are currently subject to ongoing tax auditsiciwimay result in additional tax payments.

During 2005, the Internal Revenue Service (IRSy#aidtially completed its audit of our Federal ineotax return for the years 2001 :
2002. We are currently contesting various issuésreghe Appeals Division of the IRS with respexcthie years 1996 through 2002.
Depending on the outcome of these audits, we magdpgred to pay additional taxes, and any addifitexes and related interest could be
substantial. We have reserved amounts which weveeivill be sufficient for any adverse outcome. Tileng of any such payments is
uncertain.

Labor Matters —We cannot assure you that we can conclude fuilmerlcontracts or any other labor agreements witivouk
stoppages.

Various labor unions represent a majority of ounthepaid employees for collective bargaining pses. A description of the labor
contracts that are due to expire in the near fuduedisted below:

Location Number of Employees Expiration Date
Niagara Falls, NY (Chlor Alkali 95 July 2006
Bryan, OH (Metals 40 September 200
Seymour, CT (Metals 60 November 200t
Queretaro, Mexico (Metal: 5 February 200°

While we believe our relations with our employeed ¢heir various representatives are generallgfsatiory, we cannot assure that we
can conclude future labor contracts or any otheeri@agreements without work stoppages and cansatashat any work stoppages will not
have a material adverse effect on our businesandial condition or results of operations.

Security and Chemicals Transportation—New regulations on the transportation of hazarddenicals and/or the security of
chemical manufacturing facilities and public policlyanges related to transportation safety couldtrgssignificantly higher operating costs.

The chemical industry, including the chlor alkakiustry, has proactively responded to the issueswding the events of
September 11, 2001 by starting new initiativestimdgto the security of chemicals industry faciigiand the transportation of hazardous
chemicals in the United States. Simultaneouslyggowent at the local, state, and federal leveldkgsn the regulatory process which could
lead to new regulations that would impact the sgcur
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of chemical plant locations and the transportatibhazardous chemicals. Our Chlor Alkali businemsld be adversely impacted because of
an incident at one of our facilities or an incidesftile transporting product or the cost of compdywmith new regulations. The extent of the
impact would depend on the consequences of aneint&hd the nature and direction of future regoitesj which are unknown at this time

Changes in Laws and Regulations—We are subject to a variety of existing laws agglitations that affect our business.

We are unable to determine what effect, if any,tmgact of changes in existing or new laws and legns and the associated
compliance costs may have on our operating results.

Item 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
Not applicable.

Item 2. PROPERTIES

We have manufacturing sites at 21 separate locatioh? states and Puerto Rico, and two manufagwites and two metal service
centers in four foreign countries, including them¥aha-Olin Metal Corporation joint venture facilifjhe metals service center in China
became operational in the first quarter of 2004stMoanufacturing sites are owned although a numbemall sites are leased. We listed the
locations at or from which our products and serviaee manufactured, distributed, or marketed indbkes set forth under the caption
“Products and Services.”

We lease warehouses, terminals and distributidnesffand space for executive and branch saleesffind service departments
throughout the world.

Item 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

(a) We have completed all work in connection wiégmediation of mercury contamination at the sitewfformer mercury cell chlor
alkali plant in Saltville, VA required to date. inid-2003, the Trustees for natural resources irNtbth Fork Holston River, the Main Stem
Holston River, and associated floodplains, locéte®myth and Washington Counties in Virginia an®ullivan and Hawkins Counties in
Tennessee notified us of, and invited our parttegmain, an assessment of alleged injuries to mat@sources resulting from the release of
mercury. The Trustees also notified us that thexehmmade a preliminary determination that we aremtilly liable for natural resource
damages in said rivers and floodplains. We haveeajto participate in the assessment. In lighhefdarly stage, and inherent uncertainties,
of the assessment, we cannot at this time deterwiie¢her the financial impact, if any, of this neatwill be material to our financial position
or results of operations. See “Environmental Matteontained in Item 7—"Management’s Discussion analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations.”

(b) As part of the continuing environmental invgation by federal, state and local governmentsastesdisposal sites, we have entered
into a number of settlement agreements requirintg garticipate in the investigation and cleanup afumber of sites. Under the terms of
such settlements and related agreements, we miagbied to manage or perform one or more elenwrdssite cleanup, or to manage the
entire remediation activity for a number of partiasd subsequently seek recovery of some or allich costs from other Potentially
Responsible Parties (PRPs). In many cases, wetdamow the ultimate costs of our settlement oblayz at the time of entering into
particular settlement agreements, and our liabéldgruals for our obligations under those agreesnamt often subject to significant
management judgment on an ongoing basis. Thosecostals are provided for in accordance with gaheaccepted accounting principles
and our accounting policies set forth in the enwinental matters section in Iltem 7—Management’s ision and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations.

(c) We and our subsidiaries are defendants in uarigher legal actions (including proceedings bagedlleged exposures to asbestos)
incidental to our past and current business aes/itWhile we believe that none of these legabastiwill materially impact our financial
position, in light of the inherent uncertaintiestio¢ litigation concerning alleged exposures, wanca at this time determine whether the
financial impact, if any, of these matters will imaterial to our results of operations.
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We have been named as defendant in a number déslegal actions how pending in federal court anSose, CA relating to alleged
groundwater contamination arising from perchlorge between 1956 and 1996 by Olin and anotheratatetlefendant at an Olin facility in
Morgan Hill, CA. We have settled with virtually af the plaintiffs in these legal actions and coaé working with California state regulatc
authorities to determine the scope of potentiataxmmation.

Item 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

We did not submit any matter to a vote of securididers during the three months ended Decembe2(B15.

Executive Officers as of February 28, 2006

Served as al

Olin Officer
Name and Age Office Since
Joseph D. Rupp (5! Chairman, President and Chief Executive Off 1996
Stephen C. Curley (5¢ Vice President and Treasul 2005
John E. Fischer (5( Vice President and Chief Financial Offic 2004
G. Bruce Greer, Jr. (4! Vice President, Strategic Planni 2005
Jeffrey J. Haferkamp (5: Vice President and President, Olin Br 2005
Richard M. Hammett (5¢ Vice President and President, Winchester Divit 2005
Dennis R. McGough (57 Vice President, Human Resour¢ 2005
John L. Mcintosh (51 Vice President and President, Chlor Alkali ProduRitgsion 1999
George H. Pain (5t Vice President, General Counsel and Secre 2002
Todd A. Slater (42 Vice President and Controll 2005

No family relationship exists between any of thevabnamed executive officers or between any of thathany of our directors. Such
officers were elected to serve, subject to the®ys|, until their respective successors are chosen.

J. D. Rupp and J. L. McIntosh have served as execafficers for not less than the past five years.

Stephen C. Curley re-joined Olin on August 18, 286 hief Tax Counsel. He was elected Vice Presileth Treasurer effective
January 1, 2005. From 1997-2001, he served asRfiegident and Treasurer of Primex Technologies, énmanufacturer and provider of
ordnance and aerospace products and services, whikkpun off from Olin in 1996.

John E. Fischer re-joined Olin on January 2, 20)¥iae President, Finance. On June 24, 2004, heeleated Vice President, Finance
and Controller, and effective May 27, 2005, he elasted Vice President and Chief Financial Offitgom 1997-2001, he served as Vice
President and Chief Financial Officer of Primex Amealogies, Inc. During 2002 and 2003, Mr. Fischdriddependent consulting for several
companies including Olin.

G. Bruce Greer, Jr. joined Olin on May 2, 2005 &=\President, Strategic Planning. Prior to join®ign and since 1997, Mr. Greer v
employed by Solutia, Inc., an applied chemicals pany. From 2003 to April 2005, he served as PresidEPharma Services, a Division of
Solutia and Chairman of Flexsys, an internationhber chemicals company which was a joint ventargigdly owned by Solutia and Akzo
Nobel. Prior to that, Mr. Greer served as a VicesRlent of Corporate Development, Technology, afarination Technology for Soluti

Jeffrey J. Haferkamp was elected Vice Presidentrardident, Olin Brass effective January 1, 200ir Ro that time and since October
2002, he served as President, Rolled Products. Amih2001 to September 2002, he served as ViesiBent, International for the Brass
Division (currently part of the Metals Group). Rrio April 2001, he served as Vice President, BesinPlanning for the Brass Division.

Richard M. Hammett was elected Vice President aedient, Winchester Division effective Januargd05. Prior to that time and
since September 2002, he served as President, @éieetDivision. From November 1998 until Septeni#2, he served as Vice President,
Marketing and Sales for the Winchester Division.

Dennis R. McGough was elected Vice President, HuResources effective January 1, 2005. Prior totthat and since 1999, he
served as Corporate Vice President, Human Resources
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George H. Pain re-joined Olin on April 15, 2002/4se President, General Counsel, and Secretargr Rrithe time, since 2001, he
served as Vice President and General Counsel ofi@ebynamics Ordnance and Tactical Systems, émcgperating unit of General
Dynamics Corporation, a manufacturer of missiotigal information systems and technologies; land expeditionary combat systems,
armaments and munitions; shipbuilding and marirstesys; and business aviation. From 1997-2001, ived@s Vice President, General
Counsel and Secretary of Primex Technologies, Inc.

Todd A. Slater was elected Vice President and @batr effective May 27, 2005. From April 2004 uriay 2005, he served as
Operations Controller. From January 2003 until Ap@i04, he served as Vice President and Finandfale® for Olin’s Metals Group. Prior
2003, Mr. Slater served as Vice President, Chie&itial Officer and Secretary for Chase Industries (which was merged into Olin on
September 27, 2002).

PART Il

Item 5. MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND
ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

As of January 31, 2006, we had 6,029 record holdeosir common stock.
Our common stock is traded on the New York Stoc&haxge, Chicago Stock Exchange and Pacific Exchange

The high and low sales prices of our common staging each quarterly period in 2005 and 2004 atedi below. A dividend of $0.20
per common share was paid during each of the foartgrs in 2005 and 2004.

Second Third Fourth
Quarter  Quarter  Quarter

First
2005 Quarter
Market price of common stock per New York Stock Exege composite transactic
High $25.3¢  23.7¢ 20.0C 20.1f
Low 20.2z 17.0¢ 17.51 16.6f
2004
Market price of common stock per New York Stock Exege composite transactic
High $20.51 18.9¢ 20.2¢ 22.9¢
Low 16.37 15.2C 15.9¢ 18.1¢
Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
Maximum Number of
Total Number of Share: Shares (or Units) that
(or Units) Purchased as May Yet Be Purchase
Total Number of Share Average Price Paid pe Part of Publicly
Announced Plans or Under the Plans or
Period (or Units) Purchased Share (or Unit) Programs Programs
October -31, 200% — N/A —
November -30, 200% — N/A —
December -31, 2005 — N/A —
Total 154,076W

(1) On April 30, 1998, we announced a share repurcpisgram approved by our board of directors forghrchase of up to 5 million
shares of common stock. Through December 31, 20885,924 shares had been repurchased, and 15hai#s remain available for
purchase under that program, which has no ternoinatate

Equity Compensation Plan Information

We incorporate the information concerning our ggadmpensation plans under the heading “Equity Gamsation Plan Informationh
our Proxy Statement relating to our 2006 Annual fibgeof Shareholders by reference in this report.
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Item 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
ELEVEN-YEAR SUMMARY

2005 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998 1997 1996 1995

($ and shares in millions, except per share data)
Operations
Sales $2,357  $1,997 $1,557  $1,27:  $1,23: $1,49¢ $1,39¢  $1,50¢ $157: $1,817 $ 1,88¢
Cost of Goods Sol 1,99¢ 1,76¢ 1,382 1,15¢ 1,091 1,24( 1,21¢ 1,23¢ 1,27¢ 1,45¢ 1,541
Selling and Administration 17€ 141 127 112 111 121 122 123 132 15E 153
Research and Development 4 4 5 5 5 5 7 10 8 20 17
Gain (Loss) on Sales and Restructuring of Busirseane

Spin-off costs — (L0 31 — 39) — — 63 — 17¢ —
Other Operating Income 9 6 — — 6 — — — — 7 —
Earnings (Loss) of Nc-consolidated Affiliates 38 10 8 ) 8) 2 (11) — 1 2 2
Interest Expense 20 20 20 26 17 16 16 17 24 27 33
Interest and Other Income (Expense) 20 6 4 6 17 5 3 7 14 4 ()]
Income (Loss) before Taxes from Continuing Operest 22t 79 4 27) (16) 121 27 59 147 352 137
Income Tax Provision (Benefit) 86 28 4 4 (5) 46 10 21 50 12E 47
Income (Loss) from Continuing Operatic 13¢ 51 — (31) 11) 75 17 38 97 227 90
Discontinued Operations, Net — 4 1 — 2 6 4 40 56 53 50
Cumulative Effect of Accounting Change, Net (6) — (25) — — — — — — — —
Net Income (Loss $ 132 $ 55 $ (29 $ 31) $ (9 $ 81 $ 21 $ 78 $ 158 $ 28 $ 14cC

Financial Position
Cash and Cash Equivalents and Short-Term Invesgment$ 304 ¢ 147 $ 19C $ 13¢ $ 202 ¢ 82 $ 46 $ 75 $ 18 $ 60t $ 2

Working Capitaf?) 202 244 174 24¢C 68 161 206 15¢C 88 (220) 22
Property, Plant and Equipment, I 482 47¢ 49t 54t 46¢ 47¢ 468 47¢ 517 40C 58C
Total Assets 1,797 1,61¢ 1,432 1,41 1,207 1,107 1,06: 1,58¢ 1,707 2,11¢ 1,96:
Capitalization:
Shor-Term Debi 1 52 27 2 102 1 1 1 8 137 122
Long-Term Debt 7 261 314 34€ 33C 22¢ 22¢ 23C 262 271 40€
Shareholders’ Equity 7 35€ 17€ 231 271 32¢ 30¢ 79C 87¢ 94¢€ 841
Total Capitalizatior $ 68t $ 66¢ $ 517 $ 57¢ $ 703 $ 55¢ $ 53¢ $1,021 $ 1,14¢ $ 1,354 $ 1,36¢
Per Share Data
Net Income (Loss
Basic:
Continuing Operation&) $19 $074 $001 $(0.679 $(020 $166 $03€ $07¢ $ 1.91 $ 43 $ 171
Discontinued Operations, Net — 0.0¢€ 0.01 — 0.04 0.14 0.0¢ 0.8t 1.11 1.04 1.04
Accounting Change, Net (0.09) — 0.49 — — — — — — — —
Net Income (Loss 1.87 0.8C (0.42) (0.63) (0.22) 1.8C 0.4t 1.64 3.02 5.34 2.7t
I I I I I I I I I I I
Diluted:
Continuing Operation& 1.9¢ 0.74 0.01 (0.69) (0.26) 1.6€ 0.3€ 0.7¢ 1.9C 4.2¢ 1.7¢
Discontinued Operations, Net — 0.0¢€ 0.01 — 0.04 0.14 0.0¢ 0.84 1.1C 1.01 0.97
Accounting Change, N¢ (0.09) — (0.49) — — — — — — — —
Net Income (Loss) 1.8¢€ 0.8C (0.42) (0.63) (0.22) 1.8C 0.4t 1.62 3.0C 5.27 2.67
I I I I I I I I I I I
Cash Dividends
Common (historical) 0.8C 0.8C 0.8C 0.8C 0.8C 0.8C 0.9C 1.2C 1.2C 1.2C 1.2C
Common (continuing operation 0.8C 0.8C 0.8C 0.8C 0.8C 0.8C 0.8C 0.8C 0.8C 0.8C 0.8C
ESOP Preferred (annual rate) — — — — — — — — — 5.97 5.97
Series A Preferred (annual rate) — — — — — — — — — — 3.64
Shareholder Equity 5.9z 5.02 2.9¢ 4.01 6.24 7.4¢ 6.87 17.2¢ 17.9¢ 18.1¢ 17.0¢
Market Price of Common Stock:
High 25.3¢ 22.9¢ 20.5: 22.6( 22.7¢ 23.1¢ 19.8¢ 49.31 51.3¢ 48.0( 38.6:2
Low 16.6¢ 15.2( 14.97 13.8¢ 12.0¢ 14.1¢ 9.5C 23.8¢ 35.3¢ 34.8¢ 24.2¢
Year End 19.6¢ 22.0Z 20.0¢ 15.5¢ 16.14 22.1: 19.81 28.31 46.8¢ 37.6: 37.1:2
Other
Capital Expenditure $ 8 $ 55 $ 54 $ 41 $ 64 $ 93 $ 73 $ 78 $ 76 $ 74 $ 11l€
Depreciation 72 72 80 85 84 78 78 76 76 84 77
Common Dividends Paid 57 56 47 39 35 36 41 58 61 60 57
Purchases of Common Stock — — — 3 14 20 11 112 163 — —
Current Ratic 2.4 2.2 2.2 2.t 1.8 1.¢ 2.C 1.8 1.8 1.€ 1.C
Total Debt to Total Capitalizatiof? 37.%  46.8%  65.%  60.0%  61.5%  41.1% @ 42.7% = 22.6% 23.5% 30.1% 37.%%
Effective Tax Rate 38.1% 35.6% 76.5% nle 30.9% 38.1% 37.% 35.6% 34.(% 35.5% 34.%%
Average Common Shares Outstanc 71.€ 68.4 58.2 49.4 43.€ 45.C 45.4 47.¢ 50.t 50.C 47.€
Shareholders 6,10( 6,40( 6,80( 7,20( 7,50( 8,00( 8,60( 9,20( 10,60( 11,30( 12,00(

Employeed? 5,90(C 5,80( 5,50(C 5,90( 5,60( 6,30(C 6,70C 6,40( 6,60( 6,20( 7,20C

Our Selected Financial Data reflects the followinginesses as discontinued operations: Olin Aeg2904, the spin off of Arch
Chemicals, Inc. (our specialty chemicals busings$p99 and Primex Technologies, Inc. (our Ordnaaw Aerospace businesses) in 1996.

(1) Working Capital excludes Cash and Cash EquivakemisShor-Term Investments



(2) Includes gain of $2.20 on sale of the isocyanatisiiess in 199¢
(3) Excluding reduction to equity for the Employee &t@wnership Plan from 1995 and 19
(4) Employee data exclude employees who worked at goven-owned/contract-operated facilities
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Item 7. MANAGEMENT’'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL C ONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

BUSINESS BACKGROUND

Our manufacturing operations are concentratedrgetbusiness segments: Chlor Alkali Products, Metald Winchester. All three are
capital intensive manufacturing businesses witlwghiaates closely tied to the general economy. EBagment has a commodity element t
and therefore, our ability to influence pricingisite limited on the portion of the segment’s basmthat is strictly commodity. Our Chlor
Alkali Products business is a commaodity businessrelall supplier products are similar and priceésmajor supplier selection criterion. We
have little or no ability to influence prices irigharge, global commodity market. Cyclical priegirsgs, driven by changes in supply/demand,
can be abrupt and significant and, given capanityur Chlor Alkali Products business, can leadexysignificant changes in our overall
profitability. While a majority of Metals sales anéa commodity nature, this business has a siganfivolume of specialty engineered
products targeted for specific end-uses. In thppiiaations, technical capability and performaniféecentiate the product and play a
significant role in product selection and thus @i not the only selection criterion. Winchestendas a commodity element to its business,
but a majority of Winchester ammunition is soldaasranded consumer product where there are opjiesito differentiate certain offerings
through innovative new product development and roba product performance. While competitive pricinegsus other branded ammunition
products is important, it is not the only factompiroduct selection.

RECENT DEVELOPMENTS AND HIGHLIGHTS
2005 Year

During 2005, we received a total of $9.4 millioorfr real estate dispositions, including interest@B million. The first disposition in
March represented the settlement of a condemnati@nd relating to land associated with a formeralausing facility. The other two
transactions represented the disposition of lasdaated with former manufacturing plants.

During 2005, we recovered environmental costs iecliand expensed in prior periods and relatedastaf $49.9 million from third
parties, which relate primarily to remedial anddstigatory activities associated with former wastes and past operations. The first reco
in April was for $1.5 million. The second occurriedSeptember and was for $18.0 million. The lastuoed in November and was for $30.4
million, which included $11.4 million in interest.

During the third quarter of 2005, both supply aedhdnd in the Chlor Alkali industry were interruptedthree hurricanes, which caus
customer outages and disruptions to the transpamtaystem. Although none of our facilities werendayed, these factors reduced our
operating rate during the third and fourth quartérad005.

On December 31, 2005, we recorded an after-taxgehafr$6.4 million ($10.5 million pretax) in connien with the adoption of
Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Intetation No. 47, “Accounting for Conditional AssettRement Obligations” (FIN
No. 47), an interpretation of SFAS No. 1“Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations” (SFA®. 143). FIN No. 47 clarifies when
sufficient information is available to estimateasset retirement obligation. In conjunction wittsthdoption, $6.4 million was recorded as a
cumulative effect of an accounting change. Thigghas principally related to asset retirementgddions for production technology and
building materials.

Under SFAS No. 87, we recorded a $220.0 millioerafax charge ($360.0 million pretax) to SharehdtEquity as of December 31,
2002, reflecting an accumulated benefit obligatioexcess of the year-end market value of asseaisrgbension plan. In 2003, the decline in
interest rates more than offset a significant reloon the value of the plan’s assets, which netagssi the recording of an additional after-tax
charge of $19.5 million ($32.2 million pretax). ®abruary 6, 2004, we made a voluntary contributib§125.0 million to the pension plan
with the proceeds from the issuance of common stocBeptember 2004, we made a second voluntaryilbation of $43.0 million to the
pension plan. These 2004 voluntary contributionsetimproved the funded status of the pension ptaaddition, the 2004 contributions
eliminated a Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporatiarable rate premium of $3.0
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million that would have otherwise become payabdenfthe pension plan assets in 2004. In 2004, thindein interest rates resulted in a 25-
basis point reduction more than offset the increas¢he value of the plan’s assets. Thereforeragerded in December 2004 an additional
after-tax charge of $23.7 million ($38.8 millionepax) as a result of an increase in the accumufaadion benefit obligation. In September
2005, we made a voluntary pension plan contribubio6.1 million in order to maintain a 90% fundeslel under the Employee Retirement
Income and Security Act (ERISA) criteria used ttedimine funding levels. In 2005, an additional 2&iks point decline in interest rates and
the cost impact of contractual pension plan chang&® than offset the increase in the value optha assets. Therefore, we recorded in
December 2005 an additional after-tax charge ofZg8llion ($47.8 million pretax) as a result of merease in the accumulated pension
benefit obligation. These non-cash charges to Sbéders’ Equity in each of the last four years do affect our ability to borrow under our
revolving credit agreement. Based on revised assangand estimates, no mandatory contributionkbeilrequired until 2008. We may el
to make selective voluntary contributions, whenrappate, between now and 2008.

2004 Year

On January 29, 2004, we announced that our boatdexftors approved plans to relocate our corpaytiees for organizational,
strategic and economic reasons. By the end ofe¢he, yve had completed the relocation of a portfomuo corporate services personnel from
Norwalk, CT to our Main Office Building in East Alh, IL. We also established our new corporate hgaders in Clayton, which is in £
Louis County, MO, for logistical and other reasofise relocation of the corporate offices was accamgx by a downsized corporate
structure more appropriate for us in today’s coritigetbusiness environment. The headquarters rétncawas completed by the end of 2004.
The majority of the corporate personnel have beelocated with the Brass and Winchester businagsedting in corporate headcount being
reduced by approximately forty percent, generatiirtgl projected annual savings of approximatelyp$6illion in 2006. As a result of the
relocation, we incurred costs of $10.1 million 02 and incurred an additional $0.3 million of sdst2005. This restructuring charge
included primarily employee severance and relatteht costs, relocation expense, pension curtaifragpense and the incurred cost for
outplacement services for all affected employeés. Sale of the Indianapolis facility in Novembef2@esulted in a reduction of a previou
established reserve related to our Indianapoltsuetsiring of $0.5 million, which reduced the to2#l04 restructuring charge to $9.6 million.

On February 3, 2004, we issued and sold 10 milizeres of our common stock at a public offeringgpof $18.00 per share. Net
proceeds from the sale were $177.8 million and weegl to make a voluntary contribution of $125.0iom to our pension plan. In March
2004, we used $17.5 million from the proceeds efdtock offering to repay the lllinois IndustrialRition Control Revenue Bond, which
became due in March of 2004. The remaining bal$88.3 million) of the proceeds was used in Ap@iD2 to pay a portion of federal
income taxes related to prior periods.

In 2003, we were accepted to participate in thertrgl Revenue Service (IRS) settlement initiatigetgining to tax issues related to our
benefits liability management company. In additior, settled with the IRS relative to our Companyr@d Life Insurance (COLI) program.
In the third quarter of 2004, a final settlementeagnent was reached with the IRS on these andrcetteer outstanding issues related to tax
audits covering the 1992 through 2000 tax yearsohmection with these settlements we made paynirethe second quarter of 2004 of
$40.8 million. These payments resolved all opendssegarding our benefits liability managementgany and our COLI program. These
tax issues had been recorded as a liability pa@002. In the third quarter of 2004, the incomepeovision included a $2.3 million reducti
in income tax expense associated with the finatimain the third quarter of 2004, of the settletnaincertain issues related to income tax
audits for the years 1992 through 2000.

In May 2004, a fire occurred in the electrical aohtoom for the hot mill located in East Alton, dn April 29, 2004. The hot mill was
returned to full operation in mid-May. The full-yezosts relative to the fire were incurred by thetds segment in the second quarter and
were $4.7 million pretax.

In June 2004, we sold our Olin Aegis business t&CH@ustries Inc. Olin Aegis, headquartered in Nedford, MA, is a manufacturer
of high performance, high reliability, hermetic migbackages for the microelectronics industry. @lagis employed 250 people. The sale of
our Olin Aegis business resulted in a pretax g&id508 million and generated proceeds of $17.liomllFor Olin Aegis, the financial data is
classified in our financial statements as discar@thoperations for the periods presented prio0@52
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On July 30, 2004, we entered into a $160.0 milfisa-year senior revolving credit facility that feped the $140.0 million senior
revolving credit facility. This credit facility exyes on July 30, 2009. Borrowing options, restvietcovenants and the letter of credit
subfacility are similar to or better than thosetaf $140.0 million senior revolving credit facility

In September 2004, we were impacted by equipmerttiggms and a hurricane at our Mclintosh, AL chl&ahlfacility. We invoked the
force majeure clause in the chlorine contracts withcustomers due to equipment problems and ird/thie force majeure clause in the
chlorine, caustic soda, hydrogen, salt and sodiypothlorite contracts with our customers due toeffiects of the hurricane. The negative
impact of these issues was several million dolf@he plant returned to full operation in late Septer.

In September 2004, Winchester announced that itdu@locate its East Alton rimfire manufacturingeogtion to Oxford, MS to allow
Winchester the ability to reduce costs, improvécedhcies, better utilize existing technology awtiiave improved profitability in the product
line. This move was completed in the second qu2@66. This relocation impacted approximately 1&@ged and hourly employees, but did
not impact the shotshell, centerfire rifle, andgisnanufacturing operations, which are locate&ast Alton, IL.

In November 2004, we purchased certain businestsassEMetal Foils LLC for $3.2 million. Metal FsiLLC is a distributor of
aluminum, stainless steel, and copper productd¢ddaa Willoughby, OH. We relocated the purchaseskts to our A.J. Oster facility in
Alliance, OH in the fourth quarter of 2004.

2003 Year

In the first quarter of 2003, we made a decisioolése our manufacturing plant in Indianapolis, The Indianapolis facility ceased
operations on February 14, 2003. The plant manufedtcopper and copper alloy sheet and strip ptedardd employed approximately 200
people. Production at the Indianapolis strip mélsbeen consolidated within our East Alton, IL liaciWhile the Indianapolis strip mill had
been an important part of the Metals segment ste@equisition in 1988, reduced domestic consuompdif strip products combined with
capacity additions at East Alton lessened the peethintain the Indianapolis production base. Asslt of this closure and certain other
actions, we recorded in the first quarter of 20@8etax restructuring charge of $29.0 million. tddion, we recorded in the fourth quarter of
2003, a pretax restructuring charge of $1.8 milfioimarily for the write down of certain non-U.Ssa&ts, netted with a reduction of a
previously established reserve related to our hmatfialis restructuring.

The major portion of the first and fourth quarteamgyes was a non-cash charge ($24.6 million) rlkat¢he loss on disposal or write-off
of equipment and facilities and goodwill. The bakaof the restructuring charges related to severand job-related benefit costs. At the
Indianapolis facility, approximately 190 employeesre terminated, while nine employees were trarsfieio the East Alton facility. In
addition to the closing of the Indianapolis fagilithe Metals segment had determined that furtbst ductions were necessary due to
continuing depressed economic conditions. Approiefgeb5 employees were terminated to reduce headdbrough a combination of a
reduction-in-force program in Metals and the retmraof the segment’s New Haven, CT metals reselatobratory activities to two existing
manufacturing locations.

In the first quarter of 2003, we recorded an afitercharge of $25.4 million in connection with gdoption of SFAS No. 143. We
adopted this standard on January 1, 2003 and tha&iment charge is to reflect the cost of retirenmdligations related to our former
operating facilities, certain hazardous waste watitsur operating plant sites, and our Indianagdatislity which was shut down in the first
quarter of 2003, as described above. The aftectiarge was recorded as the cumulative effect aicanunting change.

In the first quarter of 2003, we were acceptedaxigipate in the IRS’s settlement initiative partag to tax issues relating to our
benefits liability management company. In additime, reached a settlement with the IRS relativeuto@ompany Owned Life Insurance
(COLI) program. These obligations had been recoeded liability prior to 2002.
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CONSOLIDATED RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

2005 2004 2003

(in millions, except per share amounts)

Sales $2,357.° $1,996.¢ $1,557.:
Cost of Goods Sol 1,998.¢ 1,764.¢ 1,381.¢
Gross Margir 358.¢ 231.¢ 175.3
Selling and Administratio 176.: 141.( 127.:
Research and Developme 4.2 3.¢ 4.7
Restructuring Charge 0.3 9.€ 30.¢
Other Operating Incom 9.1 5.2 —

Operating Incom: 187.2 82.¢ 12.t
Earnings of No-consolidated Affiliate: 38.t 10.1 7.8
Interest Expens 19.€ 20.2 20.2
Interest Incomt 18.C 1.6 1.3
Other Income i3 4.t 2.€
Income from Continuing Operations before Taxes@urhulative Effect of Accounting

Change 225.¢ 79.2 4.C

Income Tax Provisio 85.¢ 28.t 3.€
Income from Continuing Operations before Cumulafiffect of Accounting Chang 139.% 50.7 0.4
Discontinued Operation

Income from Discontinued Operations, ! — 0.€ 0.¢

Gain on Disposal of Discontinued Operations, — 3.t —
Income before Cumulative Effect of Accounting Che 139.% 54.¢ 1.3
Cumulative Effect of Accounting Change, P (6.9 — (25.9
Net Income (Loss $ 133.: $ 54.¢ $ (24

Basic Income (Loss) per Common Shz

Income from Continuing Operations before Cumulafiffect of Accounting Chang $ 1.9¢ $ 0.7 $ 0.01
Income from Discontinued Operations, | — 0.01 0.01
Gain on Disposal of Discontinued Operations, — 0.0t —
Cumulative Effect of Accounting Change, ! (0.09 — (0.49
Net Income (Loss $ 1.87 $ 0.8C $ (0.4

Diluted Income (Loss) Per Common She

Income from Continuing Operations before Cumulafiffect of Accounting Chang $ 1.9t $ 0.7 $ 0.01

Income from Discontinued Operations, | — 0.01 0.01

Gain on Disposal of Discontinued Operations, — 0.0t

Cumulative Effect of Accounting Change, ! (0.09 — (0.49
Net Income (Loss $ 1.8¢€ $ 0.8C $ (0.4

2005 Compared to 2004

For 2005, total company sales were $2,357.7 miliompared with $1,996.8 million last year, an iase of $360.9 million, or 18%.
Chlor Alkali Products sales increased from lastryse$162.0 million due to higher Electrochemicalitd (ECU) selling prices, which
increased by 52% from 2004 and were offset in ipaB% lower volumes. In the Metals segment, saleseased $172.6 million, or 14%, o
2004. The increase in the Metals segment saleshga®sult of higher metal prices offset in paridyer shipment volumes. Average copper
prices increased 30% during 2005. Winchester $adesased by $26.3 million, or 8%, from last yeae do increased demand from the U.S.
military and law enforcement customers and a sligtrease in domestic commercial sales due to higgléng prices.

Gross margin increased $127.0 million, or 55%, @&@¥4 primarily as a result of higher ECU sellingges for chlor alkali products.
Gross margin as a percentage of sales increaddi®gon 2005 from 12% in 2004. The gross marginatahicrease of $127.0 million
reflected the higher ECU prices. The resulting rimepgrcentage increase also reflects the higher E€lling prices and was offset in part by
higher metals sales resulting from increased metal
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values and by lower gross margins in the Metals\&irtthester segments. Gross margin and gross masgirpercentage of sales were also
positively impacted by recoveries from third past@ $38.5 million of environmental costs incuraat expensed in prior periods.

Selling and administration expenses as a percenfagges were 7% in 2005 and 2004. Selling andimidtration expenses in 2005
were $35.3 million higher than in 2004 primarilyedio a higher level of legal expenses primarilyagded with legacy environmental
matters, including recovery actions for environnaénbsts previously incurred and expensed ($16lEon)i and third-party legal-related
settlement costs ($7.8 million), pension expen3e8(fillion), and bad debt expense ($2.3 milligif)ese costs more than offset cost savings
of $3.5 million generated from the corporate offiecation.

Restructuring charges for 2005 of $0.3 million cemga to $9.6 million for 2004. These restructuhgrges were for the corporate
office relocation and included primarily employesrance and related benefit costs, relocationresqgension curtailment expense and the
incurred cost for outplacement services.

Other operating income of $9.1 million for 2005lirded the gains on the disposition of three re@tegproperties. The first disposition
represented the settlement of a contested condemraatard relating to land associated with a formarehousing facility. The other two
transactions represented the disposition of lasda@ated with former manufacturing plants. Othegraging income for 2004 included a non-
recurring gain of $5.5 million related to a setthof a contract matter with an outside third yart

The earnings of non-consolidated affiliates wer@.53nillion for 2005, an increase of $28.4 millisam $10.1 million for 2004,
primarily due to higher ECU selling prices at thenBelt joint venture.

Interest expense decreased by $0.3 million, orit®005 because of the favorable impact on intexegense from a lower level of
outstanding net debt and was offset by higher sieont interest rates. During 2005, $52.0 milliordebt was repaid.

Interest income for 2005 increased by $16.4 milfrmm 2004. The 2005 interest income included egeof $11.4 million associated
with the recoveries from third parties of enviromts costs incurred and expensed in prior periods$D.3 million of interest received from
the disposition of real estate. Also, interest inedncreased as the result of higher average alahdes and increased short-term interest
rates.

Other income decreased by $3.0 million from 200¢harily due to a $2.0 million gain on the sale af equity interest in an insurance
investment in 2004.

The effective tax rate of 38.1% for 2005 include$la2 million reduction in income tax expense (0.&&uction in effective tax rate)
resulting from the refunds of interest paid in cection with the 2004 settlement of certain tax ésstelated to prior years. The 2005 effective
tax rate is higher than the 35% U.S. federal stayutate primarily due to state income taxes, inedmcertain foreign jurisdictions being
taxed at higher rates, and the accrual of intenesaxes which may become payable in the future. &ffective tax rate of 35.8% for 2004
included a $2.3 million reduction in income tax erpe (2.9% reduction in effective tax rate) assediaith the settlement of certain issues
related to income tax audits for the years 199@uhh 2000. The 2004 effective tax rate was highan the 35% U.S. federal statutory rate
primarily due to state income taxes and incomeeittain foreign jurisdictions being taxed at higreses.

On December 31, 2005, we adopted FIN No. 47 anorded an after-tax charge of $6.4 million ($10.5ion pretax) as a cumulative
effect of an accounting change. FIN No. 47 clasifiehen sufficient information is available to esibeman asset retirement obligation. This
charge is principally related to asset retiremdafigations for production technology and buildingterials.

2004 Compared to 2003

For the 2004 year, total company sales were $18988lion compared with $1,557.2 million last yean increase of $439.6 million, or
28%. Sales in the Metals segment increased $37idBrmMetals volumes increased 11% over last y&&e remaining increase in Metals
segment sales was primarily a result of higher hpgtees and
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changes in product mix. Average copper prices aszd 59% during 2004. Chlor Alkali Products satesdased from last year by $48.7
million due to 10% higher volumes and higher ECUirsg prices. Winchester sales were slightly abtast year.

Gross margin increased $56.6 million, or 32%, i02€om 2003 primarily due to higher ECU sellingces for chlor alkali products,
higher Metals volumes, and improved Metals proditgti partially offset by higher pension and envineental expenses. Gross margin as a
percentage of sales increased to 12% in 2004 frb¥h ih 2003. The gross margin dollar increase of&5fillion reflected the higher ECU
prices. The resulting margin percentage increasa frigher ECU prices and the increased earnings Metals, which had increased margin
percentages despite the increased metal valuesyenedoffset in part by increased pension and enwilental costs.

Selling and administration expenses as a percenfagges were 7% in 2004 and 8% in 2003. Sellimdy@dministration expenses in
2004 were $13.7 million higher than in 2003 priryadue to increased legal fees and third-partyesatint costs ($5.8 million), pension
expense ($5.1 million), incentive and deferred cengation expense, due to higher earnings, ($2lbn)il professional services, primarily
due to Sarbanes-Oxley audit and compliance, ($1llBm) and consulting expense ($1.9 million).

Restructuring charges for 2004 of $9.6 million weriacipally the result of the relocation of ourporate offices. The restructuring
charge in 2003 of $30.8 million was the resulttaf tlosure of our manufacturing plant in Indian&dN and certain other actions. A major
portion of the 2003 charge was a non-cash chatgtedeto the loss on disposal or write off of equémt and facilities and goodwill. The
balance of the 2003 charge related to severanc@bselated benefit costs.

Other operating income for 2004 included a non-néeg gain of $5.5 million related to a settlemeht contract matter with an outside
third party.

The earnings of non-consolidated affiliates wer@.$Inillion for 2004, up $2.3 million from 2003, iprarily due to higher ECU pricing
and higher volumes at the SunBelt joint venture.

Interest expense for 2004, was $20.2 million, whigs equal to 2003. Lower level of outstandingdwit, as we repaid $27.2 million
2004, was offset by the effect of higher interes¢s on variable-rate debt.

Interest income increased $0.6 million from $1.8iom in 2003 to $1.9 million in 2004 due to highererage cash balances.

Other income increased from 2003 by $1.9 millioimarily due to a $2.0 million gain on the sale of equity interest in an insurance
investment, partially offset by lower miscellanedusome in 2004.

The effective tax rate of 35.8% for 2004 include®Pa3 million reduction in income tax expense (2.8%uction in effective tax rate)
associated with the settlement of certain issuaseeto income tax audits for the years 1992 thha2000. The 2004 effective tax rate was
higher than the 35 percent U.S. federal statutatey primarily due to state income taxes and inconoertain foreign jurisdictions being tax
at higher rates. For 2003, we recorded a tax prvisf $3.6 million on pretax income of $4.0 mitioThe 2003 effective tax rate was higher
than the 35 percent U.S. federal statutory ratagmily due to our inability to utilize state andd@mn net operating losses in certain
jurisdictions and income in other foreign jurisibcis being taxed at higher rates. In addition,20@3 restructuring charge included the v-
off of goodwill, which is not deductible for tax poses.

SEGMENT RESULTS

We define segment results as income (loss) befibeesist expense, interest income, other incomeiraome taxes and include the
results of non-consolidated affiliates. Consisteith the guidance in SFAS No. 131, “Disclosures AbSegments of an Enterprise and
Related Information,” we have determined it is @ppiate to include the operating results of nonsohidated affiliates in the relevant
segment financial results. Our management constlerSunBelt Chlor Alkali Partnership to be an gngd component of the Chlor Alkali
Products segment and Yamaha-Olin Metal Corpordtidie an integral component of the Metals segnteath is engaged in the same
business activity as the segment, including jomieerlapping marketing, management, manufactuang,
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technology development functions. Inter-segmergssaf $47.7 million, $37.3 million and $35.9 millidor the years 2005, 2004 and 2003,
respectively, representing the sale of ammunitemtriclge cups to Winchester from Metals, at prited approximate market, have been

eliminated from Metals segment sales.

Sales:
Chlor Alkali Products
Metals
Winchestel

Total Sales

Income from Continuing Operations before Taxes@urhulative Effect of Accounting Chanc
Chlor Alkali Productgt

Metals®
Winchestel
Corporate/Othel

Pension (Expense) Incorfie
Environmental Credit (Provisiol
Other Corporate and Unallocated Cc
Restructuring Charge

Other Operating Incom

Interest Expens

Interest Incom

Other Income

Income from Continuing Operations before Taxes@uadhulative Effect of Accounting Chani

2005 2004 2003
($ in millions)

$ 610.2 $ 448.: $ 399.t
1,402.° 1,230.: 854.€
344.¢ 318.t 303.1
$2,357.% $1,996.¢ $1,557..
$ 237.( $ 83.C $ 62.¢
34.0 50. 9.1
7.8 21.¢€ 21.€
2.0 11.2 18.C
15.¢ (23.4) (19.6)
(75.7) (46.2) (40.9)
0.3 (9.6) (30.6)
9.1 5.E —
(29.9 (20.2) (20.2)
18.c 1.6 1.3
115 4.5 2.€
$ 225.€ $ 79.2 $ 4cC

(1) Earnings (loss) of non-consolidated affilsmgee included in the segment results consistehtmwanagement’s monitoring of the operating segmeéltte earnings from non-

consolidated affiliates, by segment, are as foltows

Chlor Alkali Products
Metals

Earnings of non-consolidated affiliates

2005 2004
$37.€  $ 9.0

0.7 11
$38.  $10.1

2003

©

6.
1

w ;

$7.8
—

(2) The service cost and the amortization of psirvice cost components of pension expense dcelatihe employees of the operating segments breaséd to the operating segments
based on their respective estimated census ddtath&®r components of pension costs are includetiorporate/Other and include items such as theat@g@eeturn on plan assets,

interest cost and recognized actuarial gains asgek

Service cost and prior service cost
Other components of pension costs

Subtotal
Curtailment charge

Net periodic benefit cos
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2005 2004
$242  $22¢
2. (11.9
26.2 10.7
— 1.2
$262  $11.¢
I I

2003

$23.2
(18.0

5.2

$ 5.2



Chlor Alkali Products
2005 Compared to 2004

Chlor Alkali Products’ sales for 2005 were $610.@ion compared to $448.2 million for 2004, an iaase of $162.0 million, or 36%.
The sales increase was due to higher ECU pricihigiwincreased 52% in 2005 and more than offsetds®ér volumes. In 2005, ECU
pricing increased each quarter as price increases implemented and contract terms and price imdesontinued to favorably impact our
netbacks (gross selling price less freight andadiats) throughout the year. Our ECU netback, exetydur SunBelt joint venture, was
approximately $510 for 2005 compared to approxihge835 for 2004. Fourth quarter 2005 ECU netbaels wpproximately $545. The 2005
chlorine and caustic pricing was a result of attiglrket, resulting primarily from a strong worldleieconomy and the capacity
rationalization that has occurred in the U.S. CHltlali industry. The volumes in 2005 were loweredo the effects of three hurricanes
during the third quarter, which caused customeages and disruptions to the transportation systedraaeduction in third party sales
volumes. Although none of our facilities were daexhdy these hurricanes, these factors reducedpsuating rate during the second half of
2005 to 87% of capacity, compared to 94% duringsgeond half of 2004. Our operating rates for 2088 92% compared to 94% in 2004.

Chlor Alkali posted segment income of $237.0 millicompared to $83.0 million for 2004. Segment meavas higher in 2005 becau
of higher selling prices ($177.7 million) and fasble SunBelt operating results ($28.8 million), ethwere partially offset by higher
operating costs ($28.1 million) and lower volum®24.3 million). The higher selling prices at SurtBeére partially offset by higher
manufacturing costs and operating expenses. Theh@perating costs were due to increased eldgtdosts primarily driven by natural gas
and coal prices and increased maintenance expekditionally, operating expenses increased duggber administrative expenses
primarily salaries, incentive compensation (resglfirom increased segment income), and legal exgsefi$ie operating results from the
SunBelt joint venture included interest expens$5¥ million and $6.2 million in 2005 and 2004,pestively, on the SunBelt Notes.

2004 Compared to 2003

Chlor Alkali Products’ sales for 2004 were $448.flian compared to $399.5 million in 2003, an inase $48.7 million, or 12%. The
sales increase was due to a 10% and a 4% increabk®iine and caustic volumes and netbacks, régpéc Chlorine and caustic demand
increased 13% and 7% respectively, from 2003. Dd206austic prices declined through the secondtguan the third quarter, caustic
demand began to improve primarily due to an upituthe general economy and the industry was abpass through caustic price increases.
Caustic demand was strong in the fourth quarteraaltitional price increases were implemented andged. The chlor alkali industry
produced at high operating rates to support coatiratrong chlorine demand, both in the U.S. ands@aes. With operating rates at these high
levels, average ECU pricing for 2004 improved a2@®3, as demand remained strong and price-inceasaincements were accepted as
contract terms permit. Our ECU netbacks were apprately $335, excluding our Sunbelt joint ventdog, 2004 compared to approximately
$325 for 2003. Our operating rates for the fullry2@04 were 94% compared to 86% in 2003.

Chlor Alkali posted segment income of $83.0 millicompared to $62.8 million for 2003. Segment ineamas higher in 2004 because
higher volumes ($19.4 million) and higher sellimicps ($12.0 million) were partially offset by highoperating costs ($14.0 million). The
favorable pricing and volumes were partially offegthigher manufacturing costs, primarily highexotticity prices, and administrative
expenses, primarily salaries, incentive compensatind legal expenses. In addition, maintenaneteatlexpenses due to the equipment
problems and a hurricane at our Mcintosh, AL fagil the third quarter of 2004 negatively impactecbme by several million dollars.
Sunbelt results improved by $2.2 million comparedth\2003 due to higher selling prices and highdurees, resulting from the 2003
completion of a debottlenecking project. The opegatesults from the Sunbelt joint venture includieigrest expense of $6.2 million and $
million in 2004 and 2003, respectively, on the Saihblotes.
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Metals
2005 Compared to 2004

Sales for 2005 were $1,402.7 million compared tessaf $1,230.1 million for 2004, an increase of $5 million, or 14%. This
increase reflects higher metal values offset it pptower shipment volumes. The average COMEX eompice was $1.68 per pound in
2005 compared with $1.29 per pound in 2004, areas® of 30%. Total shipment volumes decreased biy@%2004, while estimated
industry demand in 2005 was 8% below 2004 levels.

Overall shipments in 2005 were 3% lower than in2@hipments to the automotive segment decreas2@lit by 9% due to reduced
production throughout the U.S. automotive supplgithCoinage shipments were 17% higher than last gemarily due to increased dem:
from the U.S. Mint mainly resulting from the commanative nickel program. Shipments to the ammuniegment increased 15% for 2005
compared to 2004 due to the continued demand fiitamgiordnance. Shipments to our building prodwattstomers decreased by 8% from
2004.

The Metals segment reported income of $34.0 miliin2005 compared to $50.5 million in 2004, a dasesof $16.5 million, or 33%.
Lower earnings were primarily a result of lowerghent volumes in 2005 ($4.8 million), higher enecgsgts ($4.6 million), higher metal
melting loss costs caused by higher copper prigé8(million), and higher medical and workers congation costs ($4.8 million). In
addition, Metals earnings were negatively impactee to the lack of hydrogen availability due to krane Katrina. The lack of hydrogen
negatively impacted our plant efficiencies and pigid/ields. The Metals 2004 earnings were affebtethe costs relative to the fire in the
electrical control room for the hot mill locatedEst Alton, IL of $4.7 million.

2004 Compared to 2003

Sales for 2004 were $1,230.1 million compared tessin 2003 of $854.6 million, an increase of 44f6lumes increased 11% as most
major market segments increased over the prior. {ider remaining 33 percentage point increase #ssahs due to higher metal prices and
changes in product mix. During 2004, the averag®E® copper price was $1.29 per pound, compare®t81$per pound in 2003, or an
increase of 59%.

Shipments to the automotive segment increasedd# B9 3% over 2003 as automotive production ina@eadightly over 2003.
Shipments to the building products segment incetas2004 by 3% over 2003 due to increased demamd the construction industry
resulting from increased housing starts in 2004n&ge shipments were up 37% from last year primpalile to the U.S. Ming second quart
introduction of two new nickels commemorating ti@® 2 anniversary of the Lewis and Clark Expedition andmaprovement in the overall
economy. Shipments to the ammunition segment isek@5% over last year primarily due to continuesing) demand for military ordnance.
Shipments to the electronics segment decreased@oléist year as demand slowed in the last h&2064.

The Metals segment income of $50.5 million in 2@0Mmpared to $9.1 million in 2003, an increase df.4million. The Metals segme
improved operating results over last year were grilythe result of increased volumes, improveddpictivity, the shutdown of our
Indianapolis facility in 2003 and reduced operatiogts, offset in part by the costs relative tofiteeat the hot mill located at East Alton, IL
of $4.7 million.

Winchester
2005 Compared to 2004
Sales were $344.8 million in 2005 compared to $hdllion for 2004, an increase of $26.3 milliom,8%. Shipments of ammunition

the U.S. military increased by $18.9 million in Z0@vhile shipments to law enforcement organizatiooseased $6.4 million. Domestic
commercial sales increased slightly in 2005 duadgber selling prices.

The Winchester segment reported income of $7.8anilh 2005 compared to $21.9 million in 2004, ardase of $14.1 million, or
64%. The benefits from increased sales volumedagier selling prices were more than offset by bigtopper, lead, steel, and resin costs
($17.7 million), higher medical and workers commitn costs ($3.9 million), and start-up costshat®xford, MS facility.
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2004 Compared to 2003

Sales were $318.5 million for 2004, compared tesaf $303.1 million for 2003. Commercial saleswoes accounted for the majority
of the increase in 2004 from 2003. Segment incan@®04 was $21.9 million, consistent with 2003 mmting income of $21.6 million. The
favorable profit impact from the higher sales voksmwas offset by higher commodity and other marnufamy costs.

Corporate/Other
2005 Compared to 2004

In 2005, pension expense included in CorporateiQtfas $2.0 million compared with pension incom&b1.3 million in 2004. The
$13.3 million increase in corporate pension expevee due to the cost impact of plan changes, tipadtof a lower discount rate and the
higher amortization of plan losses from prior pdsioprimarily investment losses, on plan assets fodor periods. On a total company basis,
pension expense for 2005 was $26.2 million comptr&10.7 million in 2004. We made a voluntary pengontribution of $6.1 million in
2005 to maintain a 90% funded level as prescrimettuERISA. Due to the pension plan contribution2004 and 2005, no mandatory
contributions will be required until 2008. Amondet factors, changes in interest rates and peffisimhinvestment performance could alter
this forecast. We may elect to make selective walyncontributions, when appropriate, between nod/ 2008. We discuss our assumptions
with respect to pension estimates under “Criticat@dunting Policies and Estimates.”

Credits to income for investigatory and remediaivitties were $15.8 million for 2005, which includl€38.5 million in recoveries from
third parties of environmental costs incurred axgple@sed in prior periods. Charges to income foestigatory and remedial activities, with
these recoveries in 2005, would have been $22libmih 2005 compared with $23.4 million in 200séeke charges relate primarily to
expected future remedial and investigatory acésitissociated with past manufacturing operatiod§@mer waste disposal sites.
Environmental costs for on-going plant operatidasgxample wastewater treatment, are includetiénoperating segments and are
approximately equal year-over-year.

For 2005, other corporate and unallocated costse %&5.7 million compared with $46.2 million in 2Q@ increase of $29.5 million, or
64%. This increase was primarily due to higher legaenses related to a higher level of legal agdlielated settlement expenses assoc
with legacy environmental matters, including reagvactions for environmental costs previously imedrand expensed ($23.6 million),
incentive compensation expense ($2.8 million) dueigher earnings, employee benefit expenses (#illibn) as a result of reinstating
company matched CEOP contributions that had begpesuled in 2003 and workers compensation costs;@milting fees ($0.6 million).
These increases more than offset the cost savisgdting from the corporate headquarters relocd®3rb million).

2004 Compared to 2003

For 2004, pension income included in Corporate/Otvees $11.3 million compared with $18.0 million2003. The reduction in
corporate pension income was due to the recognifi@ttuarial losses, which primarily relate tofgliences in assumed and actual asset
returns, and lower interest rates, partially offsehigher expected investment income on a higiheellof plan assets. In 2004, we recorded
total pension expense of $10.7 million comparetbtal pension expense of $5.2 million in 2003. Skevice costs and prior service cost
components of pension expense, which are includéuki operating segments and in other corporateiaaliocated costs, were
approximately equal in both years.

In 2004, we updated our pension-related projecti@msed on the interest rate guidance provided dy thasury Department as a result
of the Pension Funding Equity Act of 2004, whichsvemacted on April 10, 2004. Its use caused diffee in the timing of future
contributions, not their magnitude, from what wel lpaeviously projected. On February 3, 2004, waddgsand sold 10.0 million shares of our
common stock at a public offering price of $18.@0 ghare. Net proceeds from the sale were $171li8ménd were used in part to make a
voluntary contribution of $125.0 million to our p@an plan. In September 2004, we made a seconaitesjupension plan contribution of
$43.0 million. This contribution eliminated a ParsBenefit Guaranty Corporation insurance variaate premium of $3.0 million that wot
have otherwise become payable from the pensiongdsets in 2004.
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For 2004, charges to income for environmental itigatory and remedial activities were $23.4 millcompared with $19.6 million in
2003. This provision related primarily to expectetlire remedial and investigatory activities asatead with past manufacturing operations
and former waste disposal sites. The increaseci?@4 annual environmental charges to incomersapily attributable to additional
liabilities for alleged groundwater contaminatidradormer plant site.

For 2004, other corporate and unallocated coste 6.2 million compared with $40.8 million in 2003his increase was primarily d
to higher expenses such as higher legal fees athehsent costs ($4.3 million), professional sergipeimarily associated with the Sarbanes
Oxley Act ($1.5 million) and management compensagrpenses ($1.9 million). In November 2004, wel salr Indianapolis facility, which
alleviated our remaining asset retirement obligatishich we recorded in accordance with the adopifoSFAS No. 143 in 2003. This
reduction decreased Corporate/Other expenses Byndiion in 2004.

2006 OUTLOOK

In Chlor Alkali, we feel we are well positioned farstronger year in 2006 than 2005. We expectduithprovements in ECU netbacks
in the first quarter of 2006 based on the previpasinounced price increases and favorable comlgoters. Volumes in the first quarter of
2006 are expected to increase compared to thenfquerter of 2005 as Gulf Coast customers increpseating rates.

As part of the ongoing cost reduction efforts im Metals business, we have decided to close oueliaty Rolling Mills facility in
Waterbury, CT. In conjunction with this action, wél consolidate these production activities intar &ast Alton, IL mill. We are also
considering decisions regarding the possible restring or closure of additional facilities, alongth other overhead reductions. These
decisions should be made by the end of the firattgu

We intend to record a one-time pretax charge fesehactions of $25 million to $30 million in 20080st of which will occur in the first
quarter of 2006. We expect this charge to be pyrtiffset by one-time inventory gains associatéthwIFO liquidations of approximately
$10 million in 2006. We believe these actions wéherate annual cost savings in the $9 millionlt® ®illion range, and the implementation
of these actions is expected to be cash neutral.

In Winchester, we expect some improvement in pabfiity in 2006 compared to 2005, as higher selpniges and the impact of cost
reductions begin to offset the high level of comitodosts, particularly for lead and copper. Wingtiee also expects its revenue from milit
sales to increase 13% in 2006 compared to 2005.

We currently project that pension expense in 200i6e approximately $12 million higher than 200%his increase reflects the adverse
impact of lower discount rates and the continuedréimation of plan losses from prior periods. Stogkion expense in 2006 is projected tc
approximately $4 million, and charges to incomeenvironmental investigatory and remedial actigitieay be in the $20 million range.

Our capital spending and depreciation are botteptef to be in the $73 million range.
ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS

2005 2004 2003

($ in millions)

Cash Outlays

Remedial and Investigatory Spending (Charged teRe$ $ 19.€ $ 16.€ $24.4
Recoveries from Third Partit (38.5) — —
Capital Spendin 3.2 2.8 2.4
Plant Operations (Charged to Cost of Goods £ 17.1 16.¢ 16.2
Total Cash Outlay $ 14 $ 36.2 $43.C

Reserve for Environmental Liabilitie

Beginning Balanc $ 99.¢ $93.C $97.¢
Charges to Incom 22.7 23.4 19.€
Remedial and Investigatory Spend (19.¢ (16.€) (24.9
Ending Balanct $102.¢ $ 99.¢ $93.C
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The establishment and implementation of federatestand local standards to regulate air, watedamdiquality has affected and will
continue to affect substantially all of our manuéaing locations. Federal legislation providing fegulation of the manufacture,
transportation, use, and disposal of hazardoudaic substances, and remediation of contaminates, $1as imposed additional regulatory
requirements on industry, particularly the chensi¢gatiustry. In addition, implementation of enviroemtal laws, such as the Resource
Conservation and Recovery Act and the Clean Air, Aas required and will continue to require newitadgxpenditures and will increase
plant operating costs. We employ waste minimizagind pollution prevention programs at our manuf@ctusites.

We are party to various governmental and privatérenmental actions associated with past manufaxguacilities and former waste
disposal sites. Associated costs of investigatad/remedial activities are provided for in accoawith generally accepted accounting
principles governing probability and the abilityreasonably estimate future costs. Our abilitystingate future costs depends on whether our
investigatory and remedial activities are in prétiary or advanced stages. With respect to unaskeldens, we accrue liabilities for costs
that, in our experience, we may incur to protectioterests against those unasserted claims. Quuext liabilities for unasserted claims
amounted to $2.1 million at December 31, 2005. \W&gpect to asserted claims, we accrue liabiliteesed on remedial investigation,
feasibility study, remedial action and OperatiorgiMenance and Monitoring (OM&M) expenses thafin experience, we may incur in
connection with the asserted claims. Required®N&M expenses are estimated and accrued in théiregnfor required periods not
exceeding 30 years, which reasonably approximhagesypical duration of long-term site OM&M. Chargascredits to income for
investigatory and remedial efforts were materiadperating results in 2005, 2004, and 2003 and Imeayaterial to net income in future yei
In 2005, the credit to income for investigatory aachedial activities was $15.8 million, which indes $38.5 million of recoveries from third
parties of costs incurred and expensed in priaodsr Without these recoveries, charges to incamefestigatory and remedial activities
would have been $22.7 million in 2005 and were 428illion and $19.6 million in 2004 and 2003, resipeely. These charges relate
primarily to remedial and investigatory activiti@ssociated with past manufacturing operations anddr waste disposal sites.

Cash outlays for remedial and investigatory adésiaissociated with former waste sites and pasatipes were not charged to income
but instead were charged to reserves establishestiéh costs identified and expensed to incomeiar gears. Cash outlays for normal plant
operations for the disposal of waste and the ojeeraind maintenance of pollution control equipmemd facilities to ensure compliance with
mandated and voluntarily imposed environmentaligusiandards were charged to income. Total enwiramtal-related cash outlays for 2006
are estimated to be $53.0 million, of which $28iiom is expected to be spent on investigatory eerdedial efforts, $8.0 million on capital
projects and $17.0 million on normal plant openagicHistorically, we have funded our environmegtgital expenditures through cash flow
from operations and expect to do so in the future.

Our estimated environmental liability at the en®065 was attributable to 59 sites, 15 of whichewmd SEPA National Priority List
(NPL) sites. Ten sites accounted for 77% of sughility and, of the remaining 49 sites, no one aiteounted for more than 2% of our
environmental liability. At one of these ten sitemedial plan has been submitted by us and a Reé@dcision (ROD) or its equivalent has
not been issued. At five of the ten sites, pathefsite is subject to a remedial investigation andther part is in the long-term OM&M stage.
The four remaining sites are in long-term OM&M. #dh sites are either associated with past manufagtoperations or former waste
disposal sites. None of the ten largest sites sets more than 15% of the liabilities reservedwnconsolidated balance sheet at
December 31, 2005 for future environmental expemnes.

Our consolidated balance sheets included liaksliie future environmental expenditures to investtigand remediate known sites
amounting to $102.9 million at December 31, 2001} $99.8 million at December 31, 2004, of which $7dillion and $71.8 million were
classified as other noncurrent liabilities, respety. Those amounts did not take into accountdisgounting of future expenditures or any
consideration of insurance recoveries or advanctéschnology. Those liabilities are reassesseagieally to determine if environmental
circumstances have changed and/or remediationt®tiod our estimate of related costs have chaged.result of these reassessments,
future charges to income may be made for additibalailities. Of the $102.9 million included on oconsolidated balance sheet at
December 31, 2005 for future environmental expemes, we currently expect to utilize $71.7 milliofithe reserve for future environmental
expenditures over the next 5 years, $10.7 millmmekpenditures 6 to 10 years in the future, ar@Shtillion for expenditures beyond 10
years in the future. These estimates are subjechtonber of risks and uncertainties, as desciibédm 1A.“Risk Factors — Environmental
Costs.”
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Annual environmental-related cash outlays for isitestigation and remediation, capital projectsl aarmal plant operations are
expected to range between $40.0 million to $50l0aniover the next several years, $25.0 millior$80.0 million of which is for
investigatory and remedial efforts, which are expeédo be charged against reserves recorded doatamce sheet. While we do not anticig
a material increase in the projected annual le/elio environmentatelated costs, there is always the possibility sheth increases may oc
in the future in view of the uncertainties assadatvith environmental exposures. Environmental expes are difficult to assess for
numerous reasons, including the identification@fsites, developments at sites resulting fromstigatory studies, advances in technology,
changes in environmental laws and regulations laed &pplication, the scarcity of reliable datatpiing to identified sites, the difficulty in
assessing the involvement and financial capalwfitgther PRPs and our ability to obtain contribnsidrom other parties and the lengthy time
periods over which site remediation occurs. Itasgible that some of these matters (the outcomesich are subject to various uncertaint
may be resolved unfavorably to us, which could miatg adversely affect our financial position @sults of operations. At December 31,
2005, we estimate we may have additional contingamironmental liabilities of $50.0 million in adidin to the amounts for which we have
already recorded as a reserve.

LEGAL MATTERS

We and our subsidiaries are defendants in variegal lactions (including proceedings based on allegposures to asbestos) incidental
to our past and current business activities. Weritessome of these matters in “ltem 3—Legal Prdoess.” While we believe that none of
these legal actions will materially adversely impaar financial position, in light of the inheremcertainties of the litigation concerning
alleged exposures, we cannot at this time determiregher the financial impact, if any, of these texat will be material to our results of
operations.

LIQUIDITY, INVESTMENT ACTIVITY AND OTHER FINANCIAL DATA
Cash Flow Data

Provided By (Used For 2005 2004 2003

($ in millions)

Qualified Pension Plan Contributio $ (6.1) $(169.9) $ —

Net Operating Activities from Continuing Operatic 278.¢ (134.9) 116.1
Net Operating Activitie: 278.¢ (136.9 1185
Capital Expenditure (81.0 (55.7) (54.9)
Net Investing Activities (38.]) (26.5) (11.7
Net Financing Activities (84.9) 120.¢ (28.7)

In 2005, income exclusive of non-cash charges, aadhcash equivalents on hand, proceeds from tee sfreal estate, and
environmental recoveries from third parties weredu® finance our working capital requirements,jtehand investment projects, dividends,
to repay long-term debt and to make voluntary ¢buations to our qualified pension plans.

Operating Activities

In 2005, cash provided by operating activities éased over 2004. In 2005, cash provided by operatitivities included a reduction in
deferred taxes associated with the utilizatioraafloss carryforwards, higher profits from operasioa contribution to our pension plan of
$6.1 million, and a reduction in working capital®£5.0 million. In 2004, cash utilized by operatiagivities included pension plan
contributions of $169.4 million and tax payments$$40.8 million. In 2005, accounts receivable insexh$52.1 million, primarily due to
higher ECU prices in Chlor Alkali Products and hegleopper prices in Metals. Days sales outstandémgeased by approximately two days
as all business segments improved their days satetanding. Accounts payable and accrued liadslitncreased by $73.4 million, primarily
due to the higher copper prices related to the Ipetghases and the timing of invoice payments. 44 increase in the 2005 fourth quarter
average COMEX price of copper was a major contabtd the increase in accounts payables.

In February 2004, we made a voluntary contributbf125.0 million to our pension plan from the preds of our 2004 common stock
offering and then, in September 2004 we made anseeoluntary contribution of $43.0 million to
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our pension plan. In April 2004, we made tax payraef $40.8 million pertaining to the settlementeftain issues related to income tax
audits for the years 1992 through 2000. Excludiegsé pension contributions and tax payments, aastided by operating activities
decreased from the prior year due primarily toghlr investment in working capital, particularlghér accounts receivables and inventories.
The investment in accounts receivable and invesesasias higher in 2004 by $60.5 million and $16.6ioni, respectively, primarily due to
higher sales volumes in all segments and highealmetes. The 50% increase in the 2004 fourth tgu@verage COMEX price of copper
from 2003 was a major contributor to the increasadcounts receivable and inventories.

Capital Expenditures

Capital spending was $81.0 million in 2005, $55illiom in 2004, and $54.3 million in 2003. Capitglending in 2005 was $25.9
million higher than 2004. The increase was dueairt fo the relocation of a Winchester product lnel an increase in maintenance and
reliability projects in the Chlor Alkali Productsi@ Metals operations and investments in transportauipment for Chlor Alkali Products.
Capital spending in 2005 was 113% of depreciatmmpmgared to 76% in 2004. Disposition of propertanpland equipment consisted
primarily of the proceeds from the real estatedaations.

In 2006, we plan to manage our capital spendiralével in line with our depreciation, or about ¥ &illion, a decrease of 10% below
the 2005 amount. The 2006 decrease is primarifjoatable to higher spending in 2005 for transpotaequipment in Chlor Alkali Products
and the relocation of the Winchester product line.

Investing Activities

The 2005, 2004 and 2003 increase in distributioms faffiliated companies, net, represents primarily share of the SunBelt joint
venture’s improved operating results, net of cagmpents to the affiliates.

In November 2004, we purchased certain businestsasEMetal Foils LLC for $3.2 million. Metal FsiLLC is a distributor of
aluminum, stainless steel, and copper productsddda Willoughby, OH. We relocated the purchasgskss to our A.J. Oster facility in
Alliance, OH. The purchase price exceeded thevdlire of the identifiable net assets acquired hg #illion. The acquisition has been
accounted for using the purchase method of acaugnti

Proceeds from the sale of short-term investmen$26f0 million represented the equity value of @@LI program which we
discontinued in the first quarter of 2003. We sodered the life insurance policies that we purctiaseler this program, and received these
proceeds in March 2003.

In April 2004, we sold our equity interest in asumance investment. In June 2004, we sold our Amggsmess to HCC Industries Inc.
The proceeds from these sales approximated $19i@mi

Financing Activities
On July 30, 2004 we entered into a five-year ser@wolving credit facility of $160.0 million, whictvill expire on July 30, 2009. At

December 31, 2005, we had $122.9 million availaipiéer this senior revolving credit facility. Weuesl $37.1 million of letters of credit
under an $80.0 million letter of credit subfacility the purpose of supporting certain long-terrtdeertain workers compensation insurance
policies, and plant closure and post-closure ohiiga. Under the facility, we may select variousafing rate borrowing options. It includes
various customary restrictive covenants, includiegtrictions related to the ratio of debt to eagsibefore interest expense, taxes, deprec
and amortization (leverage ratio) and the ratiearhings before interest expense, taxes, depm@ciatid amortization to interest expense
(coverage ratio).

In connection with the relocation of Winchesteitafire operations to Oxford, MS, in November 200& completed an industrial
development revenue bond financing of $2.9 millomtilize certain state tax incentives.

In June 2005, we repaid the $50.0 million, 7.11%lim@-term Series A notes, which became due. In Marck 2@@ used $17.5 millic
from the proceeds of our February 2004 stock aftgto repay the lllinois Industrial Pollution CooitRevenue Bond, which became due in
March 2004. In June 2004, we repaid the $8.1 milllbnois Environmental Improvement Bond, whichchaene due in June 2004.
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On February 3, 2004, we issued and sold 10 milizeres of our common stock at a public offeringgpof $18.00 per share. Net
proceeds from the sale were $177.8 million.

During 2005, 2004 and 2003, we issued 770,713,7783and 915,159 shares of common stock, respggtivith a total value of $15.3
million, $14.3 million and $16.0 million, respeatiy, to the Contributing Employee Ownership Plahe3e shares were issued to satisfy the
investment in our common stock resulting from ergpcontributions, our matching contributions agdinvested dividends.

The percent of total debt to total capitalizati@tibased to 38% at December 31, 2005, from 47%aatgnd 2004 and 66% at year-end
2003. The decrease from year-end 2004 was due fisit@mthe higher shareholders’ equity resultingrfi the net income for the year 2005
and the repayment of the $50.0 million, 7.11% medtarm Series A notes in June 2005. The decreasefear-end 2003 was due primarily
to the higher shareholders’ equity resulting fréva issuance of 10 million shares of our commonkstoé-ebruary 2004, along with the
repayment of our long-term debt obligations, whigltame due primarily in March and June of 2004.

Dividends per common share were $0.80 in 2005, 20@42003. Total dividends paid on common stockwartesl to $57.1 million in
2005, $55.7 million in 2004 and $46.5 million in(&)

The payment of cash dividends is subject to therdi®n of our board of directors and will be detered in light of then-current
conditions, including our earnings, our operatiansg, financial conditions, our capital requiremeatsl other factors deemed relevant by our
board of directors. In the future, our board otdtors may change our dividend policy, including fiequency or amount of any dividend, in
light of then-existing conditions.

LIQUIDITY AND OTHER FINANCING ARRANGEMENTS

Our principal sources of liquidity are from cashlamash equivalents, short-term investments, cashffom operations and short-term
borrowings under our senior revolving credit fagiliWe also have access to the debt and equityetsgark

Cash flow from operations is variable as a reduthe cyclical nature of our operating results, ethhave been affected recently by
economic cycles in many of the industries we sesueh as vinyls, urethanes, pulp and paper, auteen@lectronics and the
telecommunications sectors. In addition, cash fimm operations is affected by changes in ECUrsglfirices caused by the changes in the
supply/demand balance of chlorine and caustic/tiagun the chlor alkali business having signifitdeverage on our earnings. For example,
assuming all other costs remain constant and iateonsumption remains approximately the same Oagp®t ECU selling price change
equates to an approximate $11 million annual ch&mger revenues and pretax profit when we areatpey at full capacity.

Our current debt structure is used to fund ourrmss operations, and commitments from banks undeegolving credit facility are a
source of liquidity. As of December 31, 2005, we lang-term borrowings, including the current itist@nt, of $258.3 million of which $2.9
million was at variable rates. We have entered imterest rate swaps on $131.6 million of our ufydleg debt obligations whereby we agree
to pay variable rates to a counterparty who, in,tpays us fixed rates. The counterparty to thgseements is a major financial institution.
We have designated the swap agreements as fa& kiatiges of the risk of changes in the value efdfisate debt due to changes in interest
rates for a portion of our fixed rate borrowingslenSFAS No. 133. Accordingly, the swap agreemleat® been recorded at their fair mai
value of $6.9 million and are included in Other étsson the accompanying Consolidated Balance Shibta corresponding increase in the
carrying amount of the related debt. No gain os loas been recorded as the contracts met thaaofe8FAS No. 133, “Accounting for
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,”doalify for hedge accounting treatment with no feefiveness. Annual maturities of long-
term debt are $1.1 million in 2006; $1.7 million2807, $7.7 million in 2008; none in 2009 and 2CA205.2 million in 2011, and a total of
$42.6 million thereafter.

We use operating leases for certain propertie$) ascailroad cars, distribution, warehousing affide@space, data processing and
office equipment. Virtually none of our lease agneats contain escalation clauses or step rentgiomd. Future minimum rent payments
under operating leases having initial or remaimng-cancelable lease terms in excess of one y&zeamber 31, 2005 are as follows: $27.0
million in 2006; $24.5 million in 2007; $20.1 miin in 2008; $16.1 million in 2009; $19.7 million 2010; and a total of $48.0 million
thereafter. Assets under capital leases are noifisant.
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On December 31, 1997, we entered into a long-teuffur dioxide supply agreement with Alliance Spdtyi Chemicals, Inc. (Alliance),
formerly known as RFC SQ, Inc. Alliance has the obligation to deliver anifiy86,000 tons of sulfur dioxide. Alliance ownsetbulfur

dioxide plant, which is located at our CharlesfbN,facility and is operated by us. The price fag gulfur dioxide is fixed over the life of the
contract and, under the terms of the contract, ehligated to make a monthly payment of $0.2iamlfregardless of the amount of sulfur
dioxide purchased. Commitments related to thisergent are $2.4 million per year for the years 2006ugh 2011 and $0.6 million in 2012,
This supply agreement expires in 2012.

We utilize a credit facility and standby letterscoédit. In July 2004, we entered into a new fiwaysenior revolving credit facility with
a group of banksThis credit facility is described above under thpton, “Financing Activities.” As of December 3005, we did not have
any outstanding borrowings under this credit facilAt December 31, 2005, we had outstanding stametters of credit of $37.1 million.
These letters of credit were used to support eeltaig-term debt, certain workers compensationrarste policies, and plant closure and post:
closure obligations.

On February 3, 2004, we issued and sold 10 milizeres of our common stock at a public offeringgpof $18.00. Net proceeds from
the sale were $177.8 million and were used to naak&25.0 million voluntary contribution to our pemsplan. In March 2004, we used $1
million from the proceeds of the stock offeringrépay the lllinois Industrial Pollution Control Rewe Bond, which became due in March of
2004. The remaining balance ($35.3 million) of iheceeds was used in April 2004 to pay a portiofedéral income taxes related to prior
periods.

At December 31, 2005, we had $220 registered geudvailable for issuance with the Securities Brchange Commission, whereby
from time to time, we may issue debt securitiesferred stock and/or common stock, and associadehnts.

We and our partner, PolyOne Corporation (PolyOna) equally the SunBelt joint venture. Oxy Vinylsj¢ént venture between
OxyChem and PolyOne) is required to purchase 280stnd tons of chlorine based on a formula refmtéd market price. We market the
excess chlorine and all of the caustic produceé. &nstruction of this plant and equipment wasrfoea by the issuance of $195.0 million of
Guaranteed Senior Secured Notes due 2017. The 8yoiBeventure sold $97.5 million of Guaranteeen®r Secured Notes due 2017,
Series O, and $97.5 million of Guaranteed Senicufl Notes due 2017, Series G. We refer to thetss s the SunBelt Notes. The Sun
Notes bear interest at a rate of 7.23% per annyahpa semiannually in arrears on each June 22 acdiber 22

We have guaranteed the Series O Notes, and Poly@nguaranteed the Series G Notes, in both casssami to customary guaranty
agreements. Our guarantee and PolyOne’s guarameeeral, rather than joint. Therefore, we ateeguired to make any payments to
satisfy the Series G Notes guaranteed by PolyOnéngolvency or bankruptcy of PolyOne will not awmtically trigger acceleration of the
SunBelt Notes or cause us to be required to make@ats under our guarantee, even if PolyOne isimedjtio make payments under its
guarantee. However, if the SunBelt joint venturesinot make timely payments on the SunBelt Notbsther as a result of a failure to pay
on a guarantee or otherwise, the holders of th&8itlNotes may proceed against the assets of thB&ujoint venture for repayment. If we
were to make debt service payments under our gtgawe would have a right to recover such paynfeots the SunBelt joint venture.

Beginning on December 22, 2002 and each year thrgQg7, our SunBelt joint venture is required foay$12.2 million of the SunBe
Notes, of which $6.1 million is attributable to tBeries O Notes. After the payment of $6.1 millmthe Series O Notes in December 2(
our guarantee of these notes was $73.1 milliothérevent our SunBelt joint venture cannot makeddrifiese payments, we would be
required to fund our half of such payment. In dertgher circumstances, we may also be requiredpay the SunBelt Notes prior to their
maturity. We and PolyOne have agreed that, if weayOne intend to transfer our respective intsrasthe SunBelt joint venture and the
transferring party is unable to obtain consent flwiders of 80% of the aggregate principal amotith® indebtedness related to the
guarantee being transferred after good faith natiotis, then we and PolyOne will be required tayepur respective portions of the SunBelt
Notes. In such event, any make whole or similaajtess or costs will be paid by the transferringtypz
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Excluding our guarantee of the SunBelt Notes desdrabove, our long-term contractual commitmentduding the on and otfalance
sheet arrangements, consisted of the following:

Payments Due by Year

Less More
than than
1 1-3 3-5 5
Contractual Commitments Total Year Years Years Years

($ in millions)

Debt obligations $258: $ 11 $ 94 $— $247.¢
Interest payments under debt obligations and isteete swap agreemefris 122.5 19.€ 38.1 38.1 26.c
Qualified pension plan contributiof® — — — — —
Non-qualified pension plan paymer 62.7 11.4 9.1 8.t 33.7
Postretirement benefit paymeftts 29.1 10.2 ORS — —
Off-Balance Sheet Commitmen
Noncancelable operating leas 155.¢ 27.C 44.¢ 35.¢ 48.C
Purchasing commitment
Raw material 85.¢ 61.2 11.1 10.Z 34
Utilities 16.2 15.t 0.4 0.4 —
Total $730.« $146.1 $123.2 $93.C $359.Z

(@) For the purposes of this table, we have asdfor all periods presented that there are nogdgsim the principal amount of any variable ratetdeom the amounts outstanding on
December 31, 2005 and that there are no changhe iates from those in effect at December 31, 2008h ranged from 4.3% to 9.125'

(b) These amounts are only estimated paymentsrasg the continuation of postretirement benetitgrowth rate of 9% for 2006 and 8.25% for 2007efstimated healthcare cost
inflation, an annual expected rate of return onsp@mplan assets of 9%, and a discount rate origgeptan obligations of 5.75%. These estimated payare subject to significant
variation and the actual payments may be moressrtlean the amounts estimated. Given the inheresgrtainty as to actual minimum funding requirersdot qualified pension
plans and the uncertain level of postretiremeneliepayments, no amounts are included in thisstébt any period beyond one year in the case ofipes and two years in the case
of postretirement benefits. It is likely we will i@ cash payments in future periods.

The contractual commitments, shown above, excepitfodebt obligations, are not recorded on ourddtidated Balance Sheet. Non-
cancelable operating leases and purchasing commiraee utilized in our normal course of businesotir projected needs. For losses that
we believe are probable and which are estimablbave accrued for such amounts in our consolidad¢athbe sheets. In addition to the table
above, we have various commitments and contingemeguding: defined benefit and postretirementtheare plans (as described below),
environmental matters (see “Environmental Mattémsfuded in Item 7—"Management’s Discussion and lsia of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations”), tax exposures (see ItemRligk Factors—Tax Audits), and litigation clainse¢ Item 3—"Legal Proceedings”).

We have several defined benefit and defined camidh pension plans, as described in the PensidrOdier Postretirement Benefit
Plans note in the Notes to Consolidated Finandatefents. We fund these plans based on the miniamounts required by law plus such
amounts we deem appropriate. We have postretirehsatithcare plans that provide health and liferisce benefits to certain retired and
active employees and their beneficiaries, as desdrin the Pension and Other Postretirement BeRkits note in the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements. These plans are generallgneefunded and expenses are paid by us as incurred

We also have standby letters of credit of $40.3ionilof which $37.1 million have been issued thriowgir senior revolving credit
facility. At December 31, 2005, we had $122.9 noilliavailable under our senior revolving credit lfaci

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

Our discussion and analysis of our financial caaditind results of operations are based upon msddiolated financial statements,
which have been prepared in accordance with act@uptinciples generally accepted in the United&taThe preparation of these financial
statements requires us to make estimates and judgriat affect the reported amounts of assetsiilias, sales and expenses, and related
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilitiegnBicant estimates in our consolidated financiataments include goodwill recoverability,
environmental,
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restructuring and other unusual items, litigatiocpme tax reserves including deferred tax asdagtian allowances, pension, postretirement
and other benefits and allowance for doubtful aot®uWe base our estimates on prior experiencts &l circumstances and other
assumptions. Actual results may differ from thestingates.

We believe the following critical accounting poési affect the more significant judgments and esémased in the preparation of the
financial statements.

Goodwill

Effective January 1, 2002, we adopted the provssmiiSFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangiblesits,” which requires that
goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite uddifzes be tested for impairment at least annu&lgodwill and other intangibles are
reviewed annually in the fourth quarter and/or whigaumstances or other events indicate that impait may have occurred. The annual
impairment test involves the comparison of thenested fair value of a reporting unit to its cargy@mount. The fair value is determined
based on a variety of assumptions including eséthiture cash flows of the reporting unit, disaoattes, and comparable company trading
multiples. Based on our evaluation prepared irfalneth quarter of 2005, no impairment charge wasmed.

Environmental

Accruals for environmental matters are recordednihis probable that a liability has been incureedl the amount of the liability can
be reasonably estimated, based upon current lawxsting technologies. These amounts, which ateliscounted and are exclusive of
claims against third parties, are adjusted peralji@s assessments and remediation efforts pregreadditional technical or legal
information becomes available.

Environmental exposures are difficult to assessfonerous reasons, including the identificatiom@iv sites, developments at sites
resulting from investigatory studies, advance®ahhology, changes in environmental laws and réigasand their application, the scarcity
of reliable data pertaining to identified sites thifficulty in assessing the involvement and ficiahcapability of other potentially responsible
parties and our ability to obtain contributionsnfr@ther parties and the lengthy time periods ov@ckvsite remediation occurs. It is possible
that some of these matters (the outcomes of whiglsbject to various uncertainties) may be resbivgavorably to us, which could
materially adversely affect our financial positionresults of operations.

Pension and Postretirement Plans

We account for our defined benefit pension plartsrmam-pension postretirement benefit plans usimgaaial models required by SFAS
No. 87 and SFAS No. 10“Employers’ Accounting for Postretirement Benefdther Than Pensions,” respectively. These modelsans
attribution approach that generally spreads thenfiral impact of changes to the plan and actuasslimptions over the average remaining
service lives of the employees in the plan. Chamngéability due to changes in actuarial assummiguch as discount rate, rate of
compensation increases and mortality, as well agardeviations between what was assumed and wdmexperienced by the plan are
treated as gains or losses. Additionally, gainslasskes are amortized over the group’s servictritg to the extent they fall outside of a
corridor designed to dampen annual volatility. Blrerage remaining service lives of the employer {gd.1.6 years. The principle underly
the required attribution approach is that employeesler service over their average remaining seffiies on a relatively smooth basis and,
therefore, the accounting for benefits earned utifdepension or non-pension postretirement benatss should follow the same relatively
smooth pattern.

One of the key assumptions for the net periodisjpencalculation is the expected long-term rateetiirn on plan assets, used to
determine the “market-related value of assets.®(Tharket-related value of assets” recognizes iffees between the plan’s actual return
and expected return over a five year period). Boglired use of an expected long-term rate of returthe market-related value of plan assets
may result in recognized pension income that iatgreor less than the actual returns of those gdaets in any given year. Over time,
however, the expected long-term returns are dedigmapproximate the actual long-term returns #metefore, result in a pattern of income
and expense recognition that more closely matdieepattern of the services provided by the emplay&s differences between actual and
expected returns are recognized over five yeagy, generate gains and losses that are subjectddiaation over the average remaining
service life of the group, as described in the @déuy paragraph.
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We use long-term historical actual return inforraafithe mix of investments that comprise plan assetd future estimates of lomgrn
investment returns by reference to external soucdsvelop the expected return on plan assets.

The discount rate assumptions used for pensiomanepension postretirement benefit plan accountfigct the rates available on
high-quality fixed-income debt instruments on Debem31 of each year. The rate of compensation &serés based upon our loteym plans
for such increases. For retiree medical plan adioginwve review external data and our own histdriinds for healthcare costs to determine
the healthcare cost trend rates.

Changes in pension costs may occur in the futuegt@ghanges in these assumptions resulting framaic events. For example,
holding all other assumptions constant, a one hethbdasis point decrease or increase in the asswateedf return on plan assets would have
increased or decreased, respectively, the 2005qreasst by approximately $12.9 million. Holding ather assumptions constant, a 50 basis
point decrease in the discount rate used to caécplkension costs for 2005 and the accumulated baidifjation as of December 31, 2005
would have increased pension costs by $5.2 miliioth the accumulated benefit obligation by $84.0ionil A 50 basis point increase in the
discount rate used to calculate pension costsd0b 2nd the accumulated benefit obligation as afeD#er 31, 2005 would have decreased
pension costs by $6.3 million and the accumulatkbt obligation by $84.0 million. For additioniaformation on long-term rates of return,
discount rates and projected healthcare costsqtimjs, see “Pension Plans and Retirement Benéffitdie Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123i8Re\2004), “Share-Based Payment,” which is a iewief SFAS No. 123,
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation.” Thisrmoncement revises the accounting treatment fokdtased compensation. It
establishes standards for the accounting trangecitiowhich an entity exchanges its equity instrotador goods or services. It also addresses
transactions in which an entity incurs liabilitiasexchange for goods or services that are basedeofair value of the entity’s equity
instruments or that may be settled by the issuahti®ose equity instruments. This statement focpsiesarily on accounting for transactions
in which an entity obtains employee services inraslmsed payment transactions.

This statement requires an entity to measure teeaf@mployee services received in exchange faveard of equity instruments based
on the grant-date fair value of the award. Thig eok be recognized over the period during whicheanployee is required to provide service
in exchange for the award—the requisite serviceoggusually the vesting period). It requires thvat will initially measure the cost of
employee services received in exchange for an aefdidbility instruments based on their currerit falue; the aggregate value of that av
will be remeasured subsequently at each reportitg tthrough the settlement date. Changes in falevduring the requisite service period
will be recognized as compensation cost over thebg. Originally, this statement was effectiveofshe beginning of the first interim or
annual reporting period that began after June Q852In April 2005, the SEC postponed the effectlaie of this statement to fiscal years
beginning after June 15, 2005 (first quarter 2@f¥6chlendar year companies). Based upon the prigpedoption of SFAS No. 123
(Revised 2004), the non-cash pretax impact for 20@&pected to approximate $4.0 million.

In March 2005, the FASB issued Interpretation Ng.“Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement @fations.” This interpretation
clarifies the definition of conditional asset retiment obligations used in FASB Statement No. 1A8¢cbunting for Asset Retirement
Obligations.” This interpretation also clarifies @ha company would have sufficient informationdasonably estimate the fair value of an
asset retirement obligation. On December 31, 26@5adopted FIN No. 47. As a result, we recordedsaset of $0.3 million and a liability of
$10.8 million to reflect the cost of retirementightions related to production technology ($8.0ioml), building materials ($1.8 million), and
other obligations ($1.0 million). This resultedan after-tax charge for the cumulative effect ohanounting change totaling $6.4 million
($10.5 million pretax) upon adoption of FIN No. 47.

In May 2005, the FASB issued SFAS No. 154, “AccoumtChanges and Error Corrections—a replacemeAtobunting Principles
Board (APB) Opinion No. 20 and FASB Statement NbTBis statement changes the requirements foatieeunting for and reporting of a
change in accounting principle. Previously, modurtary changes in accounting principle were re@egphby including in net income of the
period of the change the
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cumulative effect of changing to the new accoungirigciple. SFAS No. 154 requires retrospectiveliapfion to prior periods’ financial
statements, unless it is impracticable to deterraitier the period-specific effects or the cumukatffect of the change. This statement shall
be effective for accounting changes and correctidresrors made in fiscal years beginning afterémaloer 15, 2005.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

SFAS No. 133 requires an entity to recognize alivdgives as either assets or liabilities in thetestnent of financial position and
measure those instruments at fair value. We usgehadcounting treatment for substantially all of business transactions whose risks are
covered using derivative instruments. SFAS No. 1E8fiires that all derivative instruments be recdrole the balance sheet at their fair va
The accounting treatment of changes in fair vadugeipendent upon whether or not a derivative ingnt is designated as a hedge and, if so,
the type of hedge. For derivatives designatedfas &alue hedge, the changes in the fair valueadlfi the derivative and the hedged item are
recognized in earnings. For derivatives designated cash flow hedge, the change in fair valubetierivative is recognized in other
comprehensive income until the hedged item is neizegl in earnings. Ineffective portions are recagdicurrently in earnings. Unrealized
gains and losses on derivatives not qualifyingiige accounting are recognized currently in egsnin

We enter into forward sales and purchase conttaateanage currency risk resulting from purchasesahel commitments denominated
in foreign currencies (principally Australian dali@and Canadian dollar). All of the currency denves expire within one year and are for
United States dollar equivalents. At December 8D52and 2004 we had forward contracts to buy foreigrencies with face value of $3.9
million and $2.1 million, respectively, and no famd contracts to sell foreign currencies. The rfzérket value of the forward contracts to |
at December 31, 2005 and 2004 approximated thgiogrvalue. The counterparty to the forward cortsag a large financial institution. The
risk of loss to us in the event of nonperformangea lzounterparty would not be significant to omaficial position or results of operations.
Foreign currency exchange gains, net of taxes, §@2million in 2005, $0.4 million in 2004, and.$0nillion in 2003.

We use cash flow hedges of certain raw materialsesmergy costs such as copper, zinc, lead andahafas to provide a measure of
stability in managing our exposure to price flutimas. We use interest rate swaps as a means @gimgninterest rates on our outstanding
debt obligations. These interest rate swaps aatetleas fair value hedges. The accounting for gaiddosses associated with changes in fair
value of the derivative and the effect on the ctidated financial statements will depend on thegeedesignation and whether the hedge is
effective in achieving offsetting changes in faalue of cash flows of the asset or liability behegiged. Gains (losses) on settled futures
contracts, net of taxes, were $5.7 million in 20885 million in 2004, and $(0.7) million in 2008t December 31, 2005, we had open
positions in futures contracts totaling $23.7 railli(2004—$5.6 million). If all open futures contracts hacthesettled on December 31, 2(
we would have recognized a gain of $3.2 million.

At December 31, 2005 and 2004, Accumulated Othen@@ehensive Loss included a pretax gain (lossqimvalue of $0.4 million and
$(4.7) million, respectively. In addition, the uaéaable ineffective portion of changes in fair vahesulted in $0.2 million, $(0.1) million and
$2.0 million charge (credit) to earnings for thesseended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, resggcOffsetting the above, there were
in 2005 assets totaling $10.7 million (2004—$17illiom) and liabilities of $7.7 million (2004—$13 #hillion).

Our foreign currency forward contracts and cert@mimmodity derivatives did not meet the criteriégS6fAS No. 133 to qualify for hedge
accounting. The cumulative effect of items not duig for hedge accounting for 2005 was not maiteio earnings.
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Item 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARK  ET RISK

We are exposed to market risk in the normal coafsr business operations due to our operatiodfierent foreign currencies, our
purchases of certain commodities, and our ongaingsting and financing activities. The risk of lass be assessed from the perspective of
adverse changes in fair values, cash flows anddwarnings. We have established policies and duves governing our management of
market risks and the use of financial instrumentsianage exposure to such risks.

Energy costs including electricity used in our GhAdkali Products segment, and certain raw materi@ald energy costs, namely copper,
lead, zinc and natural gas used primarily in outdi#eand Winchester segments’ products are sutmjgarice volatility. Depending on market
conditions, we may enter into futures contracts utdand call option contracts in order to redieiimpact of metal price fluctuations. As of
December 31, 2005, we maintained open positiorfsitones contracts totaling $23.7 million ($35.6 lioih at December 31, 2004). Assuming
a hypothetical 10% increase in commodity pricesctviare currently hedged, we would experience 4 8fllion ($3.6 million at
December 31, 2004) increase in our cost of invgrparchased, which would be offset by a correspapdicrease in the value of related
hedging instruments.

We are exposed to changes in interest rates phnaaria result of our investing and financing atitg. Investing activity is not materi
to our consolidated financial position, result®pérations, or cash flows. Our existing debt stmects used to fund business operations and
commitments from banks under our revolving credliflity are a source of liquidity. As of Decembédr, 2005, we had long-term borrowings
of $258.3 million ($312.7 million at December 3D02) of which $2.9 million ($0.1 million at Decemi®l, 2004) was issued at variable
rates. As a result of our fixed rate financings,eméered into floating interest rate swaps in otdenanage interest expense and floating
interest rate exposure to optimal levels. We hanered into $131.6 million of such swaps, whereleyagree to pay variable rates to a
counterparty who, in turn, pays us fixed ratesallitases the underlying index for the variablesas six-month London InterBank Offered
Rate (LIBOR). Accordingly, payments are settledrgwsx months and the term of the swap is the sasnthe underlying debt instrument.

The following table reflected the swap activityateld to certain debt obligations as of DecembeGQ5:

December 31

Swap 2005
Underlying Debt Instrument Amount Date of Swap Floating Rate
($in millions)
9.125%, due 201 $ 50.C December 20C 8.13%%
9.125%, due 201 $ 30.C February 200 7.5- 8.5%(a
9.125%, due 201 $ 25.C March 200:. 7.5-8.5%(a)
Industrial development and environmental improvenhodatigations at fixed interest
rates of 6.0% to 6.75%, due 2(-2017 $ 21.1 March 200: 4.47%
$ 5.E March 200: 4.616%

(&) Actual rate is set in arrears. We project the vatefall within the range showr

These interest rate swaps reduced interest expesséting in an increase in pretax profit of $&hBlion, $5.4 million and $6.5 million
in 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively.

If the actual change in interest or commoditiesipg is substantially different than expected,ibeimpact of interest rate risk or
commodity risk on our cash flow may be materialffestent than that disclosed above.

We do not enter into any derivative financial ingtients for speculative purposes.
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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT ABOUT FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMEN TS:

This report includes forward-looking statementshmitthe meaning of the Private Securities LitigatiReform Act of 1995. These
statements relate to analyses and other inform#taminare based on management’s beliefs, certaumgsions made by management,
forecasts of future results, and current expeatatiestimates and projections about the marketgemmomy in which we and our various
segments operate. The statements contained irefhaost that are not statements of historical faay nmclude forward-looking statements that
involve a number of risks and uncertainties.

We have used the words “anticipate,” “intend,” “nidexpect,” “believe,” “should,” “plan,” “estimaté “project,” and variations of
such words and similar expressions in this remoidéntify such forward-looking statements. Thasg¢esnents are not guarantees of future
performance and involve certain risks, uncertainied assumptions, which are difficult to prediad anany of which are beyond our control.
Therefore, actual outcomes and results may difietenally from those matters expressed or implieduch forward-looking statements. We
undertake no obligation to update publicly any fard+looking statements, whether as a result oféudwents, new information or otherwise.

The risks, uncertainties, and assumptions invoireslr forward-looking statements include thosedésed under Item 1A. Risk
Factors. You should consider all of our forwardKiog statements in light of these factors. In additother risks and uncertainties not
presently known to us or that we consider immakeoald affect the accuracy of our forward-lookistatements.
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Item 8. CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
MANAGEMENT REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIA L REPORTING

The management of Olin Corporation is responsittee§tablishing and maintaining adequate interaatrol over financial reporting.
Olin’s internal control system was designed to mteweasonable assurance to the company’s managamhboard of directors regarding
the preparation and fair presentation of publisireahcial statements.

All internal control systems, no matter how welkidmed, have inherent limitations. Therefore, etmrse systems determined to be
effective can provide only reasonable assurande iegpect to financial statement preparation apdgtation, and may not prevent or detect
all misstatements.

The management of Olin Corporation has assessezffdwtiveness of the company’s internal contradroinancial reporting as of
December 31, 2005. In making this assessment, aethe criteria set forth by the Committee of Spoimg Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO) iternal Control — Integrated Framewot& guide our analysis and assessment. Based aassassment we believe
that, as of December 31, 2005, the compsimternal control over financial reporting waseetive at the reasonable assurance level unde
framework.

Olin’s independent auditors have issued an atiestag¢port on our assessment of the compaimternal control over financial reportil
This report appears on page 43.

Wf}- L

Joseph D. Rupp
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

—
2 A
John E. Fischer
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
The Board of Directors and Shareholders of OlinpgDoation:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of Olin Corporation and subsidiaries &ecember 31, 2005 and 2004,
and the related consolidated statements of opestghareholders’ equity and cash flows for eadh®f/ears in the three-year period ended
December 31, 2005. These consolidated financitdrsents are the responsibility of the Company’sagament. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these consolidated finastagé¢ments based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighafBioUnited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet &amdbtain reasonable assurance about whethdindmecial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on tildasis, evidence supporting the amounts and disads in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting ptegused and significant estimates made by marageas well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe thataodits provide a reasonable basis for our opinio

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetegeferred to above present fairly, in all matenégpects, the financial position of O
Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 315 20@ 2004, and the results of their operationstlagid cash flows for each of the years in
the three-year period ended December 31, 200®nifoonity with U.S. generally accepted accountiniggiples.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), the
effectiveness of Olin Corporation and subsidianisrnal control over financial reporting as of etber 31, 2005, based on criteria
established imnternal Control—Integrated Framewoigsued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrike Treadway Commission,
and our report dated February 28, 2006 expressedagumlified opinion on management’s assessmeiatnafthe effective operation of,
internal control over financial reporting.

As discussed in note “Accounting Policies” to tlemsolidated financial statements, Olin Corporatidopted the provisions of the
Financial Accounting Standards Board’s Statemefiimincial Accounting Standards No. 143, “Accougtior Asset Retirement
Obligations” (SFAS No. 143) in 2003 and adoptedptmvision of FASB Interpretation No. 47Atcounting for Conditional Asset Retirem
Obligations,” an interpretation of SFAS No. 142005.

KPMe LLP

St. Louis, MO
February 28, 2006
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
The Board of Directors and Shareholders of OlinpgDoation:

We have audited management’s assessment, inclodbd accompanying Management Report on Internatr@loOver Financial
Reporting, that Olin Corporation and subsidiariegntained effective internal control over finandieporting as of December 31, 2005, based
on criteria established imternal Control—Integrated Framewoigsued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrise Treadway
Commission (“the COSO criteria’)The Company’s management is responsible for maimigieffective internal control over financial
reporting and for its assessment of the effectissmd internal control over financial reporting.r@esponsibility is to express an opinion on
management’s assessment and an opinion on théiedfeess of the Company’s internal control oveaficial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the staddof the Public Company Accounting Oversightri8q@nited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet &amdbtain reasonable assurance about whethetigiaénternal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respe@is: audit included obtaining an understanding térimal control over financial reporting,
evaluating management’s assessment, testing ahgaéug the design and operating effectivenessitefrnal control, and performing such
other procedures as we considered necessary airthenstances. We believe that our audit providesaaonable basis for our opinion.

A company'’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonablesassuregarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordanttegenerally accepted accounting
principles. A company'’s internal control over fircéal reporting includes those policies and proceduhat (1) pertain to the maintenance of
records that, in reasonable detail, accuratelyfainky reflect the transactions and dispositionshef assets of the company; (2) provide
reasonable assurance that transactions are recasdeztessary to permit preparation of financétkstents in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipdsexpenditures of the company are being madeinrdgcordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the company; and @jge reasonable assurance regarding preventibmely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use, or disposition of the companygseds that could have a material effect on then@izé statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or détaisstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periagssabject to the risk that controls may becomdenaate because of changes in conditions,
or that the degree of compliance with the policeprocedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that Qlip@ation and subsidiaries maintained effectiterimal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2005, is fairly stabe@ll material respects, based on the COSOrizitélso, in our opinion, Olin Corporation
and subsidiaries maintained, in all material retpeffective internal control over financial refiog as of December 31, 2005, based on the
COSO criteria.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@nited States), the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets of OlipdZation and subsidiaries as of December 31, 20052004 and the related
consolidated statements of operations, shareholgigugty and cash flows for each of the years mttiree-year period ended December 31,
2005, and our report dated February 28, 2006 espdean unqualified opinion on those consolidatedrfcial statements.

KPMe P

St. Louis, MO
February 28, 2006
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
December 31
(% in millions, except share data)

Assets
Current Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalel
Receivables, Ne

Trade

Other
Inventories
Current Deferred Income Tax
Other Current Asse

Total Current Asset
Property, Plant and Equipment, I
Prepaid Pension Cos
Deferred Income Taxe
Other Asset:
Goodwill

Total Assets

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current Liabilities:
Current Installments of Lol-Term Debi
Accounts Payabl
Income Taxes Payab
Accrued Liabilities

Total Current Liabilities
Long-Term Debt
Accrued Pension Liabilit
Other Liabilities

Total Liabilities

Commitments and Contingenci
Shareholder Equity:
Common Stock, Par Value $1 Per Shi
Authorized, 120,000,000 Shares;
Issued and Outstanding 71,875,375 Shares (70,556 3D04)
Additional Paic-In Capital
Accumulated Other Comprehensive L
Accumulated Defici

Total Shareholde’ Equity

Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity

2005 2004
$ 3037 $ 147
270.F 226.¢
24.F 16.1
262.¢ 256.E
— 47.1
12.1 18.€
873.2 712.¢
482.2 478.(
248. 257.¢
86. 67.4
31.€ 23.€
75.1 78.2
$1,797..  $1,617.¢
$ 11 $ 520
177. 117.7
23.4 0.2
165.2 151
367.1 321
257. 260.7
556.¢ 505.2
189.F 174.€
1,370.6  1,262.(
71.€ 70.€
683.¢ 659.L
(304.9) (273.9
(24.7) (100.9
426.6 355.¢
$1,797..  $1,617.¢

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financetke8tents are an integral part of the consolidateah€ial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
Years ended December 31
(% in millions, except per share data)

Sales

Operating Expense
Cost of Goods Sol
Selling and Administratio
Research and Developme
Restructuring Charge

Other Operating Incom

Operating Incom

Earnings of No-consolidated Affiliate:
Interest Expens

Interest Incom:

Other Income

Income from Continuing Operations before Taxes@uadhulative Effect of Accounting Chan
Income Tax Provisio

Income from Continuing Operations before Cumulafiffect of Accounting Chang
Discontinued Operation

Income from Discontinued Operations, !

Gain on Disposal of Discontinued Operations,

Income before Cumulative Effect of Accounting Chea
Cumulative Effect of Accounting Change, !

Net Income (Loss

Basic Income (Loss) per Common Shz
Income from Continuing Operations before Cumulaftffect of Accounting Chang
Income from Discontinued Operations, !
Gain on Disposal of Discontinued Operations,
Cumulative Effect of Accounting Change, !

Net Income (Loss

Diluted Income (Loss) per Common She
Income from Continuing Operations before Cumulafiffect of Accounting Chang
Income from Discontinued Operations, !
Gain on Disposal of Discontinued Operations,
Cumulative Effect of Accounting Change, !

Net Income (Loss

2005 2004 2003
$2,357.7  $1,996.¢ $1,557.
1,998.¢ 1,764.¢ 1,381
176.: 141.( 127.:
4.2 3. 4.7
0.3 9.6 30.€
9.1 5.5 —
187.c 82.¢ 12.F
38.F 10.1 7.8
19.¢ 20.2 20.2
18.2 1. 1.2
1.5 4E 2.6
225.¢ 79.2 4.C
85.¢ 28.F 3.6
139.7 50.7 0.4
— 0.€ 0.
— 3. —
139.7 54.¢ 1.3
(6.4) — (25.4)
$ 133  $ 548 $ (24
$ 19¢ $ 074/ $ 0.01
— 0.01 0.01
— 0.0% —
(0.0%) — (0.44)
$ 187 $ 08C $ (0.42
$ 1958 $ 074/ $ 0.01
— 0.01 0.01
— 0.0% —
(0.09) — (0.44)
$ 18 $ 08¢ $ (0.42

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financetk8tents are an integral part of the consolidateahé€ial statements.
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Balance at January 1, 200:
Comprehensive Los
Net Loss
Translation Adjustmer
Net Unrealized Gain

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
(% in millions, except per share data)

Common Stock

Accumulated

Minimum Pension Liability Adjustment, N — — —

Comprehensive Los
Dividends Paid
Common Stock ($0.80 per sha
Common Stock Issued fc
Stock Options Exercise
Employee Benefit Plar
Other Transaction

Balance at December 31, 20C
Comprehensive Incom
Net Income
Translation Adjustmer
Net Unrealized Losse

Minimum Pension Liability Adjustment, Ni — — —

Comprehensive Inconr
Dividends Paid

Common Stock ($0.80 per sha
Common Stock Issued fc

Stock Options Exercise

Cash

Employee Benefit Plar

Other Transaction

Balance at December 31, 20C
Comprehensive Incom
Net Income
Translation Adjustmer
Net Unrealized Gain

Minimum Pension Liability Adjustment, Ni — — —

Comprehensive Incomnr
Dividends Paid

Common Stock ($0.80 per sha
Common Stock Issued fc

Stock Options Exercise

Employee Benefit Plar

Other Transaction

Balance at December 31, 20C

Additional Other Total
Shares Par Paid-In Comprehensiv Accumulatec Shareholders’

Issued Value Capital Loss Deficit Equity
57,622,67 $57.€ $441¢ $ (2389 $ (294 $ 2317
_ _ — — (24.1) (24.))
— — — 6.7 — 6.7
- - - 4.8 - 4.8
(19.5) — (19.
(32.1)
_ _ — — (46.5) (46.
444,60¢ 0.t 6.€ — — 7.1
915,15¢ 0.6 15.1 — — 16.C
32,64¢ — 0.€ — — 0.€
59,015,08  59.C 464.: (246.5) (100.0) 176.
_ — — — 54.¢ 54.¢
— — — 1.¢ — 1.9
= = = (4.7) = (4.7)
(23.7) — (23.7)
28.c
- - - - (55.7) (55.7)
744,12: 0.8 13.7 — — 14.5
10,000,00 10.C 167.¢ — — 177.¢
793,77¢ 0.8 13.t — — 14.5
13,91¢ — .3 — — 0.3
70,566,90 70.€ 659.t (273.9) (200.9) 355.¢
— — — — 133.: 133.8
— — — (2.3) — (2.3
— — — 0.4 — 0.4
(29.2) — (29.2)
102.Z
- - - - (57.9) (57.1)
509,38 0.t 9.3 — — 9.8
770,712 0.8 14.5 — — 15.2
28,37 0.t — — 0.5
71,87537 $71¢ $683¢ $ (3049 $ (247 $  426.¢

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financetke8tents are an integral part of the consolidateah€ial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years ended December 31
($ in millions)
2005 2004 2003
Operating Activities
Income (Loss) from Continuing Operations and CuningaEffect of Accounting Chanc $133.< $ 50.7 $(25.0
Adjustments to Reconcile Income (Loss) from CoritiguOperations to Net Cash and Cash
Equivalents Provided by (Used for) Operatingivities:
Earnings of No-consolidated Affiliate: (38.5) (20.7) (7.9
Other Operating Incon—Gains on Disposition of Real Est: (9.2 — —
Gain on Sale of Insurance Investm — (2.0 —
Depreciation and Amortizatic 72.5 73.% 80.¢
Deferred Taxe 54.1 (13.2) (2.7
Non-cash Portion of Restructuring Charg — — 24.¢€
Cumulative Effect of Accounting Chan 6.4 — 25.4
Qualified Pension Plan Contributio (6.2) (169.9 —
Qualified Pension Plan Expen 20.7 5.2 —
Common Stock Issued under Employee Benefit F 2.8 2.8 2.8
Change in Assets and Liabilities Net of Purchaseks2ales of Businesse
Receivable! (52.7) (60.5) (15.¢)
Inventories (6.2) (16.€) 8.2
Other Current Asse' 6.7 (3.2 (2.9
Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilit 73.4 10.C 12.4
Income Taxes Payab 23.1 (2.0 20.C
Other Noncurrent Liabilitie 4.C 3.€ (13.9
Other Asset: (8.9 — 4.8
Other Operating Activitie 2.1 4.7 3.6
Cash Provided by (Used for) Continuing Operat 278.¢ (134.%) 116.1
Discontinued Operation
Income from Discontinued Operations, | — 4.1 0.S
Gain on Disposal of Discontinued Operatit — (5.9 —
Cash Provided by Discontinued Operati — — 155
Net Operating Activitie: 278.¢ (136.9 118.5
Investing Activities
Capital Expenditure (81.0 (55.7) (54.9)
Business Acquired in Purchase Transac — (3.2 —
Proceeds from Sale of Sh-Term Investment — — 25.C
Proceeds from Sales of a Business and an Insuhavestmen’ — 19.7 —
Disposition of Property, Plant and Equipm 14.2 0.8 5.4
Distributions from Affiliated Companies, N 31.C 9.4 8.1
Other Investing Activitie: 2.3 1.¢ 4.7
Net Investing Activities (38.7) (26.5) (11.7
Financing Activities
Long-Term Debt:
Borrowings 2.8 — —
Repayment (52.0 (27.2) (1.€)
Issuance of Common Sto 12.4 189.: 13.2
Stock Options Exercise 9.8 14.t 7.1
Dividends Paic (57.7) (55.7) (46.5)
Other Financing Activitie: (0.9 (0.5 (0.3
Net Financing Activities (84.9 120.4 (28.7)
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equisi 156.4 (42.5) 79.3
Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of \ 147.: 189.¢ 110.t
Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Y $303.7 $ 147.3 $189.¢
Cash Paid (Received) for Interest and Income Te
Interest $ 20.C $ 20.t $ 20.€
Income Taxes, Net of Refun $ 57 $ 43.C $(119
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(% in millions, except share data)

DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

Olin Corporation is a Virginia corporation, incorpted in 1892. We are a manufacturer concentratéitrée business segments: Chlor
Alkali Products, Metals, and Winchester. Chlor AilRroducts, with four U.S. manufacturing facilgigoroduces chlorine and caustic soda,
sodium hydrosulfite, hydrochloric acid, hydrogeledeh products and potassium hydroxide. Metaldy ittprincipal manufacturing facilities
in East Alton, IL and Montpelier, OH, produces atistributes copper and copper alloy sheet, stoifh, fod, welded tube, fabricated parts,
stainless steel and aluminum strip. Winchestelh wét principal manufacturing facility in East AitplL, produces and distributes sporting
ammunition, canister powder, reloading componesmtgll caliber military ammunition and components] andustrial cartridges.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The preparation of the consolidated financial statiets requires estimates and assumptions that affemunts reported and disclosed in
the financial statements and related notes. Actsllts could differ from those estimates.

Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements include to®ants of Olin Corporation and all majority-owrgsidiaries. Investments in 20-
50% owned affiliates are accounted for on the gquithod. Accordingly, we include only our shareeafnings or losses of these affiliates in
consolidated net income. Certain reclassificativase made to prior year amounts to conform to 9@52resentation.

Revenue Recognition

Revenues are recognized on sales of product dittleethe goods are shipped and the risks of owielsve passed to the customer.
Shipping and handling fees billed to customersraiided in Sales and the costs incurred for shippind handling are included in Cost of
Goods Sold. A portion of the sales in the Metafgsent are made on a “tolling” basis where the aqustoconsigns non-ferrous metals to us
and is only charged a fee for processing the node metals into finished product. Tolling custesmeetain title to the metal consigned to us
and bear the risk of loss. For tolling sales, tlegatwvalue is not included in Sales or Cost of Go®dld. Allowances for estimated returns,
discounts and rebates are recognized when salesaneled and are based on various market dataribéd trends and information from
customers. Actual returns, discounts and rebates hat been materially different from estimates.

Other Operating Income

Other operating income consists of miscellaneo@saijng income items, which are related to ouress activities, and gains (losses)
on disposition of property, plant and equipmenhéddiperating income for 2005 of $9.1 includedghis on the disposition of three real
estate properties. The first disposition represktite settlement of a contested condemnation avetating to land associated with a former
warehousing facility. The other transactions repnésd the disposition of land associated with taroner manufacturing plants. Other
operating income for 2004 included a non-recurgam of $5.5 related to a settlement of a contrzatter with an outside third party.

Other Income
Other income consists of non-recurring non-opegaiticome items which are not related to our primtarginess activities. In 2004,
other income consisted primarily of a $2.0 gairtlmsale of our equity interest in an insurancestwment.
Research and Development

Research and development expenses include wagpkyaa benefits and material costs used in thekedesign and development of
new products and processes and in the improvemene@hancements of existing products and procethese costs are expensed as
incurred.
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Foreign Currency Translation

Foreign affiliates’ balance sheet amounts are kated at the exchange rates in effect at year-amdi pperations statement amounts are
translated at the average rates of exchange praydiliring the year. Translation adjustments actugted in Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Loss. Where foreign affiliates omerahighly inflationary economies, non-monetaryoamts are translated at historical
exchange rates while monetary assets and liabilitie translated at the current rate with theedlatjustments reflected in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
All highly liquid investments, with a maturity dfitee months or less at the date of purchase, asidaved to be cash equivalents.

Short-Term Investments

Marketable securities are accounted for in accarglavith Statement of Financial Accounting Standg81SAS) No. 115, “Accounting
for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Secesiti We have classified our marketable equity sgearas available-for-sale which are
reported at fair market value with unrealized gand losses included in Accumulated Other ComprakierLoss, net of applicable taxes. -
fair value of marketable securities is determingdjboted market prices. Realized gains and lossesles of investments, as determined on
the specific identification method and declinesétue of securities judged to be other-than-temyaaiee included in Other Income in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations. Interestianidends on all securities are included in Ins¢lacome and Other Income, respectively.

Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or ragrlith cost being determined principally by thadlar value last-in, first-out (LIFO)
method of inventory accounting. Cost for other imegies has been determined principally by the ayercost (primarily operating supplies,
spare parts and maintenance parts) and firstrst;dut (FIFO) (primarily inventory of foreign subl&ries) methods. Elements of costs in
inventories include raw materials, direct labor amhufacturing overhead.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are recorded at Begireciation is computed on a strai¢gjhe basis over the estimated useful lives of
related assets. Leasehold improvements are antuizs the term of the lease or the estimated ubffwof the improvement, whichever is
shorter. Start-up costs are expensed as incurred.

Asset Retirement Obligations

Effective January 1, 2003, we adopted SFAS No. 14&ounting for Asset Retirement Obligations” (SEMAo. 143), which addresses
financial accounting requirements for retiremerltgations associated with tangible long-lived assén January 1, 2003, we recorded an
asset and a liability of $41.5 (of which $7.0 ai3d $ were in current liabilities and noncurrenbiligies, respectively) to reflect the cost of
retirement obligations related to our former opaafacilities ($22.1 pretax), certain hazardoustwainits at operating plant sites ($14.4
pretax), and our Indianapolis facility ($5.0, prgteSince these sites did not generate revenuémaary 1, 2003, we recorded the
accumulated amortization of the associated assement costs on these same assets, which resaltedafter-tax charge of $25.4 ($41.5
pretax) upon the adoption of SFAS No. 143.

On December 31, 2005, we adopted FASB Interpretddio. 47, “Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirent Obligations” (FIN
No. 47) an interpretation of SFAS No. 143. Thigiptetation clarifies the definition of conditioreset retirement obligations used in SF
No. 143 and clarifies when a company would havéaeht information to reasonably estimate the faitue of an asset retirement obligati
We recorded an asset of $0.3 and a liability of.816 reflect the cost of retirement obligationsted to production technology ($8.0),
building materials ($1.8), and other obligation$.(. This resulted in an after-tax charge for¢hmulative effect of an accounting change
totaling $6.4 ($10.5 pretax) upon adoption of FIN. M7.
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In the fourth quarter of 2005, based on reviseiinagés, we reduced the asset retirement obligatElated to certain hazardous waste
units at operating plant sites by $2.5, which redugperating expenses. In the fourth quarter ofi2@@ sold our Indianapolis facility which
alleviated our remaining asset retirement obligatib$2.5, which reduced operating expenses.

The balances of our asset retirement obligatioof &ecember 31 are as follows:

2005 2004
Current liability $24 $2¢
Noncurrent liability 45.C 35.2
$47.4 $38.1
The pro forma effect of FIN No. 47, as if it haccbeadopted for 2003, is as follows:
2005 2004 2003
Income Statement Adjustmen
Net income (loss) as report $133.< $ 54.¢ $(24.7)
Effect of adoptior (0.4 (0.9 0.3
Net income (loss $132.¢ $ 54.4 $(24.9
Per share (diluted) as repori $ 1.8 $0.8C $(0.42
Effect of adoptior — (0.07 —
Total $ 1.8€ $0.7¢ $(0.42)
Balance Sheet Adjustmen
Asset retirement obligation liability as repor $ 38.1
Effect of adoptior 10.1
Asset retirement obligation liabilit $48.2

Comprehensive Income (Loss)

We calculated comprehensive income (loss) in aeeare with SFAS No. 130, “Reporting Comprehensiv®ine.” Accumulated Othe
Comprehensive Loss at December 31, 2005 includasiledive translation losses of $6.3 ($3.9 at Deaan®i, 2004), minimum pension
liability, net of tax of $297.4 ($268.2 at DecemBéar;, 2004) and other unrealized losses, net ofaa®0.7 ($1.1 at December 31, 2004). We
do not provide for U.S. income taxes on foreigrrency translation adjustments since we do not gefor such taxes on undistributed
earnings of foreign subsidiaries.

Goodwill

In accordance with SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Qthlrtangible Assets,” goodwill is not amortizedtlmireviewed annually in the
fourth quarter and/or when circumstances or othients indicate that impairment may have occurré dnnual impairment test involves the
comparison of the estimated fair value of a repgrtinit to its carrying amount. The fair value &amined based on a variety of assumpi
including estimated future cash flows of the rejpgrunit, discount rates and comparable comparmirtgamultiples. An impairment would |
recorded based on the estimated fair value. Noinmgat charges were recorded for 2005, 2004 or 2003

Other Assets

Other assets at December 31, 2005 and 2004 incintedyible assets of $10.8 and $11.2 and miscadias long-term assets of $21.1
and $12.6, respectively. Intangible assets at Dbee®il, 2005 and 2004 included a trademark of $€hich is not subject to amortization,
and other intangibles of $1.2 and $1.6, respegtiwehich are amortized over their respective uskfak (primarily 5 years) on a straight-line
basis. Amortization expense was $0.8 in 2005, $12D04 and $1.5 in 2003. Intangible assets anewad for impairment in accordance w
SFAS No. 142. Miscellaneous long-term assets alslodes investments in non-consolidated affiliates.
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Environmental Liabilities and Expenditures

Accruals (charges to income) for environmental eratare recorded when it is probable that a ligitilas been incurred and the amount
of the liability can be reasonably estimated, bagmsh current law and existing technologies. Treaaeunts, which are not discounted anc
exclusive of claims against third parties, are sidid periodically as assessment and remediationtefirogress or additional technical or
legal information becomes available. Environmeaotsits are capitalized if the costs increase thaeeval the property and/or mitigate or
prevent contamination from future operations.

Income Taxes

Deferred taxes are provided for differences betwherfinancial statement and tax bases of assdtiailities using enacted tax rates
in effect for the year in which the differences arpected to reverse. A valuation allowance is jpiexy to offset deferred tax assets, if based
on the available evidence, it is more likely thar that some or all of the deferred tax assetsnaillbe realized.

Derivative Financial Instruments

As required by SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Detiva Instruments and Hedging Activities,” we uselge accounting treatment for
substantially all of our business transactions whisks are covered using derivative instrumert& fedge accounting treatment provide:
the deferral of gains or losses (reflected in Obemprehensive Loss) on derivative instrumentd soth time as the related transactions
occur.

We enter into forward sales and purchase conttactseanage currency risk resulting from purchasesatel commitments denominated
in foreign currencies (principally Australian doliand Canadian dollar). All of the currency derives expire within one year and are for
United States dollar equivalents. At December 8D52and 2004 we had forward contracts to buy foreigrencies with a face value of $3.9
and $2.1, respectively, and no forward contractetbforeign currencies. The fair market valuetef forward contracts to buy at
December 31, 2005 and 2004 approximated the cgrmgtue. The counterparty to the forward contr&ctslarge financial institution. The
risk of loss to us in the event of nonperformangéhe counterparty would not be significant to 6nancial position or results of operations.
Foreign currency exchange gains, net of taxes, ifi®R05, $0.4 in 2004, and $0.7 in 2003.

We use cash flow hedges of certain raw materialsesmergy costs such as copper, zinc, lead andahafas to provide a measure of
stability in managing our exposure to price flutioias. We use interest rate swaps as a means @fgimaninterest rates on our outstanding
debt obligations. These interest rate swaps aa¢etieas fair value hedges. The accounting for gaiddosses associated with changes in fair
value of the derivative and the effect on the ctidated financial statements will depend on thegeedesignation and whether the hedge is
effective in achieving offsetting changes in faalue of cash flows of the asset or liability behegiged. Gains (losses) on settled futures
contracts, net of taxes, were $5.7 in 2005, $82ibv and $(0.7) in 2003. At December 31, 2005haet open positions in futures contracts
totaling $23.7 (2004—$35.6). If all open futuresiracts had been settled on December 31, 2005,outvihave recognized a gain of $3.2.

At December 31, 2005 and 2004, Accumulated Othen@ehensive Loss included a pretax gain (lossqimvialue of $0.4 and $(4.7),
respectively. In addition, the unfavorable ineffeetportion of changes in fair value resulted ®082, $(0.1) and $2.0 charge (credit) to
earnings for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2@ 2003, respectively. Offsetting the aboveralwere in 2005, assets totaling $10.7
(2004—$17.1) and liabilities of $7.7 (2004—$13.4).

Our foreign currency forward contracts and certmimmodity derivatives did not meet the criteriécS6fAS No. 133 to qualify for hedge
accounting. The effect on operating results of gemt qualifying for hedge accounting for the ye2085, 2004 and 2003 was not material to
earnings.

51



Concentration of Credit Risk

Accounts receivable is the principal financial imstent which subjects us to a concentration ofitresk. Credit is extended based u|
the evaluation of a customer’s financial conditéom, generally, collateral is not required. Con@itins of credit risk with respect to
receivables are somewhat limited due to our latgebrer of customers, the diversity of these custehiersinesses and the geographic
dispersion of such customers. The majority of @moants receivable are derived from sales denoednatU.S. dollars. We maintain an
allowance for doubtful accounts based upon thearplecollectibility of all trade receivables.

Financial Instruments

The carrying values of cash and cash equivaleotaumts receivable and accounts payable approxihfatevalues due to the short-
term maturities of these instruments. The fair gaéiour long-term debt was determined based arectumarket rates for debt of the same
risk and maturities. At December 31, 2005, thewatid fair value of debt was $293.5 (2004—$364v8jch compares to debt recorded on
the balance sheet of $258.3 and $312.7 at DeceBih@005 and 2004, respectively. The estimated/édires of currency forward contracts
are based on quoted market prices for contractssintilar terms.

Retirement-Related Benefits

We account for our defined benefit pension plartsraam-pension postretirement benefit plans usimgaaial models required by SFAS
No. 87,“"Employers’ Accounting for Pensions,” and SFAS NO6, “Employers’ Accounting for Postretirement BitseOther Than
Pensions,” respectively. These models use an @itsibapproach that generally spreads the finamtiphct of changes to the plan and
actuarial assumptions over the average remainirngcsdives of the employees in the plan. Changdmbility due to changes in actuarial
assumptions such as discount rate, rate of compensacreases and mortality, as well as annuaiadiens between what was assumed and
what was experienced by the plan are treated as gailosses. Gains and losses are amortized liwgroup’s service lifetime, to the extent
they fall outside of a corridor designed to dampenual volatility.

One of the key assumptions for the net periodisimncalculation is the expected long-term rateetiirn on plan assets, used to
determine the “market-related value of assets.&(Tharket-related value of assets” recognizes iiffees between the plan’s actual return
and expected return over a five year period). Boglired use of an expected long-term rate of retarthe market-related value of plan assets
may result in a recognized pension income thatéatgr or less than the actual returns of those gdaets in any given year. Over time,
however, the expected long-term returns are dedigmapproximate the actual long-term returns #imetefore, result in a pattern of income
and expense recognition that more closely matdteepdttern of the services provided by the empleyAs differences between actual and
expected returns are recognized over five yeagy, generate gains and losses that are subjectddiaation over the average remaining
service life of the group, as described in the @dény paragraph.

We use long-term historical actual return inforraafithe mix of investments that comprise plan assetd future estimates of lomgrmn
investment returns by reference to external soudsvelop the expected return on plan assets.

The discount rate assumptions used for pensiomanepension postretirement benefit plan accountfigct the rates available on
high-quality fixed-income debt instruments on Debem31 of each year. The rate of compensation aserés another significant assumption
used in the actuarial model for pension accountihigh we determine based upon our long-term plansdch increases. For retiree medical
plan accounting, we review external data and our bistorical trends for healthcare costs to deteentihe healthcare cost trend rates.

On December 8, 2003, President Bush signed theddedPrescription Drug, Improvement and Modernimafict of 2003 (DIMA).
The DIMA introduced a federal subsidy to sponsdnetiree healthcare benefit plans that providéeaefit that is at least the actuarial
equivalent to Medicare Part D. We recognized tivingas on the measure of the Accumulated Postreirei@enefit Obligation or net
periodic benefit cost as a result of DIMA. The s@a were de minimis. These financial statementsaandmpanying notes reflect the effects
of the Act on our benefit plans.
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Stock-Based Compensation

We account for stock-based compensation under S¥&A3.23, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensatidsallowed under SFAS
No. 123, we have chosen to continue to accourdtfmt-based compensation cost in accordance with Acomy/rinciples Board Opinion
No. 25,“Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees.” Undws toption, compensation cost is recorded wheffidingnarket value of our stock
at the date of grant for fixed options exceedstkercise price of the stock option. Our policyagitant stock options at the fair market value
of our common stock on the date of the grant. Carsgion cost for restricted stock awards is accowed the life of the award based on the
guoted market price of our stock at the date ofathhard. Compensation cost for performance shamscsunted for under variable plan
accounting. The estimated fair value at the datgrafit is amortized and charged to operations theevesting period. Each year the accru
adjusted to reflect the performance relative tordspective target.

Pro forma net income (loss) and income (loss) pareswere calculated based on the following assompgs if we had recorded
compensation expense for the stock options grahigdg the year. We had no compensation expens&dok options granted during eact
the years from 2003 through 2005. The fair valueasfh option granted during 2005, 2004 and 2003aestimated on the date of grant, using
the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with thddaling weighted-average assumptions used:

2005 2004 2003
Dividend yield 3.36% 4.32% 5.21%
Risk-free interest rat 3.8t% 3.7(% 3.05%
Expected volatility 27% 40% 40%
Expected life (years 7.C 7.C 7.C
Grant fair value (per optior $5.4¢ $5.37 $3.8:

The following table shows the difference betweeyoreed and pro forma net income (loss) and incdoss) per share as if we had
amortized and charged to operations compensatipanse for the stock options granted during the.year

2005 2004 2003
Net Income (Loss)
As reportec $133.< $54.¢ $(24.7)
Stocl-based employee compensation expense, net | 2.0 2.3 (2.0)
Pro forma $131.2 $52.5 $(26.7)
Per Share Dat:
Basic
As Reportec $ 1.87 $0.8(C $(0.42)
Pro forma 1.84 0.77 (0.45)
Diluted
As Reportec $ 1.8¢ $0.8C $(0.42)
Pro forma 1.8< 0.77 (0.4%)

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123i§Re\2004), “Share-Based Payment”, which is a iewief SFAS No. 123,
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation”. Thisrmoncement revises the accounting treatment fokdtased compensation. It
establishes standards for the accounting trangecitiowhich an entity exchanges its equity instrotador goods or services. It also addresses
transactions in which an entity incurs liabilitieasexchange for goods or services that are basedeofair value of the entity’s equity
instruments or that may be settled by the issuahti®ose equity instruments. This statement focpsiesarily on accounting for transactions
in which an entity obtains employee services irrastmsed payment transactions.

This statement requires an entity to measure teeaf@mployee services received in exchange faveard of equity instruments based
on the grant-date fair value of the award. That wils be recognized over the period during whicheanployee is required to provide service
in exchange for the award—the requisite serviceoggusually the vesting period). It requires thvat will initially measure the cost of
employee services received in exchange for an awfdrability instruments based on its current fealue; the fair value of that award will be
remeasured subsequently at each reporting dateghithe settlement date. Changes in fair valuendutie

53



requisite service period will be recognized as cengation cost over that period. This statemeriféstve as of the beginning of the first
interim annual reporting period that begins afterel 15, 2005. Based upon the prospective adoptiSirAS No. 123 (Revised 2004), the
pretax impact for the 2006 year is expected to @pprate $4.0.

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In May, 2005, the FASB issued SFAS No. 154, “AcammChanges and Error Corrections-a replacemeAP& Opinion No. 20 and
FASB Statement No. 3.” This statement changeseeirements for the accounting for and reporting ohange in accounting principle.
Previously, most voluntary changes in accountinggiple were recognized by including in new incoaiehe period of the change the
cumulative effect of changing to the new accounpirigciple. SFAS No. 154 requires retrospectiveliapfion to prior periods’ financial
statements, unless it is impracticable to deterraitieer the period-specific effects or the cumukgffect of the change. This statement shall
be effective for accounting changes and correctidresrors made in fiscal years beginning afterémeber 15, 2005.

EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic and diluted income (loss) per share are coeapoy dividing net income (loss) by the weightgdrage number of common shares
outstanding. Diluted earnings per share reflectihgive effect of stock options. The effect obsk options of 0.3 million in 2003 have not
been included in the 2003 diluted loss per shatbeais effect would have been anti-dilutive.

Computation of Income (Loss) per Share 2005 2004 2003

Income from continuing operations before cumulagffect of accountin

change $139.7 $50.7 $ 04

Discontinued Operation

Income from discontinued operations, — 0.€ 0.S

Gain on disposal of discontinued operations, — 3.t —
Cumulative effect of accounting change, (6.9 — (25.9
Net income (loss $133.2 $54.6  $(24.)
Basic share 1.5 68.2 58.3
Basic Income (Loss) per Sha

Income from continuing operations before cumulasffect of

accounting chang $ 1.9¢ $0.74 $0.01

Income from discontinued operations, — 0.01 0.01

Gain on disposal of discontinued operations, — 0.0t —

Cumulative effect of accounting change, (0.09) — (0.49

Net income (loss $1.87 $0.8C $(0.49
Diluted shares

Basic share 71.% 68.2 58.2

Stock options 3 0.2 —

Diluted share! 71.¢ 68.4 58.3
Diluted Income (Loss) per Shal

Income from continuing operations before cumulasffect of

accounting chang $ 1.9t $0.74 $0.01

Income from discontinued operations, — 0.01 0.01

Gain on disposal of discontinued operations, — 0.0t —

Cumulative effect of accounting change, (0.09) — (0.49

Net income (loss $ 1.8¢ $0.8C $(0.42

TRADE RECEIVABLES

Allowance for doubtful accounts was $9.1 and $8 Becember 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Pranvischarged to operations were
$2.6 in 2005, $1.2 in 2004 and $4.6 in 2003. Bdat deite-offs, net of recoveries, were $2.1 in 2088.5 in 2004, and $4.5 in 2003.
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INVENTORIES

2005 2004

Supplies $ 37.1 $ 34.z
Raw materials 172.( 133.¢
Work in proces: 180.% 118.¢
Finished good 112.t 89.¢
502.: 376.%

LIFO reserve (239.%) (119.9
Inventories $ 262.¢ $ 256.5

Inventories valued using the LIFO method comprig@% and 80% of the total inventories at Decembe28@5 and 2004, respective
If the FIFO method of inventory accounting had baeed, inventories would have been $239.7 and 81ii§her than that reported at
December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Useful Lives 2005 2004
Land and improvements to la 10-20 Years $ b56.¢ $ 60.4
Buildings and building equipme 10-25 Years 225.2 220.c
Machinery and equipme 3-12 Years 1,525.; 1,494.¢
Leasehold improvemen 3.7 3.€
Construction in progres 62.2 47.2
Property, plant and equipme 1,873.( 1,826.:
Less accumulated depreciati 1,390.¢ 1,348.:
Property, plant and equipment, | $ 482.: $ 478.C

Leased assets capitalized and included above asigmificant. Maintenance and repairs chargedp@rations amounted to $121.6 in
2005, $114.7 in 2004 and $105.6 in 2003.

INVESTMENTS—AFFILIATED COMPANIES

We have a 50% ownership interest in SunBelt Chl&alAPartnership and Yamaha-Olin Metal Corporatiboth of which are
accounted for using the equity method of accoun@gnbined financial positions and results of opens of these two equitpasis affiliates
in their entirety were as follows:

100% Basis

2005 2004 2003

Condensed Balance Sheet D:

Current assel $ 58.C $ 49.¢

Noncurrent asse 121.€ 127.7

Current liabilities 28.C 26.F

Noncurrent liabilities 134.1 146.2
Condensed Income Statement D

Net sales $236.- $181.7 $159.¢

Gross profit 110.( 54.2 49.1

Net income 82.7 25.7 21.4

The amount of cumulative unremitted earnings ofjdire ventures was $17.8 at December 31, 200534l at December 31, 2004. In
2005, 2004 and 2003, there were no contributiordistributions from Yamaha-Olin Metal Corporatiéie received distributions from
SunBelt Chlor Alkali Partnership totaling $33.0,47and $18.0 in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectiVel did not make any contributions in
2005 and 2004. We made contributions of $14.1 0820

In accounting for our ownership interest in the Beihjoint venture, we adjust the reported operatisults for additional depreciation
expense in order to conform the SunBelt joint vegituplant and equipment useful lives to ours. atiditional depreciation expense reduced
our share of SunBelt's operating results by $3.8085, $3.5 in
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2004 and $3.4 in 2003. Finally, we provide variadsiinistrative, management and logistical servicghe SunBelt joint venture for which
we received fees totaling $7.6 in 2005, $7.2 in2280d $6.8 in 2003.

Pursuant to a note purchase agreement dated Dec2&)997, the SunBelt joint venture sold $97.%&0franteed Senior Secured
Notes Due 2017, Series O, and $97.5 of GuaranteriiSSecured Notes Due 2017, Series G. We refiwese notes as the SunBelt No
The SunBelt Notes bear interest at a rate of 7.@g8f@nnum, payable semiannually in arrears on &ach 22 and December 22.

We have guaranteed the Series O Notes, and Poly@neartner in this venture, has guaranteed thiesS& Notes, in both cases
pursuant to customary guarantee agreements. Otargea and PolyOne’s guarantee are several, rdiaerjoint. Therefore, we are not
required to make any payments to satisfy the S&idmtes guaranteed by PolyOne. An insolvency akhgtcy of PolyOne will not
automatically trigger acceleration of the SunBedté$ or cause us to be required to make paymedesy oor guarantee, even if PolyOne is
required to make payments under its guarantee. Heni the SunBelt joint venture does not makeelyrpayments on the SunBelt Notes,
whether as a result of failure to pay on a guamoteotherwise, the holders of the SunBelt Noteg praceed against the assets of the Sul
joint venture for repayment. If we were to maketdsdyvice payments under our guarantee, we would haight to recover such payme
from the SunBelt joint venture.

Beginning on December 22, 2002 and each year thradQ§7, our SunBelt joint venture is required foay $12.2 of the SunBelt Notes,
of which $6.1 is attributable to the Series O Nofdter the payment of $6.1 on the Series O Nated3écember 2005, our guarantee of these
notes was $73.1. In the event our SunBelt jointwencannot make any of these payments, we woutddpgred to fund our half of such
payment. In certain other circumstances, we mayladsrequired to repay the SunBelt Notes prioh&rtmaturity. We and PolyOne have
agreed that, if we or PolyOne intend to transferregpective interests in the SunBelt joint ventumd the transferring party is unable to
obtain consent from holders of 80% of the aggrepsteipal amount of the indebtedness related ¢ogillarantee being transferred after good
faith negotiations, then we and PolyOne will beuiegd to repay our respective portions of the SuinBetes. In such event, any make whole
or similar penalties or costs will be paid by trensferring party.

DEBT
Credit Facility

On July 30, 2004, we entered into a five-year ser@eolving credit facility of $160.0, which wilbgire on July 30, 2009. At
December 31, 2005, we had $122.9 available undesémior revolving credit facility. We issued $BTetters of credit under an $80.0 letter
of credit subfacility for the purpose of supporticertain long-term debt, certain workers compengatisurance policies, and plant closure
and post-closure obligations. We may select varflmading rate borrowing options. The senior crddadility includes various customary
restrictive covenants including restrictions retete the ratio of debt to earnings before inteesgtense, taxes, depreciation and amortization
(leverage ratio) and the ratio of earnings befoterest expense, taxes, depreciation and amoatizttiinterest expense (coverage ratio).

Long-Term Debt

2005 2004
Notes payable
6.5%, due 201 $114 $ 114
7.11%, due 200 — 50.C
7.3%, due 200! — 0.¢

9.125%, due 2011 (includes interest rate swap$.@f id 2005 and $9.3 in 200 205.2 209.7
Industrial development and environmental improvehodtigations at fixed interest
rates of 6.0% to 6.75%, due 2006-2017 (includesrést rate swaps of $1.7 in

2005 and $2.9 in 200- 41.7 41.1
Total senior dek 258.% 312.%

Amounts due within one ye 1.1 52.C
Total lon¢-term debt $257.2  $260.7
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In connection with the relocation of Winchesteitsfire operations to Oxford, MS in November 200% @ompleted an industrial
development revenue bond financing of $2.9 toaditiertain state tax incentives.

As a result of our fixed-rate financings, we entieirgo floating interest rate swaps in order to agminterest expense and floating
interest rate exposure to optimal levels. We hanered swaps valued at $131.6, as disclosed belbereby we agree to pay variable rate
a counterparty who, in turn, pays us fixed ratesll cases the underlying index for variable ragebe six-month London InterBank Offered
Rate (LIBOR). Accordingly, payments are settledrg\sx months and the terms of the swaps are time s the underlying debt instrumel

The following table reflected the swap activityateld to certain debt obligations as of DecembeGQ5:

A?nvgi?\t December 31, 200
Underlying Debt Instrument Date of Swap Floating Rate
9.125%, due 201 $ 50.C December 20C 8.135%
9.125%, due 201 $ 30.C February 200 7.5- 8.5%(a)
9.125%, due 201 $ 25.C March 200. 7.5- 8.5%(a)
Industrial development and environmental improvenodtigations at fixed rates

of 6.0%-6.75% due 20C-2017 $21.1 March 200: 4.476%
$ 5.E March 200: 4.616%

(&) Actual rate is set in arrears. We project the valiefall within the range showr

We have designated the interest rate swaps asafaie hedges of the risk of changes in the valumuofixed rate debt due to changes in
interest rates, for a portion of our fixed raterbarings under SFAS No. 133. Accordingly, the ingtmate swaps have been recorded at their
fair market value of $6.9 at December 31, 2005amedncluded in Other Assets on the accompanyins@lalated Balance Sheet, with a
corresponding increase in the carrying amount ®@®tt125% Notes of $5.2 and the Industrial Envirom@elmprovement Obligations of $1
No gain or loss has been recorded as the swapstheeetiteria of SFAS No. 133 to qualify for hedmEounting treatment with r
ineffectiveness. These interest rate swaps redntest expense, resulting in an increase in piatzome of $2.9 in 2005, $5.4 in 2004, and
$6.5 in 2003, respectively. The difference betwiadgrest paid and interest received is includedreadjustment to interest expense. A
settlement of the fair market value of the interase swaps as of December 31, 2005 would resaligain of $6.9. The counterparty to these
interest rate swap contracts is a major finanaistitution. Our loss in the event of nonperformabgehe counterparty would not be
significant to our financial position or resultsagerations.

Annual maturities of long-term debt are $1.1 in@0$1.7 in 2007, $7.7 in 2008, none in 2009 and28205.2 in 2011, and a total of
$42.6 thereafter.

PENSION PLANS AND RETIREMENT BENEFITS

Almost all of our domestic defined benefit pensdans are non-contributory final-average-pay ortlenefit plans and most of our
domestic employees are covered by a defined bgrexigion plan. Our funding policy for the definezhbfit pension plans is consistent with
the requirements of federal laws and regulations.f@reign subsidiaries maintain pension and otiegrefit plans, which are consistent with
statutory practices and are not significant. Odinge benefit pension plan provides that if, wittimee years following a change of control of
Olin, any corporate action is taken or filing mal€ontemplation of, among other things, a plamteation or merger or other transfer of
assets or liabilities of the plan, and such tertidma merger or transfer thereafter takes placan pkenefits would automatically be increased
for affected participants (and retired participamdsabsorb any plan surplus (subject to applicablkective bargaining requirements).

Certain employees participate in defined contridmutplans. Our defined benefit pension plan waseclds salaried employees and
certain hourly employees hired after December 8042 These employees participate in a defined itartion pension plan which is
administered as part of the Olin Contributing Enypl® Ownership Plan (“CEOP”). We contribute a defipercentage of pay to the defined
contribution plan on behalf of each of the eligiblaployees to an individual retirement contributiBrpenses of the defined contribution
plans were $0.6, $0.5, and $0.5 for 2005, 20042888, respectively.
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We also provide certain postretirement health ¢aredical) and life insurance benefits for eligibktive and retired domestic
employees. The health care plans are contributd@typarticipants’ contributions adjusted annualsbd on medical rates of inflation and
plan experience. We use a measurement date of ecedh for the majority of our pension and postestient plans.

Obligations and Funded Status

Other
Postretirement
Pension Benefits Benefits
Change in Benefit Obligation 2005 2004 2005 2004
Benefit obligation at beginning of ye $1,598.: $1,533." $ 85.2 $82.1
Service cos 20.t 16.4 2.2 2.2
Interest cos 92.¢ 93.: 5.1 5.1
Actuarial loss 52.¢ 57.€ 8.7 115
Amendment: 10.2 1.2 (1.5 (0.4
Benefits paic (109.9) (104.0 (23.0 (15.2)
Benefit obligation at end of ye $1,665.t $1,598.: $ 86.¢ $ 85.2
Pension Benefits
Change in Plan Assets 2005 2004
Fair value of plar’ assets at beginning of ye $1,283.: $1,077.:
Actual return on plar asset: 92.€ 136.¢
Employer contribution: 12.¢ 173.2
Benefits paic (109.9) (104.0
Fair value of plar’ assets at end of ye $1,279. $1,283.:
Other
Postretirement
Pension Benefits Benefits
2005 2004 2005 2004
Funded statu $ (386.]) $ (315.0 $(86.€) $(85.9)
Unrecognized actuarial lo: 531.¢ 482.¢ 57.2 52.F
Unrecognized prior service cc 32.t 23.¢ (3.0 (2.2
Net balance sheet impe $ 178.: $ 191.¢ $(32.€) $(35.2)
Other
Postretirement
Pension Benefits Benefits
2005 2004 2005 2004
Amounts recognized in the consolidated balancetstoesist of:
Prepaid benefit co: $ 215.¢ $ 230. $ — $ —
Intangible asset in prepaid pension ¢ 32.t 27.4 — —
Accrued benefit liability in other liabilitie (556.9 (505.9) (32.6) (35.2)
Accumulated other comprehensive I 486.¢ 439.( — —
Net balance sheet impe $ 178.: $ 191.¢ $(32.€) $(35.2)

The $52.9 actuarial loss for 2005 was primarily ibsult of the 25-basis point decrease in the discrate used to calculate the benefit

obligation ($48.0). The benefit obligation for ardements in 2005 was due to contractual benefit chang
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At December 31, 2005 and 2004, the benefit obbgatif non-qualified pension plans was $62.7 and&6&@spectively, and is included
in the above pension benefit obligation. Thererar@lan assets for these non-qualified pensionspRanefit payments for the qualified plans
are projected to be as follows: 2006 and 2007—$2888—%$99.1; 2009—%$100.8; and 2010—$102.7. Bepefjments for the noqualified

Pension Plans with an Accumulated Benefit Obligatian Excess of Plan Asse

Projected benefit obligatic
Accumulated benefit obligatic
Fair value of plan asse

Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost

Service cos

Interest cos

Expected return on pla’ assets
Amortization of prior service co:
Recognized actuarial lo:
Curtailment

Net periodic benefit cos

Additional Information

Increase in minimum liability included in
other comprehensive loss (pret

Pension Benefits

pension plans are expected to be as follows: 2006-4$2007—$4.7; 2008—%$4.4; 2009—%$4.3; and 2010-2-$4.

December 31,

2005 2004

$1,665.!
$1,615.¢
$1,279.

$1,598.:
$1,553.
$1,283.:

Other
Postretirement
Benefits

Plan Assumption:

2005 2004 2003 2005 2004 2003
$ 205 $ 164 $ 16€ $22 $22 $1€
92.¢ 93.: 93.c 51 51 5.2
(1157 (118.0 (1119 — — @ —
4.7 5.C 2 - = —
23.€ 14.C 1.5 31 25 2C
— 1.2 — - - =
$ 262 $ 11.¢ $ 52 $104 $9.E $8.8
$ 476 $ 38& $ 32

Certain actuarial assumptions, such as discouatarad long-term rate of return on plan assets haignificant effect on the amounts

reported for net periodic benefit cost and acchuexkfit obligation amounts.

Weighted Average Assumptions:

Discount rat—periodic benefit cos

Expected return on asst

Rate of compensation incree
Discount rat—benefit obligatior

Pension Benefits

Other
Postretirement Benefits

2005 2004 2003 2005 2004 2003

6.0% 6.25% 6.7% 6.0(% 6.258% 6.7%
9% 9.C% 9.(% N/A N/A N/A
33% 3.3% 45% N/A N/A N/A

57% 6.0(% 6.252% 5.79% 6.0(% 6.25%

The discount rate is based on a hypothetical yialgle represented by a series of annualized ingidero-coupon bond spot rates for
maturities ranging from one-half to thirty yearfieTbonds used in the yield curve must have a rafifgA or better per Standard & Posr’be
non-callable, and have at least $150 par outstgndine yield curve is then applied to the projediedefit payments from the plan. Based on
these bonds and the projected benefit paymentnssrgthe single rate that produces the same yielldeamatching bond portfolio, rounded to

the nearest quarter point, is used as the discatmt

The long-term expected rate of return on plan agegtresents an estimate of the long-term ratetofn's on the investment portfolio
consisting of equities, fixed income, and altenathvestments. We use long-term historical aatetalrn information, the allocation mix of
investments that comprise plan assets, and forestistates of long-term investment returns by eafee to external sources. The historic rate
of return on plan assets has been 6.2% for th&lgsars, 9.1% for the last 10 years, and 11.6%hfast 15 years. The following rates of
return by asset class were considered in settimdptig-term rate of return assumption:

U.S. equities

Non-U.S. equities
Fixed income
Alternative investment
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We review external data and our own internal tréndéiealthcare costs to determine the healthaasefor the post retirement benefit
obligation. The assumed healthcare cost trend fatgee-65 retirees was as follows:

Other
Postretirement
Benefits
2005 2004
Healthcare cost trend rate assumed for next 9.C% 9.C%
Rate that the cost trend rate gradually decline 4.5% 4.5%
Year that the rate reaches the ultimate 2011 201cC

For post-65 retirees, we provide a fixed dollardfgnwhich is not subject to escalation.

Assumed healthcare cost trend rates have an effieittte amounts reported for the healthcare plammedpercentage-point change in
assumed healthcare cost trend rates would havieltbeing effects:

One- One-
Percentage Percentage
Point Point
Increase Decrease
Effect on total of service and interest cc $ 04 $ (0.9
Effect on postretirement benefit obligati 4.7 (3.9

Plan Assets
Our pension plan asset allocation at December @15 2nd 2004, by asset class is as follows:

Percentage of Plan Assets

2005 2004
Asset Clas
U.S. Equities 39% 43%
Non-U.S. Equities 19 18
Total Equities 58 61
Fixed Income/Cas 27 25
Alternative Investment 15 14
Total 10C% 10(%

The Alternative Investments asset class includalsestate partnerships, strategic partnershipgateriequity investments, commodities,
and absolute return funds. The Alternative Investinatass is intended to help minimize risk and éase returns by utilizing a broader group
of assets.

A master trust was established by our pension fglatcumulate funds required to meet benefit paysnefhour plan and is administel
solely in the interest of our plan’s participantsldaheir beneficiaries. The master trastivestment horizon is long term. Its assets aprage
by professional investment managers or investgaafessionally managed investment vehicles.

The master trust’s investment objective is to mazénthe long-term total rate of return on assethiwithe limits of applicable fiduciary
standards dictated by the Employee Retirement lecBaturity Act of 1974, as amended. Risk is managetiversifying assets across asset
classes whose return patterns are not highly ede)| investing in passively and actively manadedegies and in value and growth styles,
and by periodic rebalancing of asset classesggirs and investment styles to objectively settarg
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The following target allocation and ranges haventssd for each asset class:

Target Allocation Target Range

Asset Clas

U.S. Equities 40% 37-43%

Non-U.S. Equities 17 15-19
Total Equities 57 52-62

Fixed Income/Cas 30 22-38

Alternative Investment 13 10-16

Ranges recognize the tendency of trends to pensisare designed to minimize transactions costsded with rebalancing. Asset
class target allocations are reviewed periodicatigt adjusted as appropriate.

For our qualified pension plans, no mandatory ébutions will be required until 2008. We may elezimake selective voluntary
contributions, when appropriate, between now ar@B2We expect to make payments of $9.0 for eatheohext five years under the
provisions of our other postretirement benefit plan

INCOME TAXES

Components of Pretax Income

Domestic
Foreign

Income from continuing operations before taxes@nmdulative effect of

accounting chang

Components of Income Tax Provision (Benefit)

Currently payable
Federal
State
Foreign

Deferred

Income tax provisiol

2005 2004 2003
$219.1 $74<¢  $1€
6.5 4.3 2.4
$2256 $79.2  $4C
$ 216 $(2729 $—
6.6 46  2C
1.9 1.6 1.6
302 (309 3.6
556 587 @ —
$85¢ $28F $3¢€

The following table accounts for the differencevin the actual tax provision and the amounts ioédaby applying the statutory U.S.

federal income tax rate of 35% to the income framtinuing operations before taxes.

Effective Tax Rate Reconciliation (Percer

Statutory federal tax ra

Foreign rate differentic

Domestic manufacturing/export tax incent
Compan-owned life insurance prograr
Dividends paid to ESO

State income taxes, n

Non-deductible portion of restructuring chai
Change in valuation allowan:

Equity income of foreign affiliate

Foreign dividenc

Change in tax contingenci

Other, ne

Effective tax rate
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2005 2004 2003
35.C 35.( 35
0.1 — 341
©07n — (7.7
— — (42
(0.5 (1.5 (18.9)
3.7 3£ 17.¢
—  — 154
— — 82
(0.1) (0.5 (6.9
— 13 —
09 (B0 —
0.1 0¢ 29
38.1 358 76.E



Components of Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities 2005 2004

Deferred tax asset

Pension and postretirement bene $129.¢ $115.¢
Environmental reserve 31.2 35.2
Accrued liabilities 68.1 58.4
Tax credits 7.3 13.F
Federal and state net operating los 20.C 61.1
Other miscellaneous iten 10.1 9.7
Total deferred tax asse 266.5 293.:
Valuation allowanct (8.0 (20.0
Net deferred tax asse 258.F 283.:
Deferred tax liabilities
Property, plant and equipme 73.5 79.4
Capital loss 71.5 68.C
Inventory and prepaic 6.8 1.3
Partnership: 10.¢ 12.2
Other miscellaneous iten 12.€ 7.8
Total deferred tax liabilitie 175.1 168.¢
Net deferred tax ass $ 83.4 $114.5

As described under the accounting policy on astgement obligations, in 2003 we recorded a $2%€rtax charge for the adoption
SFAS No. 143. The pretax charge was $41.5 andelaged tax benefit was $16.1. In 2005, we recoed86.4 after-tax charge for the
adoption of FIN No. 47. The pretax charge was $h0dthe related tax benefit was $4.1. These tdtecharges were recorded as the
cumulative effect of accounting change in the Ctidated Statements of Operations.

The deferred tax provision for 2004 and 2003 da#geflect the tax effect of $0.8 in 2004 and $R.2003 resulting from hedging
activity under SFAS No. 133. For the year 2005,£280d 2003, the deferred tax provision does nt¢ae$18.6, $15.1, and $12.7,
respectively, resulting from additional minimum p&m liability adjustment required by SFAS No. 87.

Realization of the net deferred tax assets is dim#ron future reversals of existing taxable terapodifferences and adequate future
taxable income, exclusive of reversing temporaffeténces and carryforwards. Although realizat®nat assured, we believe that it is more
likely than not that the net deferred tax asselishgirealized.

At December 31, 2005, we had deferred tax beneffigi 5.6 that are available to offset future coiusted taxable income and expire
from 2018 to 2024. We believe that it is more lk&ian not that these deferred tax benefits wilhbailable to reduce future income tax
liabilities based upon estimated future taxabl®me and the reversal of temporary differencesturéuperiods.

At December 31, 2004, we had deferred tax beneffi§3.8 relating to capital loss carryforwards 8f&remaining from our acquisition
of Chase that were available to offset future cbdated capital gains. As the valuation allowan@swestablished at acquisition through
purchase accounting, any subsequent recognititireaix benefit of such capital loss utilizatiordlwe a reduction to the goodwill associated
with the Chase acquisition. In 2005, we disposeckofain assets which generated capital gainstahen the capital gains was offset by the
remaining capital loss carryforwards acquired wlith Chase business. The utilization of these lasyforwards resulted in a $3.8 reduction
in the goodwill recorded as part of the Chase asitijom.

At December 31, 2004, we had tax credit carryfodsaf $10.3, which have been fully utilized to reewur 2005 regular income tax
liability.

At December 31, 2005, we had federal tax benefi& @S relating to foreign tax credit carryforward@ie to uncertainties regarding the
realization of the tax benefits, a valuation alloea of $4.5 has been applied against the defeaseldenefits at December 31, 2005.
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At December 31, 2005, we had deferred state tagflief $4.4 relating to state net operating lossyforwards of $112.4, which are
available to offset future state taxable incometigh 2022. Due to uncertainties regarding reabpatif the tax benefits, a valuation allowa
of $3.5 has been applied against the deferred tstateenefits at December 31, 2005.

At December 31, 2005, our current income taxes lpayaf $23.4 includes other deferred tax liabititef $2.9.

At December 31, 2005, our share of the cumulativdisiributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries wa3.8. No provision has been me
for U.S. or additional foreign taxes on the undlistted earnings of foreign subsidiaries since werid to continue to reinvest indefinitely
these earnings. Foreign tax credits would be avlailep substantially reduce or eliminate any amadistdditional U.S. tax that might be
payable on these foreign earnings in the eventistriiloution or sale.

In 2003, we were accepted to participate in the dBHement initiative pertaining to tax issuesiredl to our benefits liability
management company. In addition, we settled wighlRS relative to our COLI program. In the thircagier of 2004, a final settlement
agreement was reached with the IRS on these atadrcether outstanding issues related to tax awdiering the 1992 through 2000 tax
years. In connection with these settlements, weenpayments in the second quarter of 2004 of $4&8se payments resolved all open is
regarding our benefits liability management compang our COLI program. These tax issues had bexmded as a liability prior to 2002.
the third quarter of 2004, the income tax provisiteluded a $2.3 reduction in income tax expensea@ated with the finalization, in the third
quarter of 2004, of the settlement of certain issedated to income tax audits for the years 188@ugh 2000.

During 2005, the IRS substantially completed itdiaaf our federal income tax return for the ye2091 and 2002. We are currently
contesting various issues before the Appeals minisif the IRS with respect to the years 1996 thina2@02. Depending on the outcome of
these audits, we may be required to pay additienas, and any additional taxes and related irtteoedd be substantial. We have reserved
amounts which we believe will be sufficient for amyverse outcome. The timing of any such paymsniscertain.

The American Jobs Creation Act (AJCA), signed iatw in October 2004, makes a number of changdsetintome tax laws which w
affect us in future years. The most significantrdeafor us is a new deduction for qualifying dorigegtoduction activity, which replaces the
current extraterritorial income exclusion. As autesf AJCA, we expect a modest decline in our effe tax rate as the qualifying domestic
production activity deduction is phased in over ite&t six years.

ACCRUED LIABILITIES
Included in accrued liabilities are the followirtgms:

2005 2004
Accrued compensation and payroll ta $ 382z $37.¢
Environmental (current portion onl 28.C 28.C
Accrued employee benefi 21.¢ 17.€
Workers compensatic 20.t 19.2
Legal and professional cos 20.€ 13.€
Other 35.€ 35.1

$165.«4  $151.t

CONTRIBUTING EMPLOYEE OWNERSHIP PLAN

The Contributing Employee Ownership Plan (CEOR) defined contribution plan available to esserntiall domestic employees.
Through October 16, 2003, we matched eligible egg#acontributions in the form of Olin common stoEkective October 17, 2003,
company matching contributions are invested instimae investment allocation as the employee’s darttan. Effective January 1, 2003, we
suspended the match on most salaried employeesilmaions. The matching contributions were re-astl for salaried employees beginning
January 2005, contingent upon our financial perforoe. During 2005, a performance match was eaf@dmatching contributions for
eligible employees amounted to $7.2 in 2005 anfé 22004 and 2003.
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Employees become vested in the value of the caniois we make to the CEOP according to a schdzhded on service. After two
years of service, participants are 25% vested. Tiesyin increments of 25% for each additional yaat after five years of service, they
100% vested in the value of the contributions Wathave made to their accounts.

Employees may transfer any or all of the valuehefinvestments, including Olin common stock, to ang or combination of
investments available in the CEOP. Employees nasfer balances daily and may elect to transfepangentage of the balance in the fund
from which the transfer is made. However, whendfaming out of a fund, employees are prohibitexifitrading out of the fund to which the
transfer was made for seven calendar days. Thitation does not apply to trades into the ACI PramiMoney Market Fund or the Olin
Common Stock Fund.

STOCK OPTIONS

Under the stock option and long-term incentive plaptions may be granted to purchase shares afomumon stock at not less than
fair market value at the date of grant, and arecis@ble for a period not exceeding ten years filoah date. Options granted under the 1996
Stock Option Plan and the 2003, 2000, and the 1888 Term Incentive Plans vest over three year20Bb, two forms of long-term
incentive awards were given, stock options repr@sgione-half of the aggregate value of the lomgitancentive award opportunity, and
performance share awards making up the otherTiadf.option price was set at the fair market valueoonmon stock on the date of the grant,
and the options have a ten-year term. The othéoh#he individual long term incentive award takhs form of performance shares. At the
end of a three-year performance cycle, participegisive a performance share award denominatdthies of our stock, paid half in shares
and half in cash, based on Olin’s average annuainmen capital in relation to the average annatlrn on capital among the S&P Materials
1000 plus six companies that compete with Olin.

In 2000, a one-time grant of Performance Acceleratesting Stock Options was granted with an exerprice of $18.97, which
represented fair value. Options for 918,775 sharye outstanding at December 31, 2005. These aptiave a term of 120 months and vest
in 119 months, and can vest early, but only ifgteek price increases to $28 per share or moréfatays in any 30 calendar day period.

Stock option transactions are as follows:

Exercisable

Weighted Averag

Option Price Option Price Weighted Averag:

Shares Per Share Per Share Options Exercise Price

Outstanding at January 1, 20 6,889,81 $ 6.25- $33.8¢ $ 19.7:
Granted 761,00( 15.35- 17.3¢ 15.3¢
Exercisec (444,609 6.25—- 17.7( 12.4C
Cancelec (120,88) 13.34- 28.0¢ 23.0z

Outstanding at December 31, 2( 7,085,32! 6.25— 33.8¢ 19.61 4,833,66! $ 20.8¢
Granted 677,90( 18.5: 18.52
Exercisec (744,12) 6.25—- 18.9i 14.4:
Cancelec (137,009 10.42— 28.0¢ 23.1

Outstanding at December 31, 2( 6,882,10! 6.25— 33.8¢ 20.0¢ 4,583,85! $ 21.1¢
Granted 587,52! 23.7¢ 23.7¢
Exercisec (509,08%) 11.72— 22.6¢€ 16.8¢
Cancelec (466,457 12.22— 28.0¢ 18.6¢€

Outstanding at December 31, 2( 6,494,09: $ 6.25- $33.8¢ $ 20.7¢ 4,672,64. $ 21.0¢
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At December 31, 2005 and 2004, the average exqueised for all outstanding options was 48 monthd 86 months, respectively. The
following table provides certain information witbspect to stock options exercisable at Decembe2B15:

Range of Stock Options Weighted Average Weighted Average
Exercise Prices Exercisable Exercise Price Options Outstanding Exercise Price
Under $18.0( 1,189,06¢ $15.65 1,358,254 $15.62
$18.00- $24.00 1,401,83¢ $18.93 3,054,10C $19.75
Over $24.0( 2,081,73¢ $25.54 2,081,73¢ $25.54
4,672,644 6,494,09:

At December 31, 2005, common shares reserveddoaige and available for grant or purchase unéefiottowing plans consisted of:

Number of Shares

Reserved

for Issuance Available for
Stock Option Plans Grant or Purchase
1996 Stock Option Pla 2,981,341 7,20¢
2000 Long Term Incentive Pl: 1,856,42. 627,32(
2003 Long Term Incentive Ple 1,683,99! 678,67.

6,521,76: 1,313,19®
1988 Stock Option Plan (plan expire 196,83! —
1991 Long Term Incentive Plan (plan expir 721,27" —
Chase Benefit Plans (assumed in acquisi 172,63: —
Options Available for only Arch Chemicals Employ:t 547,12: —

1,637,86! —

Total under stock option plau 8,159,62 1,313,19

Number of Shares

Reserved
for Issuance Available for
Stock Purchase Plan Grant or Purchase
1997 Stock Plan for N-employee Director 425,98: 291,48t
Employee Deferral Pla 52,79: 46,18¢
Monarch Brass & Copper Corp. Deferral P 500,00( 500,00t
Total under stock purchase ple 978,77: 837,67

(1) All available to be issued as stock optidng,includes a sub-limit for all types of stockaxds of
845,387 share!

Under the stock purchase plans, our employeesreenmployee directors may defer certain elementheif compensation, and former
employees of Monarch may periodically transfer amiswf their compensation deferred at the time egpimed Monarch into shares of our
common stock based on fair market value of theeshat the time of deferral. Non-employee directomsually receive stock grants as a
portion of their director compensation. Of the glsareserved under the stock purchase plans at ece&h, 2005, 141,099 shares were
committed.

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

During 2005 and 2004, we issued 770,713 and 793%#@Bs of common stock, respectively, with a teafle of $15.3 and $14.3,
respectively, to the Contributing Employee Owngrdplian. These shares were issued to satisfy tlestiment in our common stock resulting
from employee contributions, our matching contiibitand re-invested dividends.

There were no share repurchases in 2005, 200£G08 Under programs previously approved by ourdoédirectors, 154,076 sha
remained to be repurchased as of December 31, 2005.
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At December 31, 2005, we had $220 registered gexidvailable for issuance with the Securities Brchange Commission, whereby
from time to time, we may issue debt securitiesf@ared stock and/or common stock, and associasehnts.

In February 2004, we issued and sold 10 milliorreshaf common stock at a public offering price ®88 90 per share. Net proceeds
from the sale were $177.8.

Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) included an limeshgain on marketable securities in 2005 andd28d unrealized gains and
losses, net of tax on hedging transactions. Thealigzed gains (losses) were reported in Other Cehmrsive Loss, net of reclassification
adjustments, and were not significant to our finalnesults or financial position for the periodegented. The following represents the
reclassification adjustments included in Other Coghpnsive Income (LosS).

2005 2004 2003
Unrealized gains (losse:
Marketable securitie $02 $01 $—
Hedging transactior 0.4 — 4.8

0.€ 0.1 4.8

Reclassification adjustment
Marketable securitie (0.2

Hedging transactior (4.8 =
0.2 (4.8 —
Net unrealized gain (los $0.4 $4.7) $4.8

SHAREHOLDERS'’ RIGHTS PLAN

Pursuant to a Rights Agreement, dated as of Fep@¥ar1996, one Right was associated with eactestfasur common stock. Each
Right entitled a shareholder (other than the aeguto buy one-five-hundredth share of Series Ai€ipating Cumulative Preferred Stock at
an exercise price of $120. The Rights were exdrtasanly if a person or group acquires more tha¥h 1 our common stock or, if and as of
such date as our board of directors so determiokkswing the commencement of a tender or exchaftgr to acquire more than 15% of our
common stock. If any person or group acquired ntlwae@ 15% of our common stock and in the eventftessequent merger or combination
or similar transaction with the acquirer or a rethparty, each Right entitled the holder (othentthee acquirer) to purchase stock or other
property of the acquirer or such related party hgw value of twice the exercise price. The Righdse redeemable at $0.005 per Right for a
certain period of time. The Rights expired on Fabyl27, 2006.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

We define segment income as income (loss) befoeeeist expense, interest income, other incomeirauane taxes, and include the
results of non-consolidated affiliates. Consisteitih the guidance in SFAS 131, “Disclosures abagr8ents of an Enterprise and Related
Information,” we have determined it is approprigténclude the operating results of non-consolidatiliates in the relevant segment
financial results. Our management considers thé&8kaiChlor Alkali Partnership to be an integral qmnent of the Chlor Alkali Products
segment and Yamaha-Olin Metal Corporation to bisegral component of the Metals segment. Eacleagaged in the same business
activity as the segment, including joint or ovegdaqg marketing, management, manufacturing and t@olgy development functions. Inter-
segment sales of $47.7, $37.3 and $35.9 for thies @895, 2004 and 2003, respectively, represetitiegale of ammunition cartridge cups to
Winchester from Metals, at prices that approxinmgeket, have been eliminated from Metals segmdessa

2005 2004 2003
Sales:
Chlor Alkali Products $ 610. $ 448.C $ 399.t
Metals 1,402. 1,230.: 854.€
Winchestel 344.¢ 318.t 303.1
Total sales $2,357.7 $1,996.¢ $1,557.:
Income from continuing operations before taxes andumulative effect of accounting change
Chlor Alkali Products $ 237.( $ 83 $ 62.¢
Metals 34.C 50.t 9.1
Winchestel 7.8 21.¢ 21.€
Corporate/Othe (61.9) (58.9) (42.9
Restructuring Charge 0.3 (9.6) (30.9
Other Operating Incom 9.1 5.5 —
Interest Expens (19.9 (20.2) (20.2)
Interest Incom: 18.c 1.9 1.3
Other Income 1kt 4.t 2.€
Income from continuing operations before taxes@nmdulative effect of accounting chan $ 225.¢ $ 79.C $ 4C
Earnings of nor-consolidated affiliates
Chlor Alkali Products $ 37.¢ $ ocC $ 6F
Metals 0.7 1.1 1.3
Total earnings of nc-consolidated affiliate $ 38:E $ 10.1 $ 7.8
Depreciation and amortization expense:
Chlor Alkali Products $ 25z $ 23.¢ $ 28.¢
Metals 37.2 38.¢ 40.7
Winchestel 8.2 8.2 9.4
Corporate/Othe 1.7 2.4 2.2
Total depreciation and amortization expe $ 72¢F $ 73: $ 80.¢
Capital spending:
Chlor Alkali Products $ 48F $ 28.¢ $ 26.t
Metals 18.7 17.5 21t
Winchestel 12.€ 8.€ 4.7
Corporate/Othe 1.2 0.4 1.€
Total capital spendin $ 81. $ b55.1 $ b54.:
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2005 2004

Assets:
Chlor Alkali Products $ 255.¢ $ 215.F
Metals 712.: 711.1
Winchestel 161.C 154.]
Corporate/Othe 668.: 537.2
Total asset $1,797.. $1,617.¢

Investments—affiliated companies (at equity):

Chlor Alkali Products $ (149 $ (21.9
Metals 11.2 12.2
Total investmen—affiliated companies (at equit $ (39 $ (9.9

Segment assets include only those assets whidtiraaly identifiable to an operating segment anchdt include such items as cash,
deferred taxes and other assets. All goodwill, Widcassociated with its acquisitions, is includethe assets of the Metals segment. Asse
the Corporate/Other segment includes primarily steths as cash and cash equivalents, deferred, fasegsaid pension costs, and other
assets.

Geographic Data: 2005 2004 2003
Sales
United State: $2,273.t $1,916.¢ $1,506.¢
Foreign 84.2 80.2 50.4
Transfers between are:
United State! 41.C 33.¢ 26.%
Foreign 1.2 0.t 0.¢
Eliminations (42.2) (34.9 (27.2)
Total sales $2,357.% $1,996.¢ $1,557.:
Assets
United State: $1,718.t $1,546.¢
Foreign 67.5 59.2
Investment: 11.2 12.2
Total assets $1,797.: $1,617.¢

Transfers between geographic areas are pricedajgnatr prevailing market prices. Export sales fritva United States to unaffiliated
customers were $77.4, $74.3, and $65.8 in 2005} 26@ 2003, respectively.

ACQUISITIONS

In November 2004, we acquired certain assets oaMrdils LLC for $3.2. Metal Foils was a distributaf aluminum, stainless steel, ¢
copper products and was located in Willoughby, @Okt acquisition has been accounted for using thehase method of accounting and has
been included in the Metals segment. As part oftfreement, we could have additional considerggayments through 2009, which are
contingent on shipments of aluminum products teijsally identified customers and are not guaradte

The following table includes the estimated fairueabf the assets acquired and the liabilities assuamh the dates of acquisition. Based
on valuations done at the acquisition date of MEtdls’ assets, $1.2 was assigned to goodwill, tvliscnot subject to amortization.

Supplemental cash flow information on the Metall§atquisition is as follows:

2004
Working capital $1.€
Property, plant and equipme 0.4
Goodwill 1.2
Net assets acquire $3.2
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RESTRUCTURING CHARGES

On January 29, 2004, we announced that our boatdeftors approved plans to relocate our corpartiees for organizational,
strategic and economic reasons. By the end ofeéhe, yve had completed the relocation of a portfomuo corporate services personnel from
Norwalk, CT to our Main Office Building in East Alh, IL. We also established our new corporate hgaders in Clayton, which is in £
Louis County, MO, for logistical and other reasofise relocation of the corporate offices was accamgd by a downsized corporate
structure more appropriate for us in today’s corntipetbusiness environment. The headquarters rétaas completed by the end of 2004.
As a result of the relocation, we incurred cost$HJ.1 in 2004, and incurred an additional $0.8asts in 2005. This restructuring charge
included primarily employee severance and relatkeht costs, relocation expense, pension curtaitragpense and the incurred cost for
outplacement services for all effected employeés. Sale of the Indianapolis facility in Novembef2@esulted in a reduction of a previou
established reserve related to our Indianapoltsuetsiring of $0.5, which reduced the total 200gtmecturing charge to $9.6.

In the first quarter of 2003, we made a decisioalése our manufacturing plant in Indianapolis, The Indianapolis facility ceased
operations on February 14, 2003. The plant manufedtcopper and copper alloy sheet and strip ptedardd employed approximately 200
people. Production at the Indianapolis strip mélsbeen consolidated within our East Alton, IL liaciWhile the Indianapolis strip mill had
been an important part of the Metals segment sta@equisition in 1988, reduced domestic consuompdif strip products combined with the
capacity additions at East Alton lessened the beethintain the Indianapolis production base. Asslt of this closure and certain other
actions, we recorded in the first quarter of 20@8etax restructuring charge of $29.0. In additwa,recorded in the fourth quarter of 2003, a
pretax restructuring charge of $1.8 primarily floe tvrite down of certain non-U.S. assets, nettel areduction of a previously established
reserve related to our Indianapolis restructurindNovember 2004, we sold the Indianapolis facility

The major portion of the 2003 restructuring changas a non-cash charge of $25.4 related to theolwslsposal or write-off of
equipment and facilities, and goodwill. The balantthe restructuring charges related to severandgob-related benefit costs. At the
Indianapolis facility, approximately 190 employeesre terminated, while nine employees were trarsfigio the East Alton facility. In
addition to the closing of the Indianapolis fagilithe Metals segment had determined that furtbst eductions were necessary due to
continuing depressed economic conditions. Approiefgeb5 employees were terminated to reduce headdbrough a combination of a
reduction-in-force program in Metals and the retmraof the segment’'s New Haven, Connecticut metdearch laboratory activities to two
existing manufacturing locations.

The following table summarizes the major componeftse 2005, 2004, and 2003 charges and the rémgaialances as of
December 31, 2005:

2004 Accrued
Restructuring Amounts Restructuring
Charge Utilized Costs
Employee severance and job related ben $ 8.1 $ (6.9 $ 1.3
Pension curtailmer 1.2 1.2 —
Relocation and outplacement servi 1.1 (1.7 —
$ 10.4 $ (9.9 $ 1.3
2003 Accrued
Restructuring Amounts Restructuring
Charge Utilized Costs
Write-off of assets (including $2.4 of goodwi $ 24.1 $ (23.]) $ 1.C
Employee severance and job related ben 6.2 (6.2 —
$ 30.3 $(29.9) $ 1.C

The majority of the remaining balance of $1.3 ahd%f the 2004 and 2003 restructuring chargepeiely, are expected to be paid
out in 2006.
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DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

On June 11, 2004, we sold our Olin Aegis busine$$GC Industries, Inc. The company received pros@&17.1, which resulted in a
pretax gain on the sale of $5.8 (net of taxes 3T he disposal of the assets and operationdinfA®gis represented the disposal of a
component of an entity within our Metals businesgnsent. Consequently, the financial data relatedlito Aegis is classified in the
consolidated financial statements as a discontimpedation for all periods presented.

The operating results of discontinued operationevas follows:

2004 2003
Net sales $12.2  $28.€
Income from operations before ta> 0.8 1.t
Gain on sale of discontinued operatit 5.E —
Income before taxe 6.€ 15
Income tax provisiol 2.t 0.€
Net income $41 $0.¢

ENVIRONMENTAL

The establishment and implementation of federatesind local standards to regulate air, watedamdiquality has affected and will
continue to affect substantially all of our manufaing locations. Federal legislation providing fegulation of the manufacture,
transportation, use and disposal of hazardousaid substances, and remediation of contaminated,dias imposed additional regulatory
requirements on industry, particularly the chensi¢gatiustry. In addition, implementation of enviroemtal laws, such as the Resource
Conservation and Recovery Act and the Clean Air, Aas required and will continue to require newitadgxpenditures and will increase
plant operating costs. We employ waste minimizagind pollution prevention programs at our manufactusites.

We are party to various governmental and privatérenmental actions associated with past manufamacilities and former waste
disposal sites. Associated costs of investigatad/remedial activities are provided for in accoawith generally accepted accounting
principles governing probability and the abilityreasonably estimate future costs. Our abilitystingate future costs depends on whether our
investigatory and remedial activities are in préfiany or advanced stages. With respect to unaskeldans, we accrue liabilities for costs
that, in our experience, we may incur to protectioterests against those unasserted claims. @uued liabilities for unasserted claims
amounted to $2.1 at December 31, 2005. With regpexdserted claims, we accrue liabilities baseteoredial investigation, feasibility stu
remedial action and Operation, Maintenance and Madng (OM&M) expenses that, in our experience,magy incur in connection with the
asserted claims. Required site OM&M expenses dima®gd and accrued in their entirety for requipediods not exceeding 30 years, which
reasonably approximates the typical duration ofjtarm site OM&M. Charges or credits to incomeiforestigatory and remedial efforts
were material to operating results in 2005, 2004, 2003 and may be material to net income in fuyas. In 2005, the credit to income for
investigatory and remedial activities was $15.8icllincludes $38.5 of recoveries from third partiésosts incurred and expensed in prior
periods. Without these recoveries, charges to ircfaninvestigatory and remedial activities woult/e been $22.7 in 2005 and were $23.4
and $19.6 in 2004 and 2003, respectively. Thesggebaelate primarily to remedial and investigatacyivities associated with past
manufacturing operations and former waste dispsitzs.

Our estimated environmental liability at the en®065 was attributable to 59 sites, 15 of whichewmd SEPA National Priority List
(NPL) sites. Ten sites accounted for 77% of sughility and, of the remaining 49 sites, no one aiteounted for more than 2% of our
environmental liability. At one of these ten sitagemedial plan has been submitted by us and ar&e¢ Decision (ROD) or its equivalent
has not been issued. At five of the ten sites, @iatte site is subject to a remedial investigatiod another part is in the long-term OM&M
stage. The four remaining sites are in long-term&/M All ten sites are either associated with pasimfacturing operations or former waste
disposal sites. None of the ten largest sites semts more than 15% of the liabilities reservedwnconsolidated balance sheet at
December 31, 2005 for future environmental expenes.
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Our consolidated balance sheets included liatslitie future environmental expenditures to investggand remediate known sites
amounting to $102.9 at December 31, 2005, and $&&cember 31, 2004, of which $74.9 and $71.&wkassified as other noncurrent
liabilities, respectively. Those amounts did nddtinto account any discounting of future experréuor any consideration of insurance
recoveries or advances in technology. Those lislare reassessed periodically to determinevifemmental circumstances have changed
and/or remediation efforts and our estimate ofteelaosts have changed. As a result of these s=aBsats, future charges to income may be
made for additional liabilities. Of the $102.9 inded on our consolidated balance sheet at Dece®ih@005 for future environmental
expenditures, we currently expect to utilize $7df.the reserve for future environmental expendgureer the next 5 years, $10.7 for
expenditures 6 to 10 years in the future, and $&0.Bxpenditures beyond 10 years in the future.

Annual environmental-related cash outlays for isitestigation and remediation are expected to rdege@een approximately $25.0 to
$30.0 over the next several years, which are eggdotbe charged against reserves recorded oratande sheet. While we do not anticipate
a material increase in the projected annual lezelio environmental-related cash outlays, theavsys the possibility that such increases
may occur in the future in view of the uncertaistaéssociated with environmental exposures. Enviestiat exposures are difficult to assess
for numerous reasons, including the identificatibmew sites, developments at sites resulting firorestigatory studies, advances in
technology, changes in environmental laws and egiguls and their application, the scarcity of tdiadata pertaining to identified sites, the
difficulty in assessing the involvement and finah@apability of other PRPs and our ability to dbtontributions from other parties and the
lengthy time periods over which site remediationuws. It is possible that some of these matteesdtitcomes of which are subject to various
uncertainties) may be resolved unfavorably to usckvcould materially adversely affect our finagiasition or results of operations. At
December 31, 2005, we estimate we may have additammtingent environmental liabilities of $50.0addition to the amounts for which we
have already recorded as a reserve.

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

We lease certain properties, such as railroad datsibution, warehousing and office space, date@ssing and office equipment.
Virtually none of our lease agreements containlatioa clauses or step rent provisions. Total extense charged to operations amounted to
$28.2 in 2005, $28.0 in 2004 and $32.4 in 2003léade income is not significant). Future minimumt rgayments under operating leases
having initial or remaining non-cancelable leasentein excess of one year at December 31, 200&saf@lows; $27.0 in 2006; $24.5 in
2007; $20.1 in 2008; $16.1 in 2009; $19.7 in 2GiQ] a total of $48.0 thereafter.

On December 31, 1997, we entered into a long-teuffur dioxide supply agreement with Alliance Spdtyi Chemicals, Inc. (Alliance),
formerly known as RFC SQ, Inc. Alliance has the obligation to deliver aniiy86,000 tons of sulfur dioxide. Alliance ownsetbulfur

dioxide plant, which is located at our CharlestbN, facility and is operated by us. The price fae gulfur dioxide is fixed over the life of the
contract, and under the terms of the contract, \@ehligated to make a monthly payment of $0.2 nélgas of the sulfur dioxide purchased.
Commitments related to this agreement are $2.4qwarfor each year of 2006 through 2011 and $02i®2. This supply agreement expires
in 2012.

We and our subsidiaries are defendants in variegal lactions (including proceedings based on allegposures to asbestos) incidental
to our past and current business activities. Wihidebelieve that none of these legal actions wilterially adversely affect our financial
position, in light of the inherent uncertaintiestioé litigation concerning alleged exposures, wenchat this time determine whether the
financial impact, if any of these matters will baterial to our results of operations.

During the ordinary course of our business, comtitgies arise resulting from an existing condit&ityation, or set of circumstances
involving an uncertainty as to the realization gfassible gain contingency. In certain instances 1 environmental projects, we are
responsible for managing the clean-up and remediati an environmental site. There exists the |pi#tgiof recovering a portion of these
costs from other parties. We account for gain cgi@hcies in accordance with the provisions of SIN&S5, “Accounting for Contingencies”
and therefore do not record a gain contingencyraadgnize revenue until it is earned and realizaidecember 31, 2005, we have not
recorded a gain contingency in the consolidategfimal statements.
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SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

As a consequence of the ongoing cost reductiomteffio our Metals business, we have made the aecisiclose our Waterbury Rollii
Mills facility in Waterbury, CT in January 2006. éonjunction with this action, we will consoliddteese production activities into our East
Alton, IL mill. We are also considering decisiomgarding the possible restructuring or closureddiittonal facilities, along with other
overhead reductions. These decisions should be matte end of the first quarter. We intend to rdca one-time pretax charge for these
actions of approximately $25 to $30 in 2006, mdstloich will occur in the first quarter. We expehts charge to be partially offset by one-
time inventory gains associated with LIFO liquidais of approximately $10 in 2006. We believe thest®ns will generate annual cost
savings in the $9 to $12 range and the implememtaif these actions will be cash neutral in 2006.
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OTHER FINANCIAL DATA
Quarterly Data (Unaudited)

2005
Sales
Cost of goods sol
Income from continuing operations before cumulagffect of accounting chang
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net
Net income
Basic income per common sha
Income from continuing operations before cumulagffect of accounting
change
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net
Net income
Diluted income per common sha
Income from continuing operations before cumulaséffect of accounting
change, ne
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net
Net income
Common dividends per she
Market price of common stock (
High
Low
2004

Sales

Cost of goods sol

Income from continuing operatiol

Discontinued operatior

Income from discontinued operations,

Gain on disposal of discontinued operations,

Net income

Basic and diluted income per common sh
Income from continuing operatiol
Income from discontinued operations,
Gain on disposal of discontinued operations,
Net income

Common dividends per she

Market price of common stock (
High
Low

(1) Operating results in the fourth quarter of 2003uded an afte-tax cumulative charge of $6.4 for the adoption ¥ No. 47.

(2) New York Stock Exchange composite transacti
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First Second Third Fourth

Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Year
$560.¢ $593.7 $599.C $604.1 $2,357.}
473.¢ 505.5 505.4 514.C 1,998.¢
37.2 32.1 31.4 39.C 139.7
— — — (6.4) (6.4)
37.2 32.1 31.4 32.€ 133.:
0.52 0.4t 0.44 0.5¢ 1.9¢
— — — (0.09) (0.09)
0.52Z 0.4t 0.44 0.4t 1.87
0.52 0.4t 0.44 0.5¢ 1.9t
— — — (0.09) (0.09)
0.5z 0.4t 0.44 0.4t 1.8¢€
0.2C 0.2C 0.2C 0.2C 0.8C
25.3¢ 23.7¢ 20.0¢ 20.1¢ 25.3¢
20.22 17.0¢ 17.51] 16.6¢ 16.65
$482.¢ $506.F $520.1 $487.C $1,996.¢
432.1 465.2 457 .2 410.2 1,764.¢
2.8 6.€ 18.7 22.¢€ 50.7
0.1 0.t — — 0.€
— 3.3 — 0.2 3.5
2.9 10.4 18.7 22.¢ 54.¢
0.04 0.0¢ 0.27 0.32 0.74
— 0.01 — — 0.01
— 0.0t — — 0.0t
0.04 0.1t 0.27 0.3 0.8C
0.2C 0.2C 0.2C 0.2C 0.8C
20.51 18.9¢ 20.2¢ 22.9¢ 22.9¢
16.37 15.2( 15.9¢ 18.1¢ 15.2(



Item 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON AC COUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE

Not applicable.

Item 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

We maintain a system of disclosure controls andgatares designed to provide reasonable assurasicafibrmation we are required
disclose in the reports that we file or submit uritte Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amenidedcorded, processed, summarized and
reported, within the time periods specified in Séms and Exchange Commission rules and forms.r@amagement, with the participation
our chief executive officer and our chief finanaidficer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disale controls and procedures as of
December 31, 2005. Based on that evaluation, def ekecutive officer and chief financial officeave concluded that, as of such date, our
disclosure controls and procedures were effectitkeareasonable assurance level.

There have been no changes in our internal coowenl financial reporting that occurred during theader ended December 31, 2005
that have materially affected, or are reasonakbjlyjito materially affect, our internal control af@ancial reporting.

Item 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

On January 26, 2006, the Compensation Committee'@bmmittee”) of the Board of Directors of the Coamy certified the level of
achievement of the 2005 performance goals undeséméor Management Incentive Compensation Plan‘Rla”), which was re-approved
by the Company’s shareholders on April 28, 200% Tommittee authorized the payment of bonuses potsa the Plan to the Chief
Executive Officer and the next four most highly gmnsated officers in the following amounts: JosepRupp, Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer - $962,400; John L. MclIntosh, ¥ieresident and President, Chlor Alkali Producisdinn - $310,881; George H. Pain,
Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary 0,$28; John E. Fischer, Vice President and Chie@uéial Officer - $256,640; and Dennis
R. McGough, Vice President, Human Resources - 8268,

PART IlI

Item 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

We incorporate the biographical information relgtio our Directors under the heading “Item 1-Elgttdf Directors” in our Proxy
Statement relating to our 2006 Annual Meeting adrg@holders (the “Proxy Statement”) by referencthis Report. See also the list of
executive officers following Item 4 in Part | ofishReport. We incorporate the information regardingipliance with Section 16 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, cwdan the paragraph entitled “Section 16(a) BemdflOwnership Reporting Compliance
under the heading “Security Ownership of Directmmg Officers” in our Proxy Statement by referencéhis Report.

The information with respect to our audit committeeluding the audit committee financial expestincorporated by reference in this
Report to the information contained in the paragraptitled “What are the committees of the Boangrler the heading “Additional
Information Regarding the Board of Directors” inrdroxy Statement. We incorporate by referencé@igReport information regarding
procedures for shareholders to nominate a diréataglection, in the Proxy Statement under the megsd“‘Miscellaneous-How can | directly
nominate a Director for election to the Board & 2007 Annual Meeting?” and “Additional Informati®egarding the Board of Directors-
What is Olin’s Director Nomination Process?".
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We have adopted a code of business conduct anxs étiidirectors, officers and employees, knowthasCode of Business Conduct.
The Code is available in the Corporate Governaacga of the Investor section of our website atwalin.com.
ltem 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information in the Proxy Statement under thedinegs “Executive Compensation” (but excluding Rreport of the Compensation
Committee on Executive Compensation and the Pedoca Graph), “Executive Agreements,” “Retiremem&fés” and “Additional
Information Regarding the Board of Directors—How #re Directors compensated?” are incorporate@étgyence in this Report.

Item 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

We incorporate the information concerning holdinfisur common stock by certain beneficial ownenstamed under the heading
“Certain Beneficial Owners” in our Proxy Statemantl the information concerning beneficial ownersifipur common stock by our
directors and officers under the heading “Secuiynership of Directors and Officers” and the infation concerning our equity
compensation plans under the heading “Equity Comgut@am Plan Information” in our Proxy Statementréference in this Report.

Item 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

Not applicable.

Item 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

We incorporate the information concerning the aotiog fees and services of our independent regdtpublic accounting firm, KPM

LLP under the heading “ltem 3—Proposal to Ratifypamtment of Independent Registered Public AccagnBiirm” in our Proxy Statement
by reference in this Report.
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PART IV

Item 15. EXHIBITS AND CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHED ULES
(@ 1. Consolidated Financial Statement:

Consolidated financial statements of the registaaatincluded in Iltem 8 above.

2. Financial Statement Schedule

Separate consolidated financial statements of thar®0% or less owned subsidiaries accountedyfehd equity method are not
summarized herein and have been omitted becaudes aggregate, they would not constitute a sigaifi subsidiary.

Schedules not included herein are omitted becdngsedre inapplicable or not required or becausedbeired information is give
in the consolidated financial statements and nibieeto.

3. Exhibits
Management contracts and compensatory plans aagaments are listed as Exhibits 10(a) through) liow.
3 (@) Olin’s Restated Articles of Incorporation as amehd#ective May 8, 1997—Exhibit 3(a) to Olin’s Fortf-Q for the
quarter ended June 30, 200
(b) By-laws of Olin as amended effective January 27, —Exhibit 3(b) to Olirs Form &K dated December 27, 200¢
4 €)) Articles of Amendment designating Series A Partitipgy Cumulative Preferred Stock, par value $1spare—Exhibit 2
to Olin’'s Form 8-A dated February 21, 1996, covgi8eries A Participating Cumulative Preferred StBakchase
Rights.*
(b) Form of Senior Debt Indenture between Olin and dbahBank—Exhibit 4(a) to Form 8-K dated June 1992,

Supplemental Indenture dated as of March 18, 18@d4den Olin and Chemical Bank—Exhibit 4(c) to R&gison
Statement No. 352771 and Second Supplemental Indenture dated@sagimber 11, 2001 between Olin and JPMa
Chase Bank, formerly known as Chemical E—Exhibit 4 to Form -K dated December 20, 2001

(c) Credit Agreement dated as of July 30, 2004 amoig &id the banks named therein—Exhibit 4(d) to ®lform 10-Q
for the quarter ended June 30, 20(
(d) 9.125% Senior Note Due 2C—Exhibit 4(f) to Olir's Form 1K for 2001.*

We are party to a number of other instruments dejithe rights of holders of long-term debt. Nolsutstrument
authorizes an amount of securities in excess of @Dfte total assets of Olin and its subsidiariea@onsolidated basis.
Olin agrees to furnish a copy of each instrumenih&Commission upon request.

10 (a) 1988 Stock Option Plan for Key Employees of Olirfitation and Subsidiaries as amended through 3aB80a
200:—Exhibit 10(a) to Oli’'s Form 1+K for 2002.*
(b) Employee Deferral Plan as amended and restatectieffeaas of January 30, 2003—Exhibit 10(b) to Gliform 10-K
for 2002.*
(b)(1) Amendment to Employee Deferral Plan effective Jana2005.
(c) Olin Senior Executive Pension Plan amended aslpf2/y 2000 and as amended by resolutions adoptéday 27,

2005—Exhibit 10(d) to Olin’s Form 10-Q for the qtearended September 30, 2000 and Exhibit 10.2 i@<Horm 8-K
dated May 31, 2005, respectivel)

(c)(1) Amendment to Olin Senior Executive Pension Plaaatife May 27, 200t

(d) Olin Supplemental Contributing Employee OwnershagnRas amended and restated effective January0b, @@ as
amended by resolutions adopted on May 27, 2005Hixtd(d) to Olin’s Form 10-Q for the quarter endédrch 31,
2005 and Exhibit 10.2 to OI's Form K dated May 31, 2005, respectivel

(d)(@) Amendment to Olin Supplemental Contributing Emply@wvnership Plan effective May 27, 201

(e) Olin Corporation Key Executive Life Insurance Pamg—Exhibit 10(e) to Olir's Form 1+K for 2002.*

® Form of executive agreement between Olin and ceeaécutive officers dated November 1, 2002—ExHiBiff) to
Olin’s Form 1K for 2002.*

(9) Form of Notice of Intention to Terminate Executigreements with certain executives—Exhibit 10.0tm’s Form 8-
K dated August 3, 2005

(h) Form of executive agreement between Olin and cee=écutive officers-Exhibit 99.1 to Olin’s FormkBelated January
28, 2005.*

0] Form of executive change-in-control agreement betw@lin and certain executive officers-Exhibit 982lin’s Form
8-K dated January 28, 200=

()] Olin 1991 Long Term Incentive Plan, as amendeduiinaJanuary 30, 2003—Exhibit 10(g) to Olin’s For@rK. for
2002.*
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23.1
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31.2
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Amended and Restated 1997 Stock Plan for-Employee Directors as amended effective Januar2@0%.

Olin Senior Management Incentive Compensation Rlammended through January 26, 2005-Appendix@itds 2005
Proxy Statement dated March 15, 20C

Amendment to Olin Senior Management Incentive Camsption Plan effective January 1, 20

Description of Restricted Stock Unit Awards grantedlier the 2000 Long Term Incentive Plan—Exhibifmipto Olin’s
Form 1(-K for 2001.*

Description of Restricted Stock Unit Awards grantedlier the 2003 Long Term Incentive Plan—Exhibifmipto Olin’s
Form 1(-K for 2004.*

1996 Stock Option Plan for Key Employees of Olirrfizwation and Subsidiaries as amended as of JaB0aB003—
Exhibit 10(]) to Olir's Form 1+K for 2002.*

Olin Supplementary and Deferral Benefit PensiomPéestated as of February 8, 1999—Exhibit 10(€lta’s Form 10-Q
for the quarter ended March 31, 199

Olin Corporation 2000 Long Term Incentive Plan aseaded through January 30, 2003—Exhibit 10(n) ia’®Form 10-
K for 2002.*

Olin Corporation 2003 Long Term Incentive F—Exhibit 10(0) to Olirs Form 1K for 2002.*

2001 Performance Share Prog—Exhibit 10(w) to Olirs Form 1-Q for quarter ended March 31, 200

2004 Performance Share Prog—Exhibit 10(s) to Olir's Form 1-K for 2004.*

2005 Performance Share Prog—Exhibit 10(t) to Olirs Form 1K for 2004.*

2006 Performance Share Progr:

Chase Industries Inc. 1994 Long-Term Incentive Pdgramended as of May 14, 1997 and First Amendsaféattive as of
November 19, 19¢—Exhibit 10.5 to Chase Industries Inc. Form 10-K¥898 and Exhibit 10.7 to Chase Industries Inc.
Form 1(-K for 1999, respective—SEC file No. -13394.*

Chase Industries Inc. 1997 Non-Employee DirectocisOption Plan, as amended May 26, 1998 and Airsgndment
effective as of November 19, 1999—Exhibit 10.6 ta€e Industries Inc. Form 10-K for 1998 and ExHibi to Chase
Industries Inc. Form -K for 1999, respective—SEC file No. -13394.*

Form of Voluntary Employment Separation Agreemertt Release with certain executive officers-Exhiififu) to Olin’s
Form 1(-K for 2003.*

Letter Agreement with G. H. Pain dated January?2®¢-Exhibit 10(v) to Olir's Form 1-K for 2003.*

Limited Waiver of Executive Agreement ProvisiongiwG. H. Pai—Exhibit 10(z) to Olirs Form 1K for 2004.*
Summary of Stock Option Continuation Poli

Distribution Agreement between Olin Corporation @&rdh Chemicals, Inc., dated as of February 1, 39B8hibit 2.1 to
Olin’s Form &K filed February 23, 1999.

Partnership Agreement between Olin SunBelt, Ind. 8987 Chloralkali Venture Inc. dated August 2398-9-Exhibit 99.1
to Olin’s Form &K dated December 3, 2001

Amendment to Partnership Agreement between OlirB8lininc. and 1997 Chloralkali Venture Inc. da2ecember 23,
1997—Exhibit 99.2 to Olir's Form K dated December 3, 2001

Amendment to Partnership Agreement between OliB8lininc. and 1997 Chloralkali Venture Inc. daf@ecember 23,
1997—Exhibit 99.3 to Olir's Form K dated December 3, 2001

Amendment to Partnership Agreement between OliB8lininc. and 1997 Chloralkali Venture Inc. dafgatil 30, 1998—
Exhibit 99.4 to Olir's Form +K dated December 3, 2001

Amendment to Partnership Agreement between OlirB8lininc. and 1997 Chloralkali Venture Inc. dafeshuary 1,
200:—Exhibit 10(aa) to Oli's Form 1-K for 2002.*

Note Purchase Agreement dated December 22, 19¢/edethe SunBelt Chlor Alkali Partnership and thecRaser:
named there—Exhibit 99.5 to Olir's Form K dated December 3, 2001

Guarantee Agreement dated December 22, 1997 betwleeand the Purchasers named therein—Exhibit 89@lin’s
Form ¢-K dated December 3, 2001

Subordination Agreement dated December 22, 199¥dmzt Olin and the Subordinated Parties named thefekhibit 99.7
to Olin’s Form &K dated December 3, 2001

Computation of Per Share Earnings (included ilNbe&e—"“Earnings Per Share” to Notes to Consolid&tieancial
Statements in Item 8

Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges(idited)

List of Subsidiaries

Consent of KPMG LLP

Section 302 Certification Statement of Chief ExaeuOfficer.

Section 302 Certification Statement of Chief Firiah©fficer.

Section 906 Certification Statement of Chief ExamOfficer and Chief Financial Office

* Previously filed as indicated and incorporated imelg reference. Exhibits incorporated by refereaelocated in SEC file No. 1-
1070 unless otherwise indicatt

Any of the foregoing exhibits are available frone tBompany by writing to: Mr. George H. Pain, Viaestdent, General Counsel and
Secretary, Olin Corporation, 190 Carondelet PI&ate 1530, Clayton, MO 63105-3443.

Shareholders may obtain information from Mellondator Services LLC, our registrar and transfer ggeno also manages our
Automatic Dividend Reinvestment Plan by writing kdellon Investor Services LLC, 480 Washington Bealel, Jersey City, NJ 07310, by
telephone at (800) 306-8594 or via the Interneivatv.melloninvestor.com.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&{the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report to
be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, théocedmly authorized.

Date: March 2, 2006
O LIN C ORPORATION

/s/  JosepHD. Rupp
By

Joseph D. Rupp
Chairman, President and
Chief Executive Office

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgé Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persons on
behalf of the registrant and in the capacities@mthe date indicated.

Signature Title Date

/sl JosepHD. Rupp Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer March 2, 2006
and Director (Principal Executive Officer)

Joseph D. Rupp
/s/ DoNALD W. B oGus Director March 2, 2006

Donald W. Bogus

/s/ C. RoBERTB uNcH Director March 2, 2006

C. Robert Bunch

/s/ DoNALD W. GRIFFIN Director March 2, 2006

Donald W. Griffin

/sl JaMES G. HASCALL Director March 2, 2006

James G. Hascall

/sl VIRGINIA A. K AMSKY Director March 2, 2006

Virginia A. Kamsky

/s/ RANDALL W. L ARRIMORE Director March 2, 2006

Randall W. Larrimore

/s/  JoHN M. B. O'C ONNOR Director March 2, 2006

John M. B. O’Connor

/s/ RICHARD M. R OMPALA Director March 2, 2006

Richard M. Rompala

/s/ ANTHONY W. R UGGIERO Director March 2, 2006

Anthony W. Ruggiero

/s/  PHILIP J. ScHULZ Director March 2, 2006
Philip J. Schulz
/sl JoHN E. FISCHER Vice President and Chief Financial Officer March 2, 2006

(Principal Financial Officer)
John E. Fischer

/sl TopbpA. SLATER Vice President and Controller (Principal March 2, 2006
Accounting Officer)

Todd A. Slater
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Exhibit 10(b)(1)
BENEFIT PLAN REVIEW COMMITTEE OF OLIN CORPORATION

AMENDMENT TO THE
OLIN CORPORATION EMPLOYEE DEFERRAL PLAN
(As amended and restated effective January 30,)2003

Olin Corporation (the “Company”) currently maintaithe Olin Corporation Employee Deferral Plan (#Rkn”). In Section 15 of the
Plan, the Company reserved the right to amendldre Pursuant to the authority granted to the BeRédn Review Committee of Olin
Corporation (“the Committee”), effective as of Janul, 2005, the Committee hereby amends the Rlgreifollowing manner:

1. Section 1 of the Plan is amended by adding thevatig:

“Notwithstanding anything in the Plan to the congraffective as of January 1, 2005, the Plan dhafirozen and shall not permit any
deferrals of compensation on or after such date.prbvisions of the Plan shall continue in all otfesspects, including (without limitation)
the distribution and participant account provisiois a frozen plan, the Plan is intended to be gtdrom the requirements of Internal
Revenue Code Section 409A, and its administratimhiaterpretation will be effected with such intént

2. Section 7 of the Plan is amended by adding thevatlg subsection (¢

“(c) No Elections after 2004Notwithstanding anything in the foregoing sectidéa the contrary, Participants will not be allovtednak
any Elections (or changes to Elections) providimgHarticipant deferrals of Compensation after Damer 31, 2004.”



Exhibit 10(c)(1)
BENEFIT PLAN REVIEW COMMITTEE OF OLIN CORPORATION

AMENDMENT TO THE
OLIN SENIOR EXECUTIVE PENSION PLAN
(As amended and restated effective July 27, 2000)

Olin Corporation (the “Company”) currently maintaithe Olin Senior Executive Pension Plan (the “Bldn Section 7.1 of the Plan,
the Company reserved the right to amend the Plarsuint to the authority granted to the Benefinla&view Committee of Olin Corporati
(“the Committee”), the Committee hereby amendshtam in the following manner:

Article 1V of the Plan is amended by adding thddaing Section 4.8:

“4.8. Effective May 27, 2005, the Plan is amendeddd a Participation Termination Provision, preddhat such provision shall
be subject to the following requirements: (i) then@pany, in its sole discretion, consents to eaettien, (ii) the Company determines
the form and terms of any termination election @hhiorm and terms may vary among participants),iiiaccordance with the 409A
Guidance, the Participant shall receive his acchugdinpaid Plan benefit as soon as administratifezlsible following such
termination, provided that such payment(s) willhb@de on or before December 31, 2005, or if laker tdxable year in which the
amount is earned and vested, and (iv) only pagitipwho terminate employment with the Companyrdoefore December 31, 2005
are eligible to elect to terminate their Plan pgdpttion (subject to the Company consent containdé@m (i)).

“Participation Termination Provision” shall meane&laction to terminate participation in the Plamm@ Participant’s termination
of employment on or before December 31, 2005, stasi with applicable Internal Revenue Service guoig for Code Section 409A,
including without limitation, IRS Notice 2005-1, amended (referred to herein as the “409A Guidgnce”

Effective as of May 27, 2005, this Section 4.8ugter amended so that no Participant other thahdkty W. Ruggiero may make
a termination election under this Section 4.8.”



Exhibit 10(d)(1)
BENEFIT PLAN REVIEW COMMITTEE OF OLIN CORPORATION

AMENDMENT TO THE OLIN CORPORATION
SUPPLEMENTAL CONTRIBUTING EMPLOYEE OWNERSHIP PLAN
(As amended and restated effective January 1, 2005)

Olin Corporation (the “Company”) currently maintaithe Olin Corporation Supplemental Contributingdagee Ownership Plan (the

“Plan”). In Section 7.1 of the Plan, the Compargerged the right to amend the Plan. Pursuant taukierity granted to the Benefit Plan
Review Committee of Olin Corporation (“the Committg the Committee hereby amends the Plan in theviorxg manner:

1.

Article IV of the Plan is amended by adding thédwaing Section 4.7

“4.7. Effective May 27, 2005, the Plan is amendeddd a Participation Termination Provision, preddhat such provision shall
be subject to the following requirements: (i) then@pany, in its sole discretion, consents to eaettien, (ii) the Company determines
the form and terms of any termination election @ahiorm and terms may vary among participantd),ifiiaccordance with the 409A
Guidance, the SCEOP Participant shall receivedidsuad but unpaid Plan benefit as soon as adnatiigtty feasible following such
termination, provided that such payment(s) willhb@de on or before December 31, 2005, or if laker tdxable year in which the
amount is earned and vested, and (iv) only SCEQ@&Rants who terminate employment with the Compan or before December
2005 are eligible to elect to terminate their Rlarticipation (subject to the Company consent doathin item (i)). Subject to other
terms and conditions of the Plan, a SCEOP Partitigminating participation under this Section keihains eligible for the Excess
Company Matching Contribution payable with resgeany 2005 SCEOP Participant Contributions, if eumen paid.

“Participation Termination Provision” shall meanelaction to terminate participation in the Plamm@ Participant’s termination
of employment on or before December 31, 2005, stasi with applicable Internal Revenue Service guig for Code Section 409A,
including without limitation, IRS Notice 2005-1, amended (referred to herein as the “409A Guidgnce”

Effective as of May 27, 2005, this Section 4.7ugHer amended so that no SCEOP Participant dtlaer Anthony W. Ruggiero
may make a termination election under this Seactigr’



Exhibit 10(k)

OLIN CORPORATION
AMENDED AND RESTATED
1997 STOCK PLAN FOR NON-EMPLOYEE DIRECTORS

(As Amended Effective January 27, 2006)

1. Purpose. The purpose of the Olin Corporatiorn/19@ck Plan for Non-employee Directors the (“P)arto promote the long-term
growth and financial success of Olin Corporatioraktyacting and retaining non-employee directorsuistanding ability and by promoting a
greater identity of interest between its non-emetogirectors and its shareholders.

2. Definitions. The following capitalized termsliged herein have the following meanings:
“Board” means the Board of Directors of the Company

“Cash Account” means an account established uih@ePtan for a Non-employee Director to which cagetimg fees, Board
Chairman fees, Lead Director Fees, Committee Ghas and retainers, or other amounts under the P been or are to be credited
in the form of cash.

“Change in Control” means the occurrence of antheffollowing events:

(a) any person or Group acquires ownership of ©tock that, together with stock held by suchgers Group, constitutes mc
than 50% of the total fair market value or totaling power of Olin’s stock, (including an incredsehe percentage of stock owned by
any person or Group as a result of a transactievhinh Olin acquires its stock in exchange for gy, provided that the acquisition of
additional stock by any person or Group deemeduo more than 50% of the total fair market valugatal voting power of Olin’s
stock on January 1, 2005, shall not constitute @a@h in Control); or

(b) any person or Group acquires (or has acquiveithgl the 12-month period ending on the date ofrtlest recent acquisition by
such person or Group) ownership of Olin stock pesisg 35% or more of the total voting power of Gifack; or

(c) a majority of the members of Olin’s board afeditors is replaced during any 12-month periodibgotbrs whose appointment
or election is not endorsed by a majority of themhers of Olin’s board of directors prior to thealaf the appointment or election; or

(d) any person or Group acquires (or has acquiveithgl the 1-month perioc



ending on the date of the most recent acquisitioauzh person or Group) assets from Olin that lzategtal Gross Fair Market Value
equal to 40% or more of the total Gross Fair Makk&te of all Olin assets immediately prior to s@aayuisition or acquisitions,
provided that there is no Change in Control whein'®hssets are transferred to:

(i) a shareholder of Olin (immediately before tisset transfer) in exchange for or with respectlio Siock;
(i) an entity, 50% or more of the total value atimg power of which is owned, directly or indirgtby Olin;

(iii) a person or Group that owns, directly or ireditly, 50% or more of the total value or votingygo of all outstanding Olin
stock; or

(iv) an entity, at least 50% of the total valuevoting power of which is owned, directly or inditeg by a person described in
paragraph (iii).

For purposes of this paragraph (d) a person’sstatdetermined immediately after the transfehefdssets. For example, a transfer to a
corporation in which Olin has no ownership intetssfore the transaction, but which is a majorityaed subsidiary of Olin after the
transaction is not a Change in Control.

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 198&n@nded from time to time.
“Committee” means the Compensation Committee gosuiccessor) of the Board.
“Common Stock” means the Company’s Common StoclGpar value per share.
“Company” means Olin Corporation, a Virginia coration, and any successor.

“Credit Date” means the second Thursday in Februday, August and November and one week afterdhelarly scheduled
board meeting in December or, in the event the Bdee board meeting extends for more than one deyweek after the first day of
such regularly scheduled board meeting held in Bébee.

“Disability” means the Non-Employee Director:

(a) is unable to engage in any substantial gasugtiVity by reason of any medically determinablggibal or mental impairment
which can be expected to result in death or caexpected to last for a continuous period of nat than 12 months, or

(b) is, by reason of any medically determinablegitsl or mental impairment which can be expecte@saolt in death or can be
expected to last for a continuous period



of not less than 12 months, receiving income repteent benefits for a period of not less than 3 monder an accident and health
plan from the Non-Employee Director’'s employer.

“Excess Retainer” means with respect to a Non-epgaldirector the amount of the full annual cashiretr payable to such Non-
employee Director from time to time by the Compémyservice as a director in excess of $25,00anif; provided that in the event the
annual cash retainer is prorated to reflect thel $don-employee Director did not serve as sucliHerfull calendar year, the $25,000
shall be similarly prorated.

“Fair Market Value” means, with respect to a datea per share basis, with respect to phantom slod@ommon Stock or Spin-
Off Company Common Stock, the average of the highthe low price of a share of Common Stock or SpihCompany Common
Stock, as the case may be, as reported on thelmatsd tape of the New York Stock Exchange on slatk or if the New York Stock
Exchange is closed on such date, the next sucagddbe on which it is open.

“Gross Fair Market Value” means the value of asdetermined without regard to any liabilities asatexl with such assets.

“Group” means persons acting together for the purposequiiieg Olin stock and includes owners of a corpiorathat enters int
a merger, consolidation, purchase or acquisitiost@dk, or similar business transaction with Olira person owns stock in both Olin
and another corporation that enter into a mergersalidation purchase or acquisition of stock,immilar transaction, such person is
considered to be part of a Group only with respectwnership prior to the merger or other transacjiving rise to the change and not
with respect to the ownership interest in the ottweporation. Persons will not be considered tadteng as a Group solely because they
purchase assets of the same corporation at thetsameor as a result of the same public offering.

“Interest Rate” effective as of January 1, 2005ansethe rate of interest equal to the Federal Reg&t/P1 Composite rate for 90
day commercial paper plus 10 basis points, or stivdr specified, non-discretionary interest ratefgomula describing such rate)
established by the Committee on a prospective basis

“Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Adi9#4, as amended from time to time.
“Non-employee Director” means a member of the Bagnd is not an employee of the Company or any slidosi thereof.
“Olin Stock Account” means the Stock Account to @thphantom shares of Common Stock are credited firmmto time.
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“Plan” means this Olin Corporation 1997 Stock HianNon-employee Directors as amended from timgnte.

“Prior Plans” means the 1994 Plan and all of thepGration’s other directors’ compensation plansgpams, or arrangements
which provided for a deferred cash or stock account

“Retirement Date” means the date the Non-employieeckr (i) ceases to be a member of the Boaraiffigrreason and
(ii) effective as of January 1, 2005, has experene “separation from service” as that term is usetiode Section 409A.

“Spin-Off Company” means Arch Chemicals, Inc., agéia corporation and any successor.
“Spin-Off Company Common Stock” means shares ofroom stock of the Spin-Off Company, par value $80share.

“Spin-Off Company Stock Account” means the Stoclcéunt to which phantom shares of Spin-Off Compaoyn@on Stock are
credited.

“Stock Account” means an account established utidePlan for a Non-employee Director to which skaeCommon Stock and
Spin-Off Company Common Stock have been or aretorédited in the form of phantom stock, which simalude the Olin Stock
Account and the Spin-Off Company Stock Account.

3. Term. The Plan originally became effective Japda 1997, and was last amended and restatedieffexs of December 9, 2005. The
Plan is Amended and Restated as of January 27, 2R06pt as otherwise provided for herein. Notwéhding the foregoing, those
provisions required for compliance with Code Satd@9A shall be generally effective as of JanuargQD5 or as otherwise specifically set
forth herein.

4. Administration. Full power and authority to ctrug, interpret and administer the Plan shall Istedin the Committee. Decisions of
the Committee shall be final, conclusive and bigdipon all parties.

5. Participation. All Non-employee Directors stadirticipate in the Plan.

6. Grants and Deferrals.

(a) Annual Stock Grant. Subject to the terms andlitins of the Plan, on the first Credit Date egehr, each Non-employee
Director shall be credited with a number of shaeSommon Stock with an aggregate Fair Market Valneuch Credit Date equal to
$45,000, rounded to the nearest 100 shares. Tothikea to such credit in any calendar year, a arployee Director must be serving as ¢
on January 1 of such year; provided, however,ithtite event a person becomes a Non-employee Dirsabsequent to January 1 of a
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calendar year, such Non-employee Director, on tleeli€Date next following his or her becoming susimall be credited with that number of
shares of Common Stock equal to one-twelfth ofntln@ber of shares issued to each other Non-empbBireetor as the Annual Stock Grant
for such year, multiplied by the number of wholéecdar months remaining in such calendar yearioilg the date he or she becomes a
Non-employee Director (rounded up to the next whokrslhin the event of a fractional share). Actuakigcof shares shall be deferred and
each eligible Non-employee Director shall receiveedit to his or her Olin Stock Account for suttages on the date of such credit. A Non-
employee Director may elect in accordance withiSed(f) to defer to his or her Olin Stock Accouateipt of all or any portion of such
shares after such Non-employee Director’s Retird¢rdae. Except with respect to any shares the tiréas so elected to defer, certificates
representing such shares shall be delivered thltimeemployee Director (or in the event of death, todriber beneficiary designated purst
to Section 6(i)) as soon as practicable followinglsNon-employee Director’'s Retirement Date.

(b) Annual Retainer Stock Grant. Subject to thengeand conditions of the Plan, each Non-employeeciir who is such on
January 1 of that year shall receive that numbehafes (rounded up to the next whole share) offB@mmStock having an aggregate Fair
Market Value of $25,000 on the first Credit Datesurch year. In the event a person becomes in adalgear a Non-employee Director
subsequent to January 1 and has not received tluabstock retainer for such calendar year, suctope on the Credit Date next following
his or her becoming such, shall receive that nurobshares of Common Stock equal to one-twelftthefnumber of shares issued to each
other Non-employee Director as the Annual RetaBteck Grant for such year, multiplied by the numbiawhole calendar months remaining
in such calendar year following the date he ortstmmes a Non-employee Director (rounded up taéxé whole share in the event of a
fractional share). The annual cash retainer paytaltlee Non-employee Director shall be payablehanfirst Credit Date of each year, and
shall be reduced by the aggregate Fair Market Vafidlee shares the Non-employee Director receiveteters as the Annual Retainer Stock
Grant (excluding any rounding of fractional shams}the date such Fair Market Value is calculafedlon-employee Director may elect to
defer receipt of all or any portion of such shaneaccordance with Section 6(f). Except with respea@ny shares the director has so elect
defer, certificates representing such shares bealkelivered to such Non-employee Director (ohim évent of death, to his or her beneficiary
designated pursuant to Section 6(i)) as soon asigahle following the applicable Credit Date.

(c) One-time Stock Grant. Subject to the termsamdlitions of the Plan, receipt of all shares dh@tock credited under the one-
time grants to certain Non-employee Directors thatCompany made as of January 15, 1997, shakieerdd. Such Noemployee Directol
may elect in accordance with Section 6(f) to dedeeipt of all or any portion of such shares tatedr dates following such Non-employee
Director’s Retirement Date. Except with respecany shares so deferred, certificates representicly shares shall be delivered to such Non-
employee Directors (or in the event of death, todriher beneficiary designated pursuant to Seéfphas soon as practicable following his
or her Retirement Date.



(d) Payment of Meeting Fees, Chairman of the B&areks, Lead Director Fees, Committee Chair Fee&aoess Retainer and
Election to Receive Fees in Stock in Lieu of C&hsh payments of meeting fees shall be made dirsh€redit Date following the meeting
date, cash payments of Committee Chair fees shalidde on the second Credit Date of each yearasidpayments of Chairman of the
Board fees and Lead Director fees shall be madisuinequal payments on the first four Credit Datksach year. Subject to the terms and
conditions of the Plan, a Non-employee Director rel@gt to receive all or a portion of the direatoeeting fees, fees as Chairman of the
Board, fees as Lead Director, fees as a Committeér @nd the Excess Retainer payable in cash bgaonepany for his or her service as a
director for the calendar year in the form of sseasECommon Stock. Such election shall be madedoraance with Section 6(f). A Non-
employee Director who so elects to receive all podion of the Excess Retainer or other fees énfélim of shares for such year shall be paid
on the Credit Date on which the cash portion offlkeess Retainer or the other fees, as the caséeayould have been paid The number of
shares (rounded up to the next whole share invbetef a fractional share) payable to a Non-emgdoRirector who so elects to receive the
Excess Retainer or meeting fees, Board Chairmam fesad Director fees or Committee Chair fees enftiim of shares shall be equal to the
aggregate Fair Market Value on the relevant Cigdie. Except with respect to any shares the dirdwze elected to defer in accordance with
Section 6(f), certificates representing such shsihedl be delivered to the Non-employee Directos@an as practicable following the
applicable Credit Date.

(e) Deferral of Meeting Fees, Chairman of the Bdaeds, Lead Director Fees, Committee Chair Fee&aoelss Retainer. Subject
to the terms and conditions of the Plan, a Non-egyg# Director may elect to defer all or a portiéthe shares payable under Section 6(d)
and all or a portion of the director meeting fdess as Chairman of the Board, fees as Lead Dindets as a Committee Chair and Excess
Retainer payable in cash by the Company for hiseoiservice as a director for the calendar yeash ®lection shall be made in accordance
with Section 6(f). A Non-employee Director who dketo so defer shall have any deferred sharesréefar the form of shares of Common
Stock and any deferred cash fees and retainerrddfir the form of cash.

(f) Elections.
(1) Deferrals. Effective as of January 1, 2005¢Hdttions to defer payment of compensation urfdsrRlan shall:
. be made in writing and delivered to the Secretéth® Company,

. be irrevocable once the year to which the eleatitetes commences,

. be made before January 1 of the year in whichhlees of Common Stock or director’s fees and retaane to be earned
(or, in the case of an individual who becomes a-Hmployee Director during a calendar year, priahdate of his or
her election as a direct

. specify the portions (in 25% increments) to be defi
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(2) Stock and Cash Account Payments. Effectivef dauouary 1, 2005, Stock and Cash Accounts shalbiikin a single lump
sum payment within 30 days of the Non-employee @ies Retirement Date unless the Nemployee Director makes an election a:
forth below:

. a payment election, if any, shall be made on oofeethe earlier of:
» the time such individual makes any deferral electioder the Plan, or
» the end of the 30 day period following the dateratividual first becomes a Non-employee Director

. a payment election may specify a payment date (mand year), provided such date is after the Nopleyee Director’s
Retirement Dat

. a payment election may specify the method of payriemp sum or annual installments (up to 10))

. notwithstanding any election, Plan payments wilhiede (or annual installments will begin) upon anMmployee
Director's deatt

. payments shall be made (or annual installmentd sbimmence) within 30 days of the prescribed paytrdate
. any payment election shall be irrevocable excepeasiitted in Section 6(f)(4) below.

(3) Dividends and Interest on Stock and Cash ActWividends and interest on Stock and Cash Adsosimall be paid currently
unless the Non-employee Director makes an elettidrave such amounts credited back to the apptepm@ount (and shall be payable
in accordance with Sections 6(f)(2) and (4) hergindvided that such election is made within theetiprescribed by Section 6(f)(2)
above (including the transition payment electiohSection 6(f)(4).

(4) Change in Payment Election. Any change witipeesto a Non-employee Director’s payment electinder the Plan will not
be effective for one year, must be made at least(bynyear in advance of the first date paymestisduled and must further defer all
payments by at least five (5) years from the psreduled payment date. Notwithstanding the foregdor the transition period
beginning January 1, 2005 and ending December@®lg,2any Noremployee Director may make a payment election aorance witt
Code Section 409A (and applicable IRS transitidiefle in the time and manner prescribed by the @ittee and subject to the
following provisions. After December 31, 2006, affective transition payment elections shall beviacable for the duration of a Non-
employee Director’s participation in the Plan excapset forth in the first sentence of this Secf)(4). No election made in 2006
under this transition relief will apply to amoutist would otherwise be payable in 2006, nor mahslection cause an amount to be
paid in 2006 that would not otherwise be payabl2df6. No election under this transition relief niieeymade retroactively, when Plan
payments are imminent, or after a Non-employeedirehas left the Board.
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(5) Olin Stock Account. On the Credit Date (orle ttase of a proration, on the first day of therappate calendar month), a Non-
employee Director who has elected to defer shardenSections 6(b) or 6(e) shall receive a crediti$ or her Olin Stock Account. The
amount of such credit shall be the number of shemeteferred (rounded to the next whole sharearetlent of a fractional share). A
Non-employee Director may elect to defer the casidends paid on his or her Stock Account in acaak with Section 6(f)(3).

(6) Cash Account. On the Credit Date or in the addbe Excess Retainer, on the day on which the-&laployee Director is
entitled to receive such Excess Retainer, a Nonlk@ap Director who has elected to defer cash fadfoathe Excess Retainer under
Section 6(e) in the form of cash shall receiveaditito his or her Cash Account. The amount ofctieelit shall be the dollar amount of
such Directors meeting fees, Board Chairman fees, Lead Dirdetw or Committee Chair fees earned during the idimely precedin
quarterly period or the amount of the Excess Retaim be paid for the calendar year, as the cageomaand in each case, specified for
deferral in cash. A Noemployee Director may elect to defer interest paidhis or her Cash Account in accordance with 8ed(f)(3).

(7) Installment Payments. Installment payments fesmAccount shall be equal to the Account balaegpressed in shares in the
case of the Stock Account, otherwise the cash wafltiee Account) at the time of the installment et times a fraction, the numere
of which is one and the denominator of which istthenber of installments not yet paid. Fractionarsk to be paid in any installment
shall be rounded up to the next whole share. Irettemt of an election under Section 6(d) for domeaheeting fees, Board Chairman
fees, Lead Director fees, Committee Chair feesxweEs Retainer to be paid in shares of Common Stieelelection shall specify the
portion (in 25% increments) to be so paid.

(8) Dividends and Interest. Each time a cash divids paid on Common Stock or Spin-Off Company Camr8tock, a Non-
employee Director who has shares of such stockteretb his or her Stock Account shall be paidlmndividend payment date such
cash dividend in an amount equal to the produth@humber of shares credited to the Non-employigecr’s Olin Stock Account or
Spin-Off Company Stock Account, as the case mayphéhe record date for such dividend times thédivd paid per applicable share
unless the director has elected to defer such eliddo his or her applicable Stock Account as glediherein. If the Non-employee
Director has elected to defer such dividend, hghershall receive a credit for such dividends endiridend payment date to his or her
Olin Stock Account or Spin-Off Company Stock Accuas the case may be. The amount of the dividegditcshall be the number of
shares (rounded to the nearest one-thousandtblafra) determined by multiplying the dividend antquar share by the number of
shares credited to such director’s applicable SAmtount as of the record date for the dividend @iritling the product by the Fair
Market Value per share of Common Stock or Spin@ffmpany Common Stock, as the case may be, onvliedd payment date. A
Non-employee Director who has a Cash



Account shall be paid interest directly on suchoait’s balance at the end of each calendar quarterbjgagiha rate equal to the Inter
Rate in effect for such quarter unless such Nonleyae Director has elected to defer such integektd or her Cash Account, in which
case such interest shall be credited to such Casbuht at the end of each calendar quarter.

(9) Payouts. Cash Accounts and the Spin-Off Com@uogk Account will be paid out in cash and Olin&t Accounts shall be
paid out in shares of Common Stock unless the Nopl@yee Director elects at the time the paymeduis to take the Olin Stock
Account in cash. Cash amounts and certificatesesgmting shares credited to the Olin Stock Accebatl be delivered to the Non-
employee Director as soon as practicable follovtirggtermination of the deferral and consistenteiwdh.

(9) No Stock Rights. Except as expressly provideckim, the deferral of shares of Common Stock an-8ff Company Common
Stock into a Stock Account shall confer no rightem such Non-employee Director, as a shareholddégreo€ompany or of the Spin-Off
Company or otherwise, with respect to the shargsinesuch Stock Account, but shall confer only thght to receive such shares credited as
and when provided herein.

(h) Change in Control. Notwithstanding anythinghe contrary in this Plan or any election, in therg a Change in Control
occurs, amounts and shares credited to Cash Accénptuding interest accrued to the date of payant Stock Accounts shall be promptly
distributed to Noremployee Directors except the Olin Stock Accouratlidhe paid out in cash and not in the form of ssasf Common Stoc
For this purpose, the cash value of the amourtarStock Account shall be determined by multiplyiihg number of shares held in the Olin
Stock Account or the Spin-Off Company Stock Accaoyithe higher of (i) the highest Fair Market VabfeCommon Stock or Spin-Off
Company Common Stock, as appropriate, on any digéénvthe period commencing 30 days prior to sutiai@e in Control and ending on
the date of the Change in Control, or (ii) if thikd@ge in Control occurs as a result of a tendexohange offer or consummation of a
corporate transaction, then the highest price paicshare of Common Stock or Spin-Off Company Com@iwmck, as appropriate, pursuant
thereto.

(i) Beneficiaries. A Non-employee Director may dgsite at any time and from time to time a benafyciar his or her Stock and
Cash Accounts in the event his or her Stock or Gastount may be paid out following his or her de@hch designation shall be in writing
and must be received by the Company prior to tlahde be effective.

(j) Prior Plan Accounts. Any transfers made to gtCAccount or a Stock Account from Prior Plans Idbaimaintained and
administered pursuant to the terms and conditiéisi® Plan; provided that prior annual 100- or Abére grant deferrals shall be treated as
deferrals of 204-share grants under this Plan$#%000 annual share grant under the 1994 Plahlshtieated as deferrals under Paragraph |
(b) hereof and deferrals of meeting fees unddprdir Plans and of the Excess Retainer under tBd Pan shall be treated as deferrals under
Paragraph 6(d) hereof. Prior elections and beraficlesignations under the 1994 Plan and this $Hal govern this Plan unless changed
subsequent to October 2, 1997.



(k) Stock Account Transfers. A NdBmployee Director may elect from time to time tansfer all or a portion (in 25% incremer
of his or her Spin-Off Company Stock Account to tniher Olin Stock Account. The amount of phantdrares of Common Stock to be
credited to a Non-Employee Director’s Olin StockcAant shall be equal to the number of shares ofrf@omStock that could be purchased if
the number of phantom shares of Spin-Off Company@on Stock in his or her Spin-Off Company Stock dwtt being transferred were
sold and the proceeds reinvested in Common Staeédoan the Fair Market Value of each. Except agiged in Section 6(f)(8) with respect
to dividends or in Section 8, no additional conitibns or additions may be made to a Non-Employieedir’'s Spin-Off Company Stock
Account after the Distribution Date.

7. Limitations and Conditions.

(a) Total Number of Shares. The total number ofeshaf Common Stock that may be issued to Non-eyepl®irectors under the
Plan is 550,000, which may be increased or dectidag¢he events set forth in Section 8. Such tatahber of shares may consist, in wholi
in part, of authorized but unissued shares. Ifsligres granted under this Plan are not deliverad\ion-employee Director or a beneficiary
because the payout of the grant is settled in caglh shares shall not be deemed to have beerdsifor purposes of determining the
maximum number of shares available for deliveryarrttie Plan. No fractional shares shall be isseedumnder. In the event a Non-employee
Director is entitled to a fractional share, sucarshamount shall be rounded upward to the nextevlohre amount.

(b) No Additional Rights. Nothing contained hershmall be deemed to create a right in any Non-engg@dyirector to remain a
member of the Board, to be nominated for reeleatioto be reelected as such or, after ceasing sutle a member, to receive any cash or
shares of Common Stock under the Plan which aralreddy credited to his or her accounts.

8. Stock Adjustments. In the event of any mergensolidation, stock or other non-cash dividendraexidinary cash dividend, split-up,
spin-off, combination or exchange of shares orpabzation or change in capitalization, or anfi@tsimilar corporate event, the Committee
may make such adjustments in (i) the aggregate aupftshares of Common Stock that may be issuedrithéd Plan as set forth in Section 7
(a) and the number of shares that may be issuad\Ntmn-employee Director with respect to any yeagedgorth in Section 6(a) and the
number of shares of Olin Common Stock or Spin-Qffifpany Common Stock, as the case may be, hel&iack Account, (ii) the class of
shares that may be issued under the Plan anth@iidmount and type of payment that may be madesjpect of unpaid dividends on share
Spin-Off Company Common Stock or Common Stock whreseipt has been deferred pursuant to Sectiona{fthe Committee shall deem
appropriate in the circumstances. The determindijothe Committee as to the terms of any of thegomg adjustments shall be final,
conclusive and binding for all purposes of the Plan

9. Amendment and Termination. This Plan may be aleénsuspended or terminated by action of the B@axwkpt to the extent that
amendments are required to be approved by the
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Company'’s shareholders under applicable law orules of the New York Stock Exchange or any othxehange or market system on which
the Common Stock is listed or traded. No termimatbthe Plan shall adversely affect the rightammf Nonemployee Director with respect
any amounts otherwise payable or credited to hieoiCash Account or Stock Account.

10. Nonassignability. No right to receive any paptsainder the Plan or any amounts credited to aévaployee Director's Cash or
Stock Account shall be assignable or transferaplsugh Non-employee Director other than by wiltloe laws of descent and distribution or
pursuant to a domestic relations order. The detimmaf a beneficiary under Section 6(i) by a Nanptoyee Director does not constitute a
transfer.

11. Unsecured Obligation. Benefits payable undisrRtan shall be an unsecured obligation of the (@omyg.

12. Rule 16b-3 Compliance. It is the intentionltd Company that all transactions under the Plaaxbenpt from liability imposed by
Section 16(b) of the Exchange Act. Therefore, if tl|ansaction under the Plan is found not to beompliance with an exemption from such
Section 16(b), the provision of the Plan goverrsngh transaction shall be deemed amended so thaatisaction does so comply and is so
exempt, to the extent permitted by law and deendetsable by the Committee, and in all events tleRBhall be construed in favor of its
meeting the requirements of an exemption. Schedgil@a payments will be delayed where the Committ@sonably anticipates that the
making of the payment will violate Federal secastiaws or other applicable law; provided that queyment shall be made at the earliest
date at which the Committee reasonably anticipdu@sthe making of the payment will not cause stiokation.

13. Code Section 409A Compliance. To the extentpmayision of the Plan or action by the Board on®aittee would subject any
Employee to liability for interest or additionakts under Code Section 409A(a)(1)(B), it will beneed null and void, to the extent permit
by law and deemed advisable by the Committee.itténded that the Plan will comply with Code Saexct#09A, and the Plan shall be
interpreted and construed on a basis consistehtswith intent. The Plan may be amended in any cedpemed necessary (including
retroactively) by the Committee in order to presecempliance with Code Section 409A. If, regardigfsthe foregoing, any Non-employee
Director is liable for interest or additional taxeasder Code Section 409A(a)(1)(B) with respectisodn her Account (or a portion thereof),
such Account (or applicable portion thereof) shallpaid at such time. The preceding shall not Instcoed as a guarantee of any particular
tax effect for any benefits or amounts deferredaid out under the Plan.
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Exhibit 20(1)(1)
BENEFIT PLAN REVIEW COMMITTEE OF OLIN CORPORATION

AMENDMENT TO THE
OLIN SENIOR MANAGEMENT INCENTIVE COMPENSATION PLAN

Olin Corporation (the “Company”) currently maintaithe Olin Senior Management Incentive Compensd#tlan (the “Plan”). In
Section 7 of the Plan, the Company reserved thnd tigamend the Plan. Pursuant to the authoritytgohto the Benefit Plan Review

Committee of Olin Corporation (“the Committee”)fadtive as of January 1, 2005, the Committee heashgnds the Plan in the following
manner:

1. Section 4.1 of the Plan is amended by replattiadirst sentence of the fourth paragraph withftiewing:

“Incentive Awards for a fiscal year shall be detarad as soon as practicable after such fiscal gedishall be paid no later than the
15th day of the third month following such fiscalay unless deferred as provided in Section 4.32hére



Exhibit 10(v)
2006 PERFORMANCE SHARE PROGRAM

Terms and Condition

The terms and conditions of the Performance Sharards granted under this Program are containeueifPerformance Share
Certificate evidencing such Award, this Program traLTIP.

Definitions

“LTIP” means the Olin Corporation 2003 Long Terncéntive Plan or the Olin Corporation 2000 Long Ténecentive Plan under
which Performance Share Awards are granted undePtiogram.

“Common Stock” means the common stock of Olin,yzdue $1.00 per share.
“Final Share Number” has the meaning specifieddnt®n 3 of this Program.
“Olin” means Olin Corporation.

“Performance Cycle” means, with respect to a Peréorce Share Award, a period of three calendar ybagsnning with the calendar
year in which such Performance Share Award is grhnt

“Performance Share Award” shall mean grants of ftRerance Shares” and “Senior Performance Shares.”

“Performance Share” and Senior Performance Shaeglhna unit granted under the LTIP and this Prograaintained on the books of
the Company during the Performance Cycle, denomihas one phantom share of Common Stock, and paash or Common Stock
in accordance with this Program.

“Program” means this 2006 Performance Share Pragram

“S&P ROC” shall mean the average annual returnagpital (calculated in the same manner as Olin’siRRedn Capital) of a group
composed of the Standard & Poor’s 1000 Materiamspamies plus Mueller Industries, Inc.; Wolverinéb@ulnc.; Occidental Petroleum
Corporation; Alliant Techsystems Inc.; PPG Indestrinc.; and The Dow Chemical Company, brokerbgiduintiles.

Capitalized terms not otherwise defined in thisgPam shall have the meaning specified in the L



Performance Share Awart

a. Awards of Senior Performance Shares (categomndr this Program granted pursuant to the LTéRrgended to be
“performance-based compensation” as that termad urs Section 162(m) of the Code. Each Perform&iage Award shall
establish a target number of Performance Shar8smior Performance Shares awarded to the Parttaiganed in such Awart

b.  The target number of Performance Shares for Badiicipant shall be adjusted based upon a cosgradf Olin’s average annual
Return on Capital during the Performance Cycle withS&P ROC during the Performance Cycle, in at&oce with the
following chart:

The % of the target number of

If Olin s Return on Capital Performance Shares paid will bt

for a Performance Cycle is in the

5t Quintile of the S&P ROC 15(%
4™ Quintile of the S&P ROC 125%
3Quintile of the S&P ROC 100%
2 ndQuintile of the S&P ROC 50%
1stQuintile of the S&P ROC 25%

c.  The target number of Senior Performance Sharesaich Participant shall be adjusted based upomgarison of Olin's average
annual Return on Capital during the PerformancdeQyith the S&P ROC during the Performance Cycieaécordance with the
following chart:

If Olin’s Return on Capital The % of the target number of Senior
for a Performance Cycle is in the Performance Shares paid will be:

A Shares B Shares
5t Quintile of the S&P ROC 15(% 15(%
4" Quintile of the S&P ROC 125% 125%
3 Quintile of the S&P ROC 100.(% 10C%
2 ndQuintile of the S&P ROC 33.3%% 10(%
1 stQuintile of the S&P ROC 0% 10C%

d. Assoon as practicable after the end of a Pedaoce Cycle, the Company shall calculate the apiatepadjustment, if any, to the
target number of Performance Shares and SeniooriRehce Shares (the “Final Share Number”) for attiBipants whose
Performance Share Awards have vested at the esutbfPerformance Cycl
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Vesting and Forfeitur

a.

Except as otherwise provided by the Committee L THi@, this Program or the Performance Share Awartifecate, an interest in
Performance Share Award shall vest only if theiBigent is an employee of the Company or a subsidia the last day of the
relevant Performance Cycl

If a Participant's employment with the Compamyaaubsidiary terminates for cause or withoutGoenpany’s consent (other than
as the result of the Participant’s death, disabditretirement) before a Performance Share AwasiMested, his or her
Performance Share Award shall terminate and aditsignder such Award shall be forfeit:

If a Participant’'s employment with the Compamyaaubsidiary terminates as the result of hiseordisability, (as that term is
defined in Section 409A of the Code or any sucagssavision), or retirement under any of the Compametirement plans before
a Performance Share Award has vested, the Partcipall be entitled to a pro rata Performance &havard, payable solely in
cash at the time that the Performance Share Awatddiotherwise be payable under Section 5. The paginent shall be equal
the Final Share Number calculated in accordande S8&ictions 3 and 5 of this Program, multiplied oy Fair Market Value on the
last day of the relevant Performance Cycle, mudigpby a fraction with a numerator equal to the barmof months during the
Performance Cycle the Participant was employedbyCompany or a subsidiary (rounded up to the seateole month) and a
denominator of 3€

If a Participant’'s employment with the Compamyaaubsidiary terminates as the result of hiseordeath before a Performance
Share Award has vested, the Participant shall bdeshto a pro rata Performance Share Award, pleysdlely in cash, as soon as
practicable after his or her death. The cash paystell be equal to the Participant’s target nundfd?erformance Shares or
Senior Performance Shares, as the case may bépliedlby the Fair Market Value on the date of Beaticipant’s death (or the
next trading day, if the Common Stock was not tdadie such date), multiplied by a fraction with armarator equal to the number
of months during the Performance Cycle the Paditipvas employed by the Company or a subsidiagn@ted up to the nearest
whole month) and a denominator of .

If a Participant’s employment with the Companyaubsidiary terminates for any other reasonCihvapany shall determine the
portion, if any, of the Performance Share Award #hall not be forfeited, and the form of paymeraish or shares or a
combination) that the Participant shall receiveafldetermination shall be made by the Committebercase of any officer, and
by the Chairman of the Board, President, Chief Eee Officer, or any Vice President, in the casamy nor-officer employee
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Paymen

a.

b.

Within fifteen (15) days after the determinatafrthe Final Share Number, the Company will (§us to each Participant a number
of shares of the Common Stock equal to one-hati@f-inal Share Number, rounded down to the neadeste share if such
number is not a whole number, and (ii) pay thei€igent an amount equal to the Fair Market Valueré-half of the Final Share
Number of shares of Common Stock on the last ddgePerformance Cycle, rounded up to the nearestenshare if suc

number is not a whole humbi

No dividends or dividend equivalents shall be paidany Performance Shares or Senior Performanae$

Deferral

A Participant may elect to defer payment of shafé€Sommon Stock or cash pursuant to this Prograataordance with the terms of
the Olin Corporation Employee Deferral Plan, preddhat the Election, as defined in such plan d¥efiled on or before December 31
of the last year of the Performance Cycle, anch&urprovided that such deferral election shall cigragth all provisions under

Section 409A of the Code.

Miscellaneous

a.

By acceptance of the Performance Share Awacth, Rarticipant agrees that such Award is speciapemsation, and that any
amount paid will not affec

i. the amount of any pension under any pensioetinement plan in which he or she participatesrasraployee of
Olin,
i. the amount of coverage under any group life instegian in which he or she participates as an eyaplof Olin, ot

iii. the benefits under any other benefit plan 0§ &ind heretofore or hereafter in effect, undeichitthe availability or
amount of benefits is related to compensal

The Company will withhold from the distributiofiany cash pursuant to Performance Share Awaedarttount necessary to
satisfy the Participa’s federal, state and local withholding tax requizats.

It is the Company’s intention that all income lability on Performance Share Awards be defeiredccordance with the
requirements of Section 409A of the Code for notified deferred compensation plans, until the @iptnt actually receives su
shares or payment therefore. To the extent Se488A applies to this Program or the Performance&3hahe Performance Share
Awards and this Program shall be deemed amendaahtply with Section 409A, to the extent permittgddowv, and the
Performance Share Awards and this Program shalbbstrued in favor of meeting the requirementgifeferral of compensation
under Section 409/

-



Exhibit 10(bb)

OLIN AND ARCH STOCK OPTION/PERFORMANCE SHARE
CONTINUATION PROVISIONS FOR OLIN EMPLOYEES
FEBRUARY 2006

After the end of an employee’s employment at Otia gubsidiary, the employeeavested Olin stock options remain exercisablafspecifie(
period of time. The various plans permit that petio be extended by Olin for a period up to thentspecified in the stock option agreement.
The continuation provisions included in the stopkian and long term incentive plans and Olin’s ktoption extension policy are
summarized in the chart below. Performance shaegdsithat are vested at the time employment tetesrzay out as scheduled. There is no
general extension policy for unvested performamegesawards, but the relevant provisions of théoperance share program are summarized
below.

Plan Provisions

Termination by Olin

Options

1991 LTIP/2000 LTIP/
2003 LTIP/2006 LTIP
1988/1996 Option Plans

Performance Shares

1991 LTIP/2000 LTIP/

2003 LTIP/2006 LTIP

Olin’s General
Extension Policy

1991 LTIP/2000 LTIP/
2003 LTIP/2006 LTIP
1988/1996 Option Plan

- Without cause 3 mos. (1) (6) 1yr.
- With cause Immediate expiratic ) N/A
- In sale or shi-down of business or sf-off 3 mos. (1) (6) 2 yrs.
Quitting
- Without consent Immediate expiratic (7 N/A
- With consen 3 mos. (1) (6) 1yr.
Death
- While Olin Employee(2) 1yr. (1) (8 Term of option
- While not an Olin Employe 3) ) N/A
Retires under Pension Plan (55 or over) 3 mos.(1) (8) Term of option
9)
Disability 1yr. (8 N/A
Transfer to JV or Arch
- Transfer to JV or Arch in Spin-off with Consent 3 mos. (1) (6) Term of option
- JV Termination without cause or with JV consent 4) (6) (5)
- JV Termination with cause or without JV cons Immediate expiratic @) N/A
Transfer to Sold Business (SB)
- Transfer to SB with consent 3 mos. (1) (6) 2 yrs.
- SB Termination without cause or with SB consent (4) (6) (5)
- SB Termination with cause or without SB cons Immediate expiratic ©) N/A

(1) Under the 2006 LTIP, options automatically ext¢o term upon retirement. Under the terms ofother plans, Olin may extend this
period until the expiration of the option, as sfiediin the option agreemet



(2)
(3)

(4)

(5)

(6)

(7)
(8)

(9)

N.B.

All unvested options vest automatically upoattieof an employee and then all options may becesedt by the option holder’executol
administrator, personal representative or permiti@asferee

Only options held by a former employee thatevexercisable at the time of death may be exerdwwetie longer of the period the
optionee could have exercised option had optiowéeied or 1 year (which may be extended but ngbbd the term of the option
agreement)

Although not addressed in the respective ptaouthents, after an employee leaves Olin to gojein&venture or a sold business, Olin
generally considers the employee’s terminationei@ ltermination with consent. If the joint ventorehe sold business terminates the
employee without cause or the employee quits witkonsent, see note

The employee may exercise any exercisable mptimtil the earlier of 2 years after transfertte joint venture/sold business or 1 year
after termination from the joint venture/sold besia. Joint venture/sold business does not includi. Arch board will decide how to
treat Arch employees on terminatic

If performance award has not vested, Olin déftermine the portion, if any, of the performanicare award which will be forfeited and
the form of payment the employee will receive hé performance shares have vested, but have notissesd or paid, the employee is
entitled to them and the performance share awdtdwpaid as specified in the performance shaognam.

If the performance shares have vested, but havbeen issued or paid, the employee is entitiedem and the performance share
award will be paid as specified in the performasitcare program. If they have not vested, then tikpire immediately

If performance share award has not vested, @replwill be entitled to a pro rata performancaslsavard payable in cash. If the
performance shares have vested, but have not seed or paid, the employee is entitled to themtlaagherformance share award will
be paid as specified in the performance share anogfRefer to 2001 Performance Share Program filitiadal details.’

In the case of performance-accelerated vesiatigns (“PAVOs”) granted in 2000, unvested PAVQOHE mot terminate upon retirement.
If the PAVOs vest under applicable performancesgdtthey may be exercised at any time prior tailden26, 2010, but if performance
criteria not met before the earlier of the fiftmarersary of such retirement or January 26, 2020/®s terminate and are cancellt

Options may never extend beyond the original tefith® options under an employseaiption agreement. Except as noted above in |
(2) and (9), all extensions apply onlyexercisableoptions; all unexercisable options exp
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OLIN CORPORATION AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES
Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges

(In millions)
(Unaudited)

Earnings:
Income (loss) before taxes and cumulative effeetoobunting chang
Add (deduct):

Equity in income of nc-consolidated affiliate
Dividends received from n-consolidated affiliate
Amortization of capitalized intere

Capitalized interes

Fixed charges as described be

Total

Fixed Charges

Interest expensed and capitali:
Estimated interest factor in rent expense

Total

Ratio of earnings to fixed charges

Exhibit 12

Years Ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
$2256 $79.2 $4C $(26.5 $(16.5)
(385 (10.) (7.8 — —

0E — — — —
0.2 03 — — —
03 — — — —
206 295 31.C 361 28
$217.1 $98.¢ $272 $ 9.€ $12.1
$202 $202 $202 $25€ $18.1
9.4 9.3 106 10E 10
$29.6 $29F $31.C $361 $28¢
7.2 3.4

(1) Amounts represent those portions of rent expereteatie reasonable approximations of interest ¢
Income (loss) before taxes and cumulative eéfféaccounting change was insufficient to coveedi charges by approximately $3.8,

(@)

$26.5, and $16.5 for the years ended December0®B, 2002, and 2001, respective



SUBSIDIARIES OF OLIN CORPORATION 1

Company

A.J. Oster Caribe, In(

A.J. Oster Fails, Inc

A.J. Oster West, Inc

Bridgeport Brass Corporatién

Bryan Metals, Inc3

Chase Industries In

Chase Brass & Copper Company, Ifc.
Hunt Trading Co

LTC Reserve Corp.

Monarch Brass & Copper Cor

Monarch Brass & Copper of New England Caérp.

New Haven Copper Compar?®

Olin Benefits Management, Int.
Olin Engineered Systems, Ir

Olin Environmental Management, Irfc.
Olin Far East, Limite

Olin Financial Services In

Olin Sunbelt, Inc

Ravenna Arsenal, In

Sunbelt Chlor Alkali Partnersh
Waterbury Rolling Mills, Inc53
Nutmeg Insurance Limite

Olin Asia Pacific Pte. Ltd

Olin Australia Limited

Olin Brass Japan, In

Olin Canada Inc

Olin Global Services Mexico S.A. de C.
Olin Hunt Specialty Products S.t
Olin Industrial (Hong Kong) Limite:
Olin Luotong Metals (GZ) Co., Ltd.
Olin Mexico S.A. de C.V

Olin (UK) Limited

Reductone Brasil Ltd:
Yamahi-Olin Metal Corporatior

(as of December 31, 2005)

Exhibit 21

% Ownership Jurisdiction
(Direct/Indirect)

100 DE

100 DE

100 RI

100 IN

100 OH

100 DE

100 DE

100 MO

100 DE

100 NY

100 RI

100 CT

90 CA

100 DE

90 DE

100 DE

100 DE

100 DE

100 OH

50 DE

100 CT

100 Bermudas
100 Singapore
100 Australia
100 Japar
100 Canade
100 Mexico
100 Italy

100 Hong Kong
80 China
100 Mexico
100 United Kingdon
100 Brazil

50 Japar

1 Omitted from the following list are the namesceftain subsidiaries which, if considered in thgragate as a single subsidiary, would

not constitute a significant subsidia

d/b/a“Bryan Metals of Ohi” in NJ.

o OB~ WN

Indirect subsidiary, whol-owned by Olir s wholly-owned subsidiary, Chase Industries |
Indirect subsidiary, whol-owned by Olir's wholly-owned subsidiary, Monarch Brass & Copper Ci

Class A shares, all of which are held directlgl ardirectly by Olin Corporation, have the rightatect 4 directors. Class B shares, none
of which are held directly or indirectly by Olin Gmration, have the right to elect 1 direc!

d/b/a“Olin Brass, Indianapol” and“Olin Brass, Indianapolis Facil” in CA, IL, IN, NJ, NC, OH, PA, Rl and TX

7 Indirect subsidiary, 80% owned by C's wholly-owned subsidiary, Olin Industrial (Hong Kong) Lieqt



Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of OlingBaoation:

We consent to incorporation by reference in thei®egion Statements No. 333-101027 and No. 33329bn Form S-3 and Nos. 33-
28593, 33-00159, 33-52681, 33-40346, 33-41202,@EB7, 333-17629, 333-18619, 333-39305, 333-39383,71693, 333-31098, 333-
31096, 333-35818, 333-54308, 333-56690, 333-72233,97759, 333-98193, 333-88990, 333-110135, 3¥8-34, 333-124483 and 333-
127112 on Form S-8 of Olin Corporation of our répatated February 28, 2006 with respect to thealmzed balance sheets of Olin
Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 315 20@ 2004, and the related consolidated staternénimerations, shareholders’ equity,
and cash flows for each of the years in the thesa-period ended December 31, 2005, managemeséssament of the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting as of Bawer 31, 2005 and the effectiveness of internatrobover financial reporting as of
December 31, 2005, which reports appear in the iDbee 31, 2005 annual report on Form 10-K of Olinrp@ration.

Our report with respect to the consolidated finahsiatements refers to Olin Corporation’s adoptibthe provisions of the Financial
Accounting Standards Board’s Statement of Finantabunting Standards No. 143, “Accounting for AdRetirement Obligations” (SFAS
No. 143) in 2003 and the provisions of FASB Intetption No. 47“Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement Obliigas,” an
interpretation of SFAS No. 143 in 2005.

/sl KPMG LLP
KPMG LLP

St. Louis, MO
March 2, 2006



Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATIONS

I, Joseph D. Rupp, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fK0lin Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorminy untrue statement of a material fact or dmn#ttate a material fact necessal
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nistatisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememid,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtife periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer andrke responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresiused such disclosure controls and procedoes designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidh&ubsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the metin which this report is being prepared,;

b) Designed such internal control over financigloting, or caused such internal control over fiahreporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuram@ading the reliability of financial reporting attte preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally@edeaccounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registragtisslosure controls and procedures and presentiaisineport our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proees] as of the end of the period covered by #psint based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the tegig’s internal control over financial reportirgat occurred during the registrathos
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth dilsguarter in the case of an annual report) thathaterially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal cohmwer financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer andve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimternal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weagses in the design or operation of internal cortvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registeaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invawaanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 2, 2006 /sl Joseph D. Rupp

Joseph D. Rupp
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Off



Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATIONS

I, John E. Fischer, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fK0lin Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorminy untrue statement of a material fact or dmn#ttate a material fact necessal
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nistatisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememid,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtife periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer andrke responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresiused such disclosure controls and procedoes designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidh&ubsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the metin which this report is being prepared,;

b) Designed such internal control over financigloting, or caused such internal control over fiahreporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuram@ading the reliability of financial reporting attte preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally@edeaccounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registragtisslosure controls and procedures and presentiaisineport our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proees] as of the end of the period covered by #psint based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the tegig’s internal control over financial reportirgat occurred during the registrathos
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth dilsguarter in the case of an annual report) thathaterially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal cohmwer financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer andve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimternal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weagses in the design or operation of internal cortvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registeaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invawaanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 2, 2006 /s/ John E. Fischer

John E. Fischer
Vice President and Chief Financial Offic



Exhibit 32

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350SADOPTED
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACTF2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Olin Coration (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the periaided December 31, 2005 as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission (theptt”), |, Joseph D. Rupp, Chairman, President@iéf Executive Officer and I, John
E. Fischer, Vice President and Chief Financial €ffiof the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S€ction 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, tlsabur knowledge: (1) the Report fully complieshathe requirements of Section 13(a) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and (2) thiermation contained in the Report fairly presemsll material respects, the financial
condition and results of operations of the Company.

A signed original of this written statement reqdit®y Section 906 has been provided to the Compady| be retained by the Company
and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Cosioni®r its Staff upon request.

/sl Joseph D. Rupp

Joseph D. Rup
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Off

Dated: Marcl2, 2006

/s/ John E. Fischer

John E. Fische
Vice President and Chief Financial Offic

Dated: Marct2, 2006



